Leader political skill and employee reactions: A social-political perspective

by

Baphiwe Daweti

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements
for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy
at the
Gordon Institute of Business Science
University of Pretoria

SUPERVISOR

Professor Albert Wöcke

07 July 2024

Ethics statement

The author, whose name appears on the title page of the thesis, has obtained, for the research described in this work, the applicable research ethics approval. The author declares having observed the ethical standards required in terms of the University of Pretoria's code of ethics for researchers and the policy guidelines for responsible research.

The ethics clearance letter is attached as appendix D.

Abstract

Organisational leaders have used political skill to influence employees who are similar to the leader. Yet, extant literature has directed little attention to leaders who exert political skill to influence employees who are different from the leader, particularly when considering the process of transformation of an organisation. Leaders face political tensions when using political skill to transform organisations to become more diverse and inclusive, based on race and gender. Anchored in political influence theory and drawing on social identity, the study examines employee perceptions of a leader who exercises political skill to manipulate resistant employees if a leader is different from employees. In contrast, the employee may cooperate with a collaborative leader who uses political skill to influence employees, where the leader is similar to the employees.

This research conducts a survey to collect data of junior lecturers to full professors' perceptions of direct managers who exercised political skill to influence academic employees during the transformation of two public higher education institutions located in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. Leaders have influenced employees who were divided according to race and gender during apartheid, and integrated during democracy, amid workplace transformation tensions. The study shows that employee perceptions of a leader who uses political skill are influenced by social identity categories of race, gender, nationality, and language differences. This research closes the gap by contributing social identity categories of race, gender, nationality, and language differences to the political influence perspective characterised by irrational leaders who oversee limited resources distributed amongst competing employee interests in the workplace.

In contrast, the study demonstrates that employees are likely to act cooperatively towards a collaborative leader who uses political skill to influence employees if the leader and employees have a similar gender identity, rather than race, nationality as well as language identities. Employees prefer to work with a leader who shares a similar gender identity with employees if the leader is collaborative towards employees for the transformation progression in the workplace. Since employees prefer to socially interact with a collaborative leader of a similar gender to the employee for a sense of belonging, leaders ought to promote gender difference as a mechanism to build gender transformation beyond race, nationality, and language differences, to become more diverse, inclusive, and equitable.

Keywords: Leader political skill; social identity; differences; political influence; influence tactics; manipulation; collaboration; employee reactions, cooperation; resistance

Declaration

I, Baphiwe Daweti, declare that the thesis, which I hereby submit for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at the University of Pretoria, is my work and has not been submitted by me previously for a degree at this or any other tertiary institution.

I further declare that I have obtained the necessary authorisation and consent to carry out this research.

Baphiwe Daweti

Student number: 20824468

Date: 07 July 2024

Acknowledgments

I express sincere gratitude to my brilliant research supervisor, Prof. Albert Wöcke, for the ability to stimulate intellectual thought in me. Prof. Albert has been a great mentor, adviser, and scholar. I have learnt many lessons and developed during the journey of pursuing high-quality world-class research and scholarship, anchored in the African context. I will forever be thankful to Prof. Albert for being an exceptional supervisor.

I recognise the immense contribution of Prof. Helena Barnard and Prof. Johan Olivier by giving me input throughout the doctoral journey. I am thankful to the entire faculty of Gordon Institute of Business Science, University of Pretoria, peers, and friends for support as well as encouragement. I recognise Roz Havenga who encouraged me to apply.

I thank Dr. Vivienne Spooner, for the idea of opening access to the Gordon Institute of Business Science at the University of Pretoria to academics in under-resourced higher education institutions in South Africa. I appreciate Ahmed Docrat, Mamello Ngwenya, and Mpho Alaardt, who provided efficient administrative support.

I am grateful to Prof. dt Ogilvie, faculty, and peers who provided feedback for my work-inprogress doctorate at the Africa academy of management doctoral consortium held in Cairo, Egypt. In addition, I acknowledge my accepted conference paper from my thesis at the Gender, Work, and Organisation conference held at Stellenbosch, Cape Town.

I thank Profs. Jim Walsh, Susan Ashford, and John Hollenbeck for doctoral feedback during a Gordon Institute of Business Science, University of Pretoria research PhD colloquium roundtable. I recognise the support and guidance from Dr. Kristin Brandl in paper development. I appreciate Gwen Ansell for language support.

I express sincere gratitude to Prof. Wayne Hochwarter, Prof. Liz Booysen, and Prof. Charlene Lew for their insightful and constructive feedback and guidance on the thesis. I appreciate Prof. Glenda Mathews and Dr. Frank Magwegwe's workshops on quantitative techniques and inputs. The guidance was incredibly helpful to my doctoral journey.

I recognise Profs. Denise Rousseau, Elaine Farndale, and Cara Jonker, and peers for the PhD colloquium feedback during the Academy of Management, Human Resource International Conference in Sun City, South Africa. I appreciate the acceptance of a conference paper by the British Academy of Management.

I appreciate Profs. Fadel Matta, Terri Scandura, Lauren D'Innocrenzo, and their peers at the Academy of Management, for valuable human resource, and organisational behaviour Ph.D. roundtable feedback.

I recognise my work supervisor, Dr. Pauline Ngo-Henha for her support during the doctoral journey. My work supervisor checked on my progress and gave me time and space to focus on the research. A supportive work environment proved essential for the journey.

I show immense gratitude to the Gordon Institute of Business Science, University of Pretoria,
British council, Department of higher education and training, Durban University of
Technology, Technology higher education network in South Africa, and the academy of
management human resource division for financial support for my doctoral journey.

I show appreciation to my family, Malibongwe, Masakhane, Siviwe, Sisipho, Liyema, and Ndaloyamientle for their unwavering and consistent support. My family inspires me to keep going against the odds.

I recognise my friends, Mcebisi, Nkululeko, Mpho, Bheki, Sivuyile, Sibusiso, Siza, Khaya, Inga, and Bongumenzi (and many others) who care, understand, and help me. My friends ensure that I take time off for leisure from the research regularly.

I spent my childhood in Mbizana and grew up in Mthatha, my hometown. My ancestral rural homestead is located at Xawuka in Dutywa, about 110 kilometres from Mthatha, the former capital of Transkei, in the Eastern Cape Province of the Republic of South Africa.

The resilience, Xhosa heritage, and sense of *ubuntu* of the Xawuka community, *ooRhadebe,*Ndlebentlezombini, Bhungane, and Mashwabade shape the person that I am.

I present this thesis to the great *Rhadebe* people of the Xawuka location, where I come from. *Enkosi*.

Most importantly, to my beloved dad Mhlangenqaba Howard Daweti, and my beloved mom Nozipho Essential Daweti, I am eternally grateful for your persistent love, care, wisdom, sacrifice, and inspiration. I celebrate my dad and my mom who promote family values and education.

I am my parent's legacy.

Dedication

This doctoral degree is dedicated to my beloved dad, Mhlangenqaba Howard Daweti, and my beloved mom, Nozipho Essential Daweti.

Table of Contents

Ethics statement	i
Abstract	ii
Declaration	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Dedication	vi
List of tables	xiii
List of appendices	xv
Chapter one: Overview of the study	
1.1. Introduction	
1.2. Definitions of terms	
1.2.1. Leader political skill	
1.2.2. Social identity	
1.2.3. Leader influence tactics	
1.2.3.1. Manipulation	
1.2.3.2. Collaboration	
1.2.4. Employee reactions	
1.2.4.1. Resistance	
1.2.4.2. Cooperation	
1.2.5. Transformation	
1.2.6. Higher education	
1.2.7. Academic employee	6
1.3. Background of the study	6
1.3.1. Leader political skill	6
1.3.2. Social identity	7
1.3.2.1. Race, gender, nationality, language differences	8
1.3.2.2. Race, gender, nationality, language similarities	9
1.3.3. Social-political perspective	9
1.3.4. Transformation of an organisation	10
1.4. Transformation of higher education institutions	
in South Africa	10
1.4.1. Transformation background	10
1.4.2. Recent transformation	11
1.5. Problem statement	13
1.6. Research purpose	13

1.7. Main research question	14
1.7.1. Research sub-questions	14
1.8. Research contributions	14
1.8.1. Theoretical	14
1.8.2. Practical	15
1.8.3. Methodological	16
1.9. Evolution of leader political skill	17
1.9.1. Employee-perceived leader political skill	18
1.10. Evolution of social identity	18
1.10.1. Race, gender, nationality, language differences and similarities	19
1.11. Evolution of leader influence tactics	20
1.11.1. Employee-perceived leader influence tactics	20
1.11.1.1. Manipulation	21
1.11.1.2. Collaboration	21
1.12. Evolution of employee reactions	21
1.12.1. Resistance	22
1.12.2. Cooperation	22
1.13. Employee-perceived leader political skill, employee-perceived	
leader influence tactics, and employee reactions, influenced by	
employee-perceived social identity	22
1.14. Overview summary	24
Chapter two: Literature review	25
2.1. Introduction	25
2.2. The state of higher education transformation in South Africa	25
2.2.1. Leadership	27
2.2.2. Academic employees	29
2.3. Political influence theory	32
2.4. Political skill and social identity	32
2.4.1. Employee-perceived leader political skill	33
2.4.2. Employee-perceived social identity	33
2.4.2.1. Race, gender, nationality, language differences	34
2.4.2.2. Race, gender, nationality, language similarities	35
2.4.3. Employee-perceived leader influence tactics	35
2.4.3.1. Manipulation	36
2 4 3 2 Collaboration	36

2	2.4.4. Employee reactions	36
	2.4.4.1. Resistance	37
	2.4.4.2 Cooperation	37
2.5	. Employee-perceived leader political skill and	
	employee-perceived social identity	37
2.6	. Employee-perceived leader political skill and	
	employee-perceived leader influence tactics	38
	2.6.1. Employee-perceived leader political skill and manipulation	
	influenced by differences	39
	2.6.2. Employee-perceived leader political skill and collaboration	
	influenced by similarities	40
2.7.	Employee-perceived leader influence tactics	
	and employee reactions	40
	2.7.1. Employee resistance towards a perceived manipulative	
	leader influenced by differences	41
	2.7.2. Employee cooperation with perceived collaborative	
	leader influenced by similarities	42
2.8.	Employee-perceived leader political skill, employee-perceived	
	influence tactics and employee reactions influenced by	
	employee-perceived social identity	42
2.9.	Literature review summary	45
Chap	ter three: Research design and methodology	46
3.1.	-	
3.2.	Positivist paradigm	46
3.3.	Explanatory research design	47
	3.3.1. Cross-sectional study	48
3.4.	Research sites	49
	3.4.1. Organisational level of analysis	51
3.5.	Target population	51
	3.5.1. Census sample	51
	3.5.2. Individual unit of analysis	53
3.6.	Questionnaire	53
	3.6.1. Employee-perceived leader political skill	54
	3.6.2. Employee-perceived social identity	55
	3.6.2.1. Race, gender, nationality, language	
	differences and similarities	56

3.6.3. Employee-perceived leader influence tactics	56
3.6.3.1. Manipulation	56
3.6.3.2. Collaboration	56
3.6.4. Employee reactions	57
3.6.4.1. Resistance	57
3.6.4.2. Cooperation	57
3.7. Pilot study	57
3.8. Data collection	58
3.8.1. Common method bias	60
3.8.2. Control variables	62
3.9. Data analysis	63
3.9.1. Descriptive statistics	63
3.9.2. Data normality	64
3.9.3. Factor analysis	65
3.9.4. Reliability	65
3.9.5. Measurement model	65
3.9.6. Correlation and moderation	66
3.9.7. Linear regression	66
3.10. Research limitations	67
3.11. Quality assurance and ethics	67
3.12. Methodology summary	69
Chapter four: Results	70
4.1. Introduction	
4.2. Sample population description	
4.2.1. Employee and employee-perceived	
direct manager language	72
4.2.2. Employee and employee-perceived	12
direct manager job title	72
4.2.3. Employee and employee-perceived	73
direct manager age, job type	
and work experience	74
·	
4.2.4. Employee-perceived direct manager position	
•	
4.4. Analysis of common method bias	
4.5. Original measurement model fit	
4.5.1. Construct validity and reliability of the original model	82

4.6	i. Control variables	84
4.7	The influence of social identity on leader political skill	84
4.8	3. The effect of differences on employee-perceived	
	leader political skill and manipulation	85
	4.8.1. Influence of employee-perceived leader political skill on	
	manipulation of employees	87
4.9.	Similarities in employee-perceived leader political skill	
	and collaboration with employees	88
	4.9.1. Employee-perceived leader political skill and	
	collaboration with employees	89
4.10	. Employee resistance against employee-perceived manipulative leader	
	influenced by differences	90
	4.10.1. Employee resistance against employee-perceived manipulative	
	leader	91
4.11.	Employee cooperation and leader collaboration influenced by	
	similarities	92
	4.11.1. Employee-perceived leader collaboration and employee	
	cooperation	94
4.12.	Results summary	95
5.	Chapter five: Discussion	96
5.1.	Introduction	96
5.2.	Restated research questions and hypotheses	96
	5.2.1. Primary research question	96
	5.2.1.1. First research sub-question	96
	5.2.1.2. Second research sub-question	97
	5.2.2. Hypotheses	97
5.3.	Employee-perceived leader political skill and	
	employee-perceived social identity	97
	5.3.1. Examination of differences in employee-perceived leader	
	political skill and employee-perceived	
	leader influence tactics	100
	5.3.1.1. Examination of differences in employee-perceived	
	leader political skill and manipulation	
	of employees	100

	5.3.1.2. Evaluating of similarities on employee-perceived	
	leader political skill and collaboration	
	with employees	104
5.	.3.2. Employee reactions towards employee-perceived leader	
	influence tactics	104
	5.3.2.1. Assessing differences in employee resistance	
	against a manipulative leader	105
	5.3.2.2. Examining similarities in employee cooperation	
	with a collaborative leader	105
5.4.	Discussion summary	107
6.	Chapter six: Conclusion and recommendations	108
6.1.	Introduction	108
6.2.	Research contributions	108
6	S.2.1. Theoretical	108
6	S.2.2. Practical	110
6	S.2.3. Methodological	112
6.3.	Research limitations	113
6.4.	Directions for future research	113
6.5.	Conclusion summary	115

List of Tables

Table 2.1:	Key concepts and references	30
Table 2.2:	Political skill and social identity hypotheses	45
Table 3.1:	Explanatory research design	47
Table 3.2:	Questionnaire variables	48
Table 3.3:	Questionnaire outline	55
Table 3.4:	Control variables	61
Table 3.5:	Data analysis procedures and statistics tests	64
Table 3.6:	Political skill and social identity hypotheses	
	and statistical tests	68
Table 4.1:	Employee and employee-perceived direct manager	
	race, gender, and nationality scores	71
Table 4.2:	Employee and employee-perceived direct	
	manager language scores	72
Table 4.3:	Employee and employee-perceived direct manager	
	job title scores	73
Table 4.4:	Employee age, job type, and experience scores	74
Table 4.5:	Employee-perceived direct manager age, job type,	
	and experience scores	75
Table 4.6:	Employee-perceived direct manager	
	position scores	76
Table 4.7:	Data normality scores	77
Table 4.8:	Originality constructs description scores	79
Table 4.9:	Employee-perceived leader political skill factor scores	80
Table 4.10:	Original and reworded questionnaire statements	81
Table 4.11:	Original measurement for model fit scores	82
Table 4.12:	Original measure reliability scores	82
Table 4.13:	Removed original questionnaire items and improved	
	reliability scores	83
Table 4.14:	Employee-perceived social identity and	
	employee-perceived leader political skill	85
Table 4.15:	Differences in employee-perceived leader political skill	
	on manipulation scores	86

Table 4.16:	ble 4.16: Employee-perceived leader political skill on		
	manipulation scores	87	
Table 4.17:	Similarities on employee-perceived leader political skill and		
	collaboration scores	89	
Table 4.18:	Employee-perceived leader political skill		
	and collaboration scores	90	
Table 4.19:	Differences in employee resistance towards		
	leader manipulation scores	91	
Table 4.20:	Employee resistance towards leader manipulation scores	92	
Table 4.21:	Similarities in leader collaboration with		
	employee cooperation scores	93	
Table 4.22:	Leader collaboration with employee cooperation scores	94	
Table 4.23:	Political skill and social identity		
	hypotheses and results	95	

List of Appendices

Appendix	A:	Questionnaire of the study	132
,	Aa:	Consent	133
	1.	My personal information	134
	2.	My direct manager's personal information	137
	3.	Understanding an employee	
		(Employee-perceived leader political skill)	142
	4.	A social group is formed based on aspects	
		like race, gender, nationality, and language	
		(Employee-perceived social identity)	143
;	5.	Employee -perceived influence tactic	
		(manipulation)	144
(6.	Employee-perceived influence tactic	
		(collaboration)	145
-	7.	Employee reaction (resistance)	145
8	8.	Employee reaction (cooperation)	146
Appendix E	3:	Construct variance	147
	1.	Employee-perceived social identity	147
2	2.	Employee-perceived leader	
		influence tactic (manipulation)	147
;	3.	Employee-perceived leader	
		influence tactic (collaboration)	147
4	4.	Employee reaction (resistance)	148
!	5.	Employee reaction (cooperation)	148
Appendix (C:	Kurtosis scores for collaboration variable	149
Appendix [D :	Ethics clearance letter	150
Appendix E	≣:	Language editing certificate	151

Chapter one: Overview of the study

1.1. Introduction

The study considers leaders who exercise political skill to influence employees. Leaders have used political skill to influence employees who are similar to the leaders. Yet, little is known about a leader who exerts political skill to influence employees who are different from the leader (Ferris, Ellen III, McAllister & Maher, 2019; Hochwater, Rosen, Jordan, Ferris, Ejaz & Maher, 2020; Nkomo, Bell, Roberts, Joshi & Thatcher, 2019). The study examines whether a possibility exists that an employee perceives a leader who exercises political skill to influence employees as manipulative if the leader is different from the employees. Employees are more likely to show resistance against a manipulative leader if the leader is different from the employees.

An alternative possibility is that the employees perceive a leader as exercising political skill to influence them through collaboration if the leader shares similarities with them. Employees are more likely to cooperate with a collaborative leader who uses political skill to influence employees with whom they share similarities. These two alternating possibilities give rise to the primary research question of the study: What is the influence of social identity on the exercise of a leader's political skill?

I became interested in organisational politics when black African leaders came to be increasingly reported as incompetent, corrupt, and self-serving, amid allegations of political interference, after the transformation of state-owned enterprises in post-apartheid South Africa. It was a question as to whether political interference contributed to leaders who failed to deliver basic services of electricity, water, and sanitation, particularly to underprivileged communities, as a result of the transformation in democratic South Africa's state-owned enterprises. Examining both the literature and practice (Ferris et al., 2018; Mintzberg, 1985; Smit, 2022; Smith, 2022), I observed the organisational politics inherent in state-owned enterprises, where leaders and employees strive for access to resources and opportunities amid organisational political tensions. This was the case in both state-owned enterprises as well as higher education institutions.

I witnessed leaders grapple to influence diverse employees where I work, between Zulu people and Indian people, who were the largest social groups, reflective also of the province of KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. I attended tense meetings between leaders and employees as competition for deploying resources and positions was distinctly laced with racial, gendered, nationality, and language undertones. I became more curious about whether leaders and employees were respectively manipulating or collaborating, based on Zulu or Indian identity.

Labour strikes over salary increases against management resulted in a no-work-no-pay stance, and some employees and leaders characterised employees who were Indian to be resisting leaders who were black. This presented a question as to whether the long strike affected leadership influence over employees in terms of race, gender, nationality, and language aspects, amid politics that remain ever-present in any organisation, but particularly during tensions over requisite post-apartheid transformation.

As apparent identity-difference-based tensions continued, employees and leaders were divided between support for or against transformation. Some leaders and employees seem to either manipulate and collaborate and either support or be against transformation. Leaders and employees who were against transformation were isolated and dismissed, while others who lacked the behaviours required for transformation were isolated and dismissed. Questions arose about whether non-South African nationals ought to hold institutional positions over South Africans. As I observed the tensions, I was curious as to whether the political dynamics and power shifts were changing along with the identity of leaders and employees with the effect on political skill and manipulation, as well as collaboration for better employee reactions.

A leader who exercised political skill to influence employee reactions was likely to be affected by similarities or differences with employees based on race around the world. In one instance in North America, the murder of an African American male citizen by a white American policeman ignited racial tensions and calls to transform the public police force (del Rio, Eligon & Hassan, 2021; Ely & Thomas, 2020; Yo-Jud Cheng & Groysberg, 2020). In another instance in Europe, a black African Credit Sousse chief executive officer resigned from his employment term, after race difference tensions (Kelly, 2020). Both instances highlight tensions that arise when a leader influences diverse employees regarding aspects of race in private and public institutions.

The presidents resigned after being perceived as antisemitic at ivy league universities in Pennsylvania and a top university in Boston, Massachusetts recently. Both presidents happened to be women, with one being black and a child of Haitian immigrants (Saul, Blinder, Hartocollis & Farrel, 2023; Schuessler, Hartocollis, Levenson & Blinder, 2024). Both cases highlight tensions about the political skill of leaders to influence race, gender, and nationality identity differences on higher education campuses and beyond. Leaders can be competent, and capable, and require political skill to influence different employees amid transformation tensions for better career and reputation outcomes in countries like South Africa.

South Africa has emerged from a history of apartheid to divide people according to race and language. The government passed legislation to enact transformation post-apartheid, which created tensions between leaders and employees in workplaces. In democratic South Africa, there is a mandate for both a leader and employees to promote diversity and inclusion. In one example, however, a black African chief executive officer did not complete his employment term at a large bank that grappled with transformation tensions (Smit, 2022; Smith, 2022). Similarly, a white male chief executive officer of an energy state-owned enterprise was labelled as being against transformation for demanding accountability for electricity shortages. Both private and public entity examples show tension arising where the leader influences diverse employees in a political climate characterised by the post-apartheid transformation of an organisation that includes the public higher education sector.

When the former deputy vice chancellor of a University in Cape Town showed the intention to promote the Dean of Health Sciences to a higher position for transformation purposes, the Dean resisted such a promotion, and eventually committed suicide (Davies, 2022; Nhlapo, Fikeni, Gobodo-Madikizela & Walaza, 2020). Meanwhile, at a university in KwaZulu-Natal, tensions have arisen between Zulu employees and Indian employees over the handling of appointment and promotion decisions.

As an employee at a higher education institution in KwaZulu-Natal, I witnessed the prioritisation of the appointment of South Africans ahead of other African nationals, which could be deemed xenophobic, rather than a form of diversity through internationalisation (Henderson, 2017; Jansen, 2022). Hence, race, gender, nationality, and language identity differences ignited social tensions regarding the influence of leaders on employees in the wake of the transformation of higher education since the dawn of South Africa's democracy. This justifies the need to conduct further research on leaders who exercise political skill to influence diverse employees.

In chapter one, I define and trace the background of a leader who exercises political skill to influence different employees. I explain the problem of limited research about a leader who uses political skill to influence employees, if the leader has a different social identity from employees, particularly during the transformation of the organisation. I formulate the main research question thus: What is the influence of social identity on the exercise of a leader's political skill?

1.2. Definitions of terms

1.2.1. Leader political skill

Political skill is defined as "the ability to effectively understand others at work, to use such knowledge to act in ways that enhance one's personal and/or organizational [sic] objectives" (Ferris, Treadway, Perrewe, Brouer, Douglas & Lux, 2007, p. 292). The definition is applied to leadership positions.

1.2.2. Social identity

Social identity is defined as "individual self-concept which derives from knowledge of membership of a social group together with emotional significance attached to membership" (Tajfel, 1972: p. 272).

1.2.3. Leader influence tactics

Tactics are used to influence decisions and allocation of scarce resources (Yulk, Seifert & Chavez, 2008, p. 609). The study uses the definition of a leader's use of influence tactics on employees.

1.2.3.1. Manipulation

Owen (1986, p. 111) defined manipulation as "control or play upon as artful, unfair, or insidious means". The study uses a definition of a leader's use of manipulation tactics on employees.

1.2.3.2. Collaboration

Collaboration is defined as "the agent offers to provide assistance or necessary resources if the target will carry out a request or approve a proposed change" (Yulk et al., 2008. p. 610). The agent is the leader and the target is the employee in the study.

1.2.4. Employee reactions

Employee reactions are defined as the "response of all those workers who hold the type of jobs defined as paid employment job, where the incumbents hold explicit (written or oral) or implicit employment contracts that give them a basic remuneration that is not directly dependent upon the revenue of the unit for which they work" (International Labour Organisation, n.d.). The study uses the definition to explain employee responses to a leader.

1.2.4.1. Resistance

Resistance is defined as "any conduct that serves to maintain the status quo in the face of pressure to alter the status quo" (Zaltman & Duncan, 1977, p.63). The definition is applied from an employee's perspective towards a leader.

1.2.4.2. Cooperation

Cooperation is defined as the "wilful contribution of personal effort to the completion of interdependent jobs" (Wagner III, 1995, p.152). The definition is used from an employee perspective towards a leader.

1.2.5. Transformation

Transformation is defined as planned or managed change (Levy & Merry, 1986, p. 2). The definition is applied change in an organisation to become more diverse, equitable, and inclusive.

1.2.6. Higher education

Higher education refers to all learning programmes leading to qualifications higher than Grade 12 or its equivalent in terms of the national qualifications framework as contemplated in the South African Qualifications Authority Act (Act No.58 of 1995), and includes tertiary education as contemplated in Schedule 4 of the constitution (Higher education act, 1997: xiv). The study draws insights from the higher education sector.

1.2.7. Academic employee

An academic employee refers to any person appointed to teach or to do research at a public higher education institution and any other employee designated as such by the Council of that institution (Higher education act, 1997: 6). The study highlights perspectives from academic employees.

1.3. Background of the study

1.3.1. Leader political skill

The early stream of research on organisational politics examined leaders who exercised power to influence employees to benefit the leader. An extensive body of knowledge highlighted that leaders who practised organisational politics were manipulative and self-serving, at the expense of the organisation. Drawing from the early works, Pfeffer (1981) coined and situated the concept of political skill in organisational politics literature. Around the same time, Mintzberg (1985) assumed that leaders and employees navigated political arenas in organisations.

Ferris and Judge (2001) developed a political influence theory, building on the mid-range organisational politics theory (Mintzberg, 1985) and the classic grand organisational theory proposed by Weber (1947). Ferris et al. (2007, p.292) further conducted a thorough scholarly review of the definition, components, and dimensions of political skill. Ferris, Treadway, Perrewe, Brouer, Douglas, and Lux (2005) developed a measure (Maher, Russel, Jordan & Hochwater, 2020) for the political skill concept within organisational politics scholarship.

In a bid to extend earlier works, a later stream of research on political skill examined leaders who exercised influence on employees to benefit the organisation. Hochwarter (2012) argues that organisational politics used to benefit a given organisation, where leaders influence employees to build support for an idea throughout the organisation. A body of knowledge probed leaders who used collaboration as a tactic to influence employees (Ferris et al., 2007). Since there were potential benefits, leaders were encouraged to participate in organisational politics, rather than avoiding it, where it was assumed to be either manipulative and self-serving.

Since contributors and outcomes of early and later research on political skill are largely known, scholars have called for the examination of intervening aspects of political influence in the recent stream of research. Extending this premise, Munyon, Summers, Thompson, and Ferris (2015) suggested intervening in aspects that measure the direction of relationships between political skill and stress outcomes. Similarly, Hochwarter et al. (2020) propose that intervening aspects affect the direction of relationships between organisational politics contributors and outcomes. In the same vein, Frieder, Ferris, Perrewe, Wihler, and Brooks (2019) are of the view that, among intervening aspects, scholars determine whether social identity differences such as race and gender between leaders and employees can affect organisational politics contributors and outcomes.

1.3.2 Social identity

Social identity literature has undergone an early stream of research on similarities between members of in-groups and out-groups. In particular, the focus of early research examined inter-group processes and conflict between members (Tajfel & Turner, 2004). A later body of research on social identity examined the formation of the self-concept of social group members. In addition, differences between characteristics of in-group members and outgroups were examined along the intergroup conflict dimension.

Social categorisation, concerning clustering group members, and social comparison, which entailed comparing groups, highlighted intra-group and inter-group similarities and differences between members (Ashforth & Mael, 1989; Nkomo & Cox, 1996). Furthermore, there is a multiplicity, simultaneity, and intersectionality of social identities of leaders and employees in the workplace (Drory & Beaty, 1991; Reicher, Haslam & Hopkins, 2005). For example, leaders gave higher marks to employees during selection interviews, higher performance appraisal scores, and promotions, if the employee was similar to the leader in certain aspects, exemplified by gender.

A recent stream of research determines whether there were differences between members of the same in-group or out-group, respectively, along with intra-group member differences. For example, Brewer (1991) argues that members face tensions about whether to maintain personal identity within a social group which might lead to ostracisation and marginalisation. Alternatively, members assimilate into social groups' norms and expectations to fit in and for a sense of belonging (Hogg, 2001; Hogg, Terry & White, 1995; McAllister, Ellen III, & Ferris, 2018; Pan, Gruber & Binder, 2019). Leaders and employees belong to multiple social groups at any given time with the salience or prominence of any singular identity or intersectionality dependent on context. Hence, social identity matters when members interact, and is likely to affect a leader who influences employees who are different from the leader.

Social identity acknowledges the multiplicity of identities residing in leaders and employees in the workplace. Identities can belong to the categories of race, gender, nationality, and language of the leader and employee respectively. In addition, the categories of identity exist simultaneously within, and across leaders and employees which affects the way leaders interact with employees (Booysen, 2018; Carrim & Nkomo, 2016; Ramarajan, 2014). Since the categories of identity exist within and across leaders and employees, the context becomes important to examine social and relational influences in the workplace.

1.3.2.1. Race, gender, nationality, language differences

The social identity of a leader and employee is likely to affect whether a leader exercises political skill on different employees along race, gender, nationality, and language categories. The study focuses on these four categories in the wake of the transformation of an organisation to become more equitable, inclusive, and diverse (Arnett, 2023; Fitzsimmons, Ozbilgin, Thomas & Nkomo, 2023; Nkomo, 1992; Nkomo, 2021; Powell & Butterfield, 2015; Yo-Jud Cheng & Groysberg, 2020). The leader and employees identify with members of social categories for a sense of belonging and to boost self-esteem. Hence, a leader who uses political skill may use a tactic of manipulation or collaboration with an employee, based on social identity categories of race, gender, nationality, and language differences and similarities.

1.3.2.2. Race, gender, nationality and language similarities

Contrary to the difference in social identity categories, the effect of race, gender, nationality, and language similarities is likely to occur in leadership decisions about employees and human resource functions such as recruitment and selection. Leaders and employees belong to an in-group that has similar characteristics that bring togetherness and a sense of belonging. Since social groups reflect a leader's self-image, the similarity between leaders and employees emphasises commonalities of the profession (Ferris & Judge, 1991). Therefore, leaders promote employees who are similar to the leader. Leaders and employees seek out in-groups in which they are aligned with leaders.

1.3.3. Social-political perspective

A social-political perspective draws from literature on organisational politics and social influence. With regards to the social dimension, a leader and employee interact in the presence of social categories of identity. In the case of politics, the leader uses political skill to influence employees to meet the organisational goals. Scholars have used a social-political perspective to investigate innovation, performance, and leadership (Grosser, Obstfeld, Choi, Woehler, Lopez-Kidwell, Lablanca & Borgantti, 2018; McAllister et al., 2018; Munyon, Frieder, Satomino, Carnes, Bolander & Ferris, 2020). The current study draws insights from recent studies about conducting research at the nexus between social and political perspectives.

There is a dearth of research on a leader who exercises political skill to influence an employee who is different from the leader. The current study examines whether an employee perceives a leader who adopts political skill to influence the employee as manipulative if a leader is different from the employee. An employee is likely to show resistance against a manipulative leader if a leader is different. Meanwhile, an employee may perceive a leader as adopting political skill to influence an employee through collaboration, if a leader is similar to the employee. An employee is more likely to cooperate with a leader perceived as adopting political skill to collaborate with the employee if the leader and employee are similar, particularly during the transformation of an organisation for diversity and inclusion.

1.3.4. Transformation of an organisation

Transformation of the organisation creates political tensions between social groups in workplaces, as power dynamics shift, and jostling for access to resources changes. In the case of South Africa, a divisive history of apartheid based on racial and language social groups denied basic human rights to a majority of the population according to race identity, and differentiated access to quality education, and quality job opportunities. During the democratic dispensation, there have been calls for the integration of previously segregated social groups based on race and language categories. Since the dawn of democracy, organisations had to reflect the diversity in society to become more inclusive, diverse, and representative.

Integration of leaders and employees from different social groups caused tensions between diverse interests and access to limited resources shifted. Bringing leaders and employees together, who were previously separated created misunderstandings, misinterpretations, and outright conflict (Department of higher education and training [DHET], 2022). Hence, leaders require certain mechanisms to better influence employees who differ from the leader, when considering transformation as a goal. South Africa's higher education sector currently grapples with transformation tensions.

1.4. Transformation of higher education in South Africa

1.4.1. Transformation background

The higher education sector was categorised along former white and former black institutions during the apartheid system of segregation in South Africa. Former white institutions offered quality education, were well-resourced, and were well-managed when compared to former black institutions (DHET, 2019). Since the dawn of democracy, leaders have been under pressure to transform former white and former black institutions to become more diverse and inclusive (Du Preez, Simmonds & Verhoef, 2016; Jansen, 2003; Soudien, 2010), creating a need for political skill to influence changing social group formations. Many institutions have been merged to restructure operations and integrate students as well as staff in diverse demographic groups, rather than segregated social groups. For instance, the former University of Natal and the former University of Durban-Westville merged to become the University of KwaZulu-Natal, where in both cases, transformation tensions persist.

1.4.2. Recent transformation

The South African government developed legislation to drive and enforce the transformation of previously divided higher education institutions. The objective of the Higher Education Act of 1997 was to enable the implementation of a transformation agenda through a mandated institutional forum (DHET, 1997). In addition, the Employment Equity Act proposed affirmative action as a mechanism for executing transformation (Wöcke & Sutherland, 2008) along race and gender social identity dimensions. To comply with legislation at the institutional level, the human resource function had to follow equity expectations to achieve the transformation goals. Institutional policies reflected legislation and guidelines to monitor and evaluate the implementation of the transformation agenda in higher education.

Recent organisational political tensions emerged from calls to implement transformation in higher education. Racial tensions occurred during the Fallist movements with the calls for decolonisation of curriculum and transformation, where leaders and academic employees were obligated to choose whether to support or resist these movements (Mbembe, 2019), creating a need for certain political skill. For example, a prominent black male professor at a University in Cape Town was manipulated to assume an unwanted senior executive position by a black female deputy vice-chancellor, for transformation, which saw the former ultimately committing suicide (Davies, 2022; Nhlapo, et al., 2020).

Similarly, at a university in KwaZulu-Natal, many senior executives collectively resigned after the council appointed a white and male vice-chancellor, which executives perceived as anti-transformation and politically motivated (Morrell, 2024). Both examples highlight relational tensions that arise if organisational politics exist with gender, race, nationality, and language identity during the transformation of higher education.

Organisational political tensions persist between leaders and academic employees who support or resist the transformation of higher education institutions. While university management has been dominated by black people nationally, the professoriate remains dominated by white professors. The South African government has implemented development and support programmes to address the shortage of black professors (DHET, 2019; DHET, 2022). A former vice chancellor was reported as pushing white people out, in favour of black people for transformation at a university in KwaZulu-Natal (Johnson, 2016). Many prominent white academic employees left the institution as a form of resistance against transformation.

A university of technology in KwaZulu-Natal experienced workplace political tensions between the chair of the council and the former vice-chancellor, where, more recently, the institution has employed a high number of Indian people and black African nationals.

Nationality has become a point of tension between leaders and academic employees regarding the appointment of black African nationals from abroad. At a university of technology in Durban, a vice-chancellor stopped the appointment of African nationals in leadership and academic positions, which in turn caused tensions between leadership and academic employees represented by trade unions. Some non-South African nationals have left a university of technology in Durban. The purge of black African nationals, who were sought after in early post-apartheid South Africa, may be perceived as motivated by xenophobia (Higher education institution [HEI] one, 2022; HEI two, 2022, McKune, 2009). On the contrary, black African nationals were appointed to leadership positions and as academic employees, under a recently appointed vice chancellor, who happens to be a black male African national, at a university in KwaZulu-Natal.

Male professors dominate higher education institutions, while female professors remain underrepresented. In the management of higher education institutions, there is one female vice-chancellor out of four vice-chancellors at public higher education institutions located in the province of KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. More broadly, there are few women-rated scientists in higher education institutions, as contained in national research foundation (NRF) ratings and academy of science membership in South Africa. Yet, the number of female students graduating from higher education institutions has risen. Therefore, leaders were unable to appoint women scientists to higher education institutions opportunities, to be transformative, in preference for male appointments and similar language speakers.

Language tensions have appeared, with calls to entrench the isiZulu language as a prominent language in the province of KwaZulu-Natal, as a response to national language guidelines to decolonise knowledge production. The requirement has arisen for isiZulu language proficiency, to the exclusion of non-isiZulu speakers from work and learning opportunities. Hence, an isiZulu-speaking leader may influence a non-isiZulu-speaking employee in nuanced ways, based on language similarity. More broadly, a university in Cape Town faced challenges about the use of Afrikaans as a medium of instruction. The university underwent a process of revising language use at a public higher education institution, where leaders and academic employees would have required political influence to transform language use. These cases highlight the problem of political influence tensions and social identity differences leaders face during the transformation of organisations.

1.5. Problem statement

A leader exercises political skill to influence employees similarly to the leader. Yet, little is known about a leader who adopts political skill to influence employees who are different from the leader (Ferris et al., 2019; Nkomo, et al., 2019). Extant literature overlooks to ask whether employees perceive a leader who applies political skill to influence employees as manipulative if the leader is different from the employee based on race, gender, nationality, and language. If an employee perceives a leader who exercises political skill as manipulative the employee is more likely to react with resistance towards the leader, if the leader is different from the employee.

By contrast, employees may perceive the leader as deploying political skill to influence employees through collaboration if the leader shares a similar social identity with the employee. The employee is more likely to cooperate, with the leader perceived as utilising political skill to collaborate with the employee if the leader and employee share a similar social identity. The two alternative perspectives highlight a need to examine whether social identity difference influences the exercise of a leader's political skill, as organisations transform to become more diverse and inclusive.

Leaders are under pressure to transform organisations to reflect the diversity of society. Instead of the leader using political skill to influence employees who are similar to the leader in categories such as nationality and gender, the leader could influence employees who are different from the leader for transformation (Nhlapo et al., 2020; Smith, 2022). Tensions emerge between the leader who may use political skill to influence employees who are different from the leader, rather than similar. Hence, leaders who are used to influencing employees who are similar to the leader encounter challenges in influencing different employees for the transformation of corporations, as well as in South Africa.

1.6. Research purpose

The purpose of the study is to examine whether social identity difference influences the exercise of a leader's political skill. The employee is more likely to show resistance against a leader who is viewed as adopting political skill to manipulate the employee if the leader is different from the employee. In contrast, a cooperative employee may perceive a leader as exercising political skill to collaborate with the employee if the leader and employee are similar. These two alternating possibilities give rise to the following research questions:

1.7. Main research question

What is the influence of social identity on the exercise of a leader's political skill?

1.7.1. Research sub-questions

What are employee perceptions of a leader who exercises political skill to influence employees if a leader is different from employees?

What are employee reactions towards a leader who uses influence tactics, if a leader is different from employees?

1.8. Research contributions

1.8.1. Theoretical

The study draws on political influence theory to examine a leader who influences employees who are different from the leader. Before political influence theory emerged, Mintzberg (1985) developed a middle-range organisational politics theory, building on Weber's (1947) classic organisational theory. At a later stage, Ferris and Judge (1991) drew from Mintzberg's (1985) organisational politics theory to create the entry-level (Shepherd & Suddaby, 2016) political influence theory. Political influence theory assumes that workplaces are made up of irrational leaders and employees. In addition, workplaces comprise diverse leader and employee interests that compete for access to limited resources. The assumptions highlight the conditions for leaders to exercise political skill to manipulate and collaborate with potentially different employee interests in pursuit of few resources.

Since contributors and outcomes of political influence assumptions are known, Munyon et al. (2015), building on the work of Treadway, Ferris, Douglas, Hochwarter, Kacmar, and Ammeter (2004), have called for extending the political influence theory. Charles and Nkomo (2012) have further suggested the examination of race and gender categories of identity as intervening aspects of organisational politics, while Hochwarter et al. (2020), Ferris et al. (2019), as well as Frieder et al. (2019) have proposed diversity as an intervening aspect of political influence for future research. As a response to these theoretical suggestions and practical transformation tensions, this study examines a leader who uses political skill to influence diverse employees in the workplace.

While leaders have exercised political skill to influence employees who are similar to the leader, little is known about the influence of a leader's political skill on employees who are different from them (Ferris, et al., 2019) according to social identity categories of race, gender, nationality, and language. The study examines whether employees perceived a leader who applied political skill to influence employees as manipulative if the leader is different from employees. Employees are more likely to show resistance against a manipulative leader if the leader is different from the employee.

In contrast, employees are more likely to perceive the leader as deploying political skill to influence employees through collaboration if the leader shares a similar social identity with them. Employees may view a collaborative leader as using political skill to cooperate with employees if the leader and employees share a similar social identity based on race, gender, nationality and language. By examining the alternative perspectives of a leader who influences employees, the study contributes to the understanding of multiple social identity differences, characterised by race, gender, nationality, and language, as intervening aspects of political influence theory as well as practice.

1.8.2. Practical

Leaders are under pressure to influence employees who are different from them, by means of which to transform public and private organisations. The study contributes mechanisms to support leaders to exercise political skill to manipulate and collaborate with different employees based on the social identity of race, gender, nationality and language categories to mitigate transformation tensions. In this regard, practical workshops, executive coaching, and mentoring support manipulative leaders who exercise political skill on different employees (Kelly, 2020; Postma, 2020) based on multiple social categories of gender, race, nationality, and language. An executive coach can assist in shaping the leaders' influence tactics in a diverse organisation. Leaders ought to be supported to exercise influence and minimise offending, discriminating, and clashing with diverse employees. Therefore, leadership content should include political skill directed at diverse employees through self-awareness and reflections at work.

Capacity-building guides employee perceptions of a leader who uses political skill to manipulate employees if the leader has a different social identity from employees, according to nationality, race, gender, and language. Leaders ought to measure their level of political skill to identify areas of capacity building on diversity at work. Employees are instrumental in giving feedback to leaders about their tactics and employee reactions (Council for Higher Education [CHE], 2022). Observations and anonymous reports can be used to gather more information about a leader's political skill to transform an organisation. Mechanisms of capacity building at entry, mid-range, and senior levels can support manipulative leaders who employ political skill to deal with potential employee resistance if the leader has a different social identity from that of employees, based on language, race, nationality, and gender.

From a divergent perspective, a leader utilises political skill to collaborate with employees who share a similar social identity with employees for transformation. Training and development programmes, executive education opportunities, and practical experience observations may be implemented to enhance a collaborative leader's ability to exercise political skill on employees as the transformation progresses (CHE, 2022; DHET, 2022; USAF, 2023). Leaders can be sent to assignments where employees are diverse for exposure and awareness of differences.

The relevant mechanisms draw from employee perceptions of a leader who exercises political skill to collaborate with employees if the leader has a similar social identity to employees. The mechanisms can entail social ways of exposure to difference for example through sport, music, and storytelling. The mechanisms and measurements enable collaborative leaders to apply the political skill to leverage employee cooperation if a leader shares a similar social identity with employees during the transformation of an organisation.

1.8.3. Methodological

The study contributes a survey cross-sectional research design and method that takes into account the South African context. Given South Africa's divisive history based on identity, the adopted research resign and method needed to be sensitive to context, building on previous research. The study contributes a unique sample of respondents in a unique setting to offer nuanced insights about identity and workplace politics during the transformation of the organisation (Maher, Russel, Jordan, Ferris & Hochwarter, 2020). South Africa is promoting the integration of leaders and employees from diverse background post-apartheid.

Instead of requesting leaders to identify their workplace politics, employees reported their perceptions of their immediate managers to strengthen the dataset. The measurement instrument was piloted to ensure respondents were not offended by statements on, race, gender, nationality, and language differences categories. The categories were used to examine social identity between leaders and employees, based on the exercise of leader political skill in the workplace.

1.9 Evolution of leader political skill

The political skill concept was conceived by Pfeffer (1981), building on Mintzberg's (1985) scholarly work on leadership power and influence. Drawing from Pfeffer's (1981) and Mintzberg's (1985) works, Ferris et al. (2007, p.292) developed the widely accepted definition of political skill as "the ability to effectively understand others at work, to use such knowledge to act in ways that enhance one's personal and/or organizational [sic] objectives". A leader demonstrates an understanding of employees by showing political skill components of "social astuteness, interpersonal influence, apparent sincerity, and network ability" (Ahearn, Ferris, Hochwater, Douglas & Ammeter, 2004; Frieder, et al., 2019; p. 3; McAllister, Ellen III & Ferris, 2018; Treadway et al., 2004). Interpersonal, social, political savvy, and emotional intelligence skills are associated with the concept of political skill. The assumptions of political skill are sufficiently different from the aforementioned concepts.

Political skill as a concept has been examined through the political influence theory, situated in organisational politics drawn from organisational theory. Political influence underpins political skill, the conceptualisation of personal goal contributors, and group benefit outcomes. More recently, scholars have called for intervening aspects to determine the direction of political skill concept underscored by political influence assumptions (Ferris & Judge, 2001; Ferris et al., 2007; Longnecker, Sims & Gioia, 1987; Munyon, et al., 2015). In the same vein, Ferris et.al (2019) and Frieder et al. (2019) have proposed researching and measuring nationality and gender differences as intervening aspects of political skill in the workplace.

A measurement of political skill, as a unidimensional construct, known as political skill inventory, has been developed to conduct research. As depicted in the questionnaire, the political skill inventory comprises 17 items based on four components of "social astuteness, interpersonal influence, apparent sincerity, and network ability" (Ferris et al., 2005:126). A shorter version of the political skill inventory has been used in some studies. The political skill inventory has been widely used to measure leaders who exercise political skill, with implications for employee perceptions in the workplace.

1.9.1. Employee-perceived leader political skill

The practice of political skill is often studied from a leader's perspective, with less focus on employee perceptions of a leader's political skill. Scholars have probed the use of leaders political skill on employees (Masyln & Fedor, 1998; Sun, 2022; Sun, Burke, Chen, Tan, Zhang & Hou, 2021). Yet, employees at different levels of the organisation, who are on the receiving end of a leader's political skill, might provide unique insights. Instead of examining the political skill from a leader's perspective, employees are likely to show nuanced responses about the perceptions of a leader's political skill, as depicted in the research questionnaire. In addition, employees have robust perceptions about the level of a leader's political skill and social identity.

1.10. Evolution of social identity

Drawing from identity theory within social psychology, a widely accepted definition of social identity is "individual's self-concept which derives from his knowledge of his membership of a social group together with the emotional significance attached to that membership" (Tajfel, 1972, p.292). This definition suggests that identity is not only personal but rather socially constructed. Ashforth and Mael (1989), as well as Nkomo and Cox (1996), later introduced the social identity concept to the organisation, as well as the organisational literature. In recent times, Abrams and Hogg (2021) built on early and later works on social identity theory, by foregrounding the role of leaders in navigating identity in the workplace.

Social identity assumes that an individual is a member of a group based on the satisfaction derived from membership. When no longer satisfied with the group, a member leaves the group, unless objective, value-related reasons exist to maintain membership. A member decides to reframe undesirable aspects of the group, as well as take social action to change members. Social identity assumptions and measurement recognise multiple social groups hence social categorisation and social comparison occur between ingroups and outgroups based on similarities and differences (Ferris & Mitchell, 1987; Mell, Dechurch, Leenders & Contractor, 2020; Tajfel, 1978; Yi, et al., 2020). Social identity has been measured using a widely accepted self-esteem instrument developed by Crocker and Luhtanen (1990). Many studies have used the instrument to measure social identity from a leader's perspective, hence the study draws from employee perspectives.

1.10.1. Race, gender, nationality, language differences and similarities

Social identity differences refer to aspects of profession and belonging in the workplace. Employees and leaders highlight tensions of differences of race and gender for multiculturalism, diversity, and uniqueness for belonging and satisfaction. Both the leader and employee develop respective personal identities for social identity. Personal identities of the leader and employee differ based on aspects of gender and language (Ely, 1994; Ferris & Mitchell, 1987; Haslam, Gaffney, Hogg, Rast & Steffens, 2022; Hogg, 2000; Izraeli, 1987; Nkomo & Hobbler, 2014; Ragins & Sundrom, 1989). Since there are power dynamics between a leader and an employee, a salient social group of leaders shapes employees' perceptions of a leader's social group and language in the workplace.

The perceptions of different employees about leadership, particularly from a workplace political influence perspective provide useful insights, especially in organisations that transform to become more inclusive and diverse for example based on language differences. Language differences have led to tensions in workplaces where leaders and employees speak different languages. This is the case when employees are different from the leader in an identity aspect (Arnett, 2023; Brewer, 1991; Hogg, 2001; Pan et al., 2019; Yi, Zhang & Windsor, 2020) such as language. This further shows that language can be a salient aspect of highlighting differences.

In the same vein, the conceptualisation of "self" within a group, has implications for differentiation, which requires assimilation to fit into the in-group, for a sense of belonging and acceptance, and ignoring the out-group. As a consequence, reconciling a sense of self with maintaining differences causes tensions between employees and leaders over rejection, ostracisation, and marginalisation outcomes (Haslam, et al., 2022). For example, a person who speaks a foreign language is treated differently from employees who speak the local language, making it difficult to socialise and fit into the workplace.

Social identity difference is viewed as beneficial to the organisation whether there is acceptance of individuality, even within intra-group interactions between leaders and employees. Based on social interactions, there are reactions of employees to the leader's influence approach to employees who are different from the leader (Selvanathan, Crimston & Jetten, 2022). Therefore, social identity matters when a leader interacts with an employee who is different from the leader, especially during the transformation tensions and misunderstandings. The primary language of the individuals involved in communication is an expression of a leader or employees' multiple identities.

In addition to language, the study focuses on race, gender, and nationality, for transformation to become more inclusive and diverse (Arnett, 2023; Nkomo, 1992; Drory & Beaty, 1991; Nkomo, 2021; Powell & Butterfield, 2015). Examining differences in social identity assists leaders in influencing employees. In contrast, employees relate with leaders who have a similar social identity to their own (Brewer, 1991; Brown, 2019, Wexley & Klimonski, 1984). The similarity between leaders influences employees based on shared aspects of given values.

1.11. Evolution of leader influence tactics

Influence tactics have emerged for scrutiny from lines of enquiry on interpersonal influence, power, and organisational influence. Leaders use tactics to influence decisions and allocation of scarce resources to employees. Influence tactics involve collaboration, persuasion, and manipulation (Lu, Bartol, Venkataramani, Zheng & Liu, 2019; Porter, Aleen & Angle, 1981; Schriesheim & Hinkin, 1990; Yulk, Seifert & Chavez, 2008; Yukl & Falbe, 1991). Manipulation and collaboration tactics are used to influence the outcomes for leaders and employees when navigating organisational politics. Employee perceptions of leader influence tactics of manipulation and collaboration are measured through a questionnaire developed by Kipnis, Schmidt, and Wilkinson (1980). Leaders use tactics to influence employee thinking, behaviour, and actions towards achieving organisational outcomes. Combined tactics influence employees, and conditions shape a leader to manipulate or collaborate with employees.

1.11.1. Employee-perceived leader influence tactics

Employees perceive a leader who uses influence tactics as manipulative or collaborative with employees. The effect of manipulation takes into account power dynamics between employees and a leader (Ferris et al., 2019; Schriesheim & Hinkin, 1990) and provides employee insights under unique conditions that include diverse interests. In contrast, a collaborative tactic draws nuanced employee perceptions about a leader who navigates workplace politics, which are always present in every organisation. The outcome of using manipulation and collaboration depends on employee reactions towards the leader.

1.11.1.1. Manipulation

Leaders have used manipulation to sway employee perceptions towards achieving personal and organisational goals. Manipulation tactics have been defined as "control or play upon as artful, unfair, or insidious means" (Owen, 1986: p. 111). Leaders control employees through underhanded means of ingratiation and inspirational appeals, complimenting employees before asking for a favour, appearing humble to the employee, and sympathising with an employee about the request (Drory & Beaty, 1991; Ferris et al., 2007; Furst & Cable, 2008; Jones, 1964; Yukl, et al., 2008). Employees view an overly polite leader as politically motivated in pursuit of personal gain. Where pretence is relied upon, leaders require the ability to understand and influence employee reactions through manipulation.

1.11.1.2. Collaboration

In contrast to manipulation, through collaboration leaders hold influence over the actions of their employees. Collaboration is conceptualised as "the agent offers to provide assistance or necessary resources if the target will carry out a request or approve a proposed change" (Yulk et al., 2008 p. 610). A leader collaborates with employees by offering to assist an employee, sourcing employee opinions before making a decision, and sharing outcomes of working together with employees (Lu, et al., 2019). To collaborate, the leader further reminds employees of previous support, gives employees benefits for acting on requests, and offers resources for job tasks. Since the leader influences employees, employee perceptions of a collaborative leader highlight nuances and reactions.

1.12. Evolution of employee reactions

Employees form reactions about a leader who exercises influence over them. Employee reactions towards a leader are essential if the organisation acts on commitments. Employee reaction is defined as "responses of all those workers who hold the type of jobs defined as paid employment job, where incumbents hold explicit (written or oral) or implicit employment contracts that give them a basic remuneration that is not directly dependent upon the revenue of the unit for which they work" (International Labour Organisation, n.d.). Employees respond to a leader who exercises political skill to influence them (Fedor, Maslyn, Farmer, & Bettenhausen, 2008; Haslam et al., 2022), through employee cooperation with or resistance against the leader in the workplace.

1.12.1. Resistance

Employees show resistance against a leader who uses influence tactics on employees. Employee resistance is defined as "any employee conduct that serves to maintain the status quo in the face of pressure to alter the status quo" (Zaltman & Duncan, 1977: p.63). Employees ignore a leader's instructions, refuse to carry out a leader's request or overlook an action that they require (Baron, 1986; Furst & Cable, 2008). Employees who feel taken advantage of demonstrate outright defiance against the influence of a leader, engage in a work slowdown, or stop being amenable to the leader. Employee resistance is associated with manipulation exercised by leaders, who are viewed as pursuing personal gain at the expense of employees.

1.12.2. Cooperation

Employees cooperate with a leader who uses political skill to collaborate with employees. Cooperation is defined as the "wilful contribution of personal effort to the completion of interdependent jobs" (Wagner III, 1995, p.152). An employee shows cooperation by obeying and complying with requests of the leader to meet job requirements (Furst & Cable, 2008). Employees who cooperate with a leader are consistent with beneficial politics, as suggested by Hochwarter et al. (2020), where employees support the leader's requests and share information with them. However, the extent to which the employee cooperates with the leader depends on collaboration, where, if a leader has a similar social identity to the employee, this has implications for the transformation of an organisation.

1.13. Employee-perceived leader political skill, employee-perceived leader influence tactics, and employee reactions, influenced by employee-perceived social identity

Little is known about whether a leader exercises political skill to influence employees who are different from the leader. A leader is likely to use political skill to manipulate employees if the leader has a different social identity. In organisations where irrational leaders use political skill to ingratiate diverse interest groups to compete for access to limited resources and opportunities (Ahearn et al., 2004; Ferris & Judge, 2001; Hochwarter et al., 2020; McAllister et al. 2018), such leaders resort to unfair means of influence. Employees find a leader to be overly complementary to employees if the employee has a different social identity from the leader based on race, gender, nationality, and language. The use of manipulation tactics on diverse employees offers insight into the influence on employees, particularly while tensions

arise over inclusion and diversity. Employees may react with resistance against the manipulative leader if the leader has a different social identity from the employees.

As an alternative, employees understand and overlook a manipulative leader who uses political skill to ingratiate employees (Ely, 1994; Drory & Beaty, 1991; Ferris et al., 2007; Frieder et al., 2020) in such cases that the leader and employees share a similar social identity with employees. Leaders and employees join social groups based on shared race, gender, language, nationality, and profession for a sense of belonging, and leave the social group if the group no longer benefits members (Nkomo et al., 2019; Tajfel & Turner, 1978). Employees may overlook a manipulative leader perceived as using political skill to favour employees similar to the leader, especially during transformation tensions and collaboration.

A leader is likely to adopt political skill to collaborate with employees who share a similar social identity. A collaborative leader offers to assist employees with tasks, recognise employee inputs openly, and offer personal favours for employees with a similar social identity to the leader (Ferris & Judge, 2001; Kacmar, Bachrach, Harris, & Zivnuska, 2011; Munyon et al., 2020; Pan et al., 2019). Leaders further make formal requests to employees, give support after making requests, and offer a benefit in exchange for requests. Leaders prefer to work with employees who are similar to leaders when it comes to aspects such as gender, nationality, race, and language. In the wake of calls for the transformation of organisations to become more inclusive and diverse, leaders face misunderstandings when influencing not only employees similar to the leader but also those who are different.

Employees may cooperate with a leader who uses political skill to collaborate with employees if the leader has a similar social identity as the employee. Employees adhere to leader requests, show support for the leader's instructions, and communicate with a leader with ease if the leader and employee share a similar social identity. Since employees feel a sense of belonging (Wagner, 1995) if a leader shares a similar social group, employees could feel obligated to support the leader's requests, instead of mutually beneficial outcomes and benefits of the organisation. However, employees who are different from the leader when it comes to social identity are less likely to cooperate with the leader, especially during the transformation of the organisation.

Leaders face tensions in transforming organisations to include employees from diverse demographics and professional backgrounds. Depending on the leader's approach to transformation, employees perceive the leader to be either in support of or against transformation. Transformation highlights identity differences of gender, race, nationality, and language by categorising and comparing groups, which further raises questions about organisational politics that are present in every organisation (Arnett, 2023; Davy, 2008; Fitzsimmons et al., 2023; Hochwarter et al., 2020; Nkomo, 1992, Nkomo, 2021). Outcomes of transformation either encourage differences in social groups in the workplace or enable assimilation, where employees and leaders seek to fit in and feel a sense of belonging rather than underscore differences.

The study adopts a cross-sectional design to examine employee perceptions of a leader who exercises political skill to influence employees who are different from the leader. While a cross-sectional design has limitations in collecting data at a singular point in time, the study uses the design as most appropriate to answer the research question of "What is the influence of social identity on the exercise of a leader's political skill?

1.14. Overview summary

The overview chapter discussed the background of a leader who exercised political skill to influence the employees if the leader is different from the employees. Employees can perceive a leader who uses political skill to be manipulative if the leader is different from the employee. Employees are likely to show resistance in such cases. Alternatively, employees can view a leader who adopts political skill as collaborative, if the leader is similar to the employee. Employees can cooperate with a collaborative leader when the leader and employee are similar. Social identity categories of race, gender, nationality, and language differences are highlighted if organisations transform to become more inclusive and diverse, amid organisational politics. The next chapter presents a literature review on the leader's political skill and employee reactions from a social-political perspective.

Chapter two: Literature review

2.1 Introduction

The previous chapter presented an overview of a leader who exercises political skill to influence diverse employees during organisational transformation for diversity. Employees may view a leader who uses political skill as manipulative if the leader is different from the employees. Yet, a leader may be viewed as adopting political skill to collaborate with employees if the leader is similar. The main research question is "What is the influence of social identity on the exercise of a leader's political skill?" To address the research question, I discuss the state of transformation of higher education in South Africa. I adopt political influence as a theoretical anchor to examine a leader who uses political skill to influence different employee reactions. I draw on social identity differences of race, gender, nationality, and language differences as intervening aspects that extend political influence theory.

2.2 The state of higher education transformation in South Africa

In South Africa, higher education institutions were divided along racial lines during apartheid. Former white institutions had advanced research and administration resources as well as leaders and employees who delivered high-quality education, while former black institutions were regarded as under-resourced while delivering inferior education (DHET, 1997; DHET, 2019; Jansen, 2003). Former white privileged institutions were further categorised according to English and Afrikaans-speaking institutions, while black underprivileged institutions were classified along African, Indian, and coloured racial groups, with limited resources.

The difference or similarity in race identity of leadership and employee social groups was a catalyst for allocating and withholding physical resources to deliver quality higher education to society in South Africa. As Soudien (2010) has pointed out, calls were made to leaders to deracialise employee and student demographic profiles in the higher education sector and progress towards integration of formerly divided race social groups to promote diversity and inclusion in post-apartheid South Africa. During the transition from racial division to integration, leaders grapple with the required skills to implement transformation amid race tensions and misunderstandings throughout the higher education sector.

Tensions emerged regarding whether leaders were perceived by employees to support or were against the racial transformation of higher education institutions in democratic South Africa. Leaders who supported the transformation agenda employed qualified employees from underrepresented social groups based on race and gender identities and excluded overrepresented groups which caused further tensions. Soudien (2010) was of the view that employee race and gender demographic representation was insufficient to reflect transformation, as discrimination persisted in democratic South Africa. On the contrary, leaders who were perceived by employees to be against the transformation agenda delayed the implementation based on a lack of suitable affirmative action candidates available for jobs and opportunities. In mitigating tensions associated with transformation, the South African government passed legislation to guide higher education decision-making between leaders and employees.

South Africa's higher education legislation is steeped in a national constitution that enshrines a bill of rights under the equality clause, to promote no discrimination on aspects such as race, and gender. In alignment with the South African constitution, the higher education act and institutional forum purport to "restructuring and transformation programmes and institutions to respond better to human resource, economic and development needs". The institutional forum is mandated to monitor the implementation of transformation based on higher education legislation, in pursuit of redress on human resource and operational policy imperatives.

The green and white papers of the South African government provide a framework for higher education transformation such as education working paper 3 (DHET, 1997). Furthermore, the government Department of Labour passed the Employment Equity Act, which requires that higher education institutional leaders implement affirmative action when recruiting employees (Wöcke & Sutherland, 2008). The affirmative action clause in the employment equity act promotes the prioritisation of underrepresented black and female employees for job opportunities. Despite the higher education and labour piece of legislation passed at the inception of democratic South Africa, leaders continue to face employee tensions in implementing the transformation agenda, amidst organisational politics which are always present in every organisation.

2.2.1 Leadership

Leaders are accountable for managing employees at different levels of responsibility and the state of the higher education sector. At the senior level of responsibility, the vice-chancellor provides a vision of the institution on transformation to be reported to the chair of the council who represents the board committee, and the relevant government department of higher education (HEI one, 2022). The vice-chancellor, as the head of the institution, is perceived by employees as having the political skill to support or face resistance towards transformation through decision-making, public statements, and general utterances. The deputy vice-chancellors, who report to the vice-chancellor, develop and implement strategies to transform the teaching, research, and administration of institutions.

Building on respective teaching, research, and administration strategies, the deans, who report to deputy vice-chancellors, operationalise faculty strategies of recruiting diverse employees, decolonising curricula, and procuring black business. I have witnessed the appointment and clarification of some of the institutional positions in terms of employment equity requirements. The heads of schools and departments, who report to deans, devise and implement plans for transformation by attracting and enrolling diverse students, enrolling different postgraduate students, and appointing underrepresented academic employees amid potential tensions associated with change.

The diversity of leadership at different levels of responsibility has created tensions between leaders, who may have political skill to support or be against the transformation of higher education institutions. For instance, a former deputy vice-chancellor used political skill to influence the appointment of a black African dean to a senior leadership position for transformation, and the dean committed suicide at a university in Cape Town (Henderson, 2017; Mazizi, 2022; Nhlapo, et al., 2020). The black African dean's appointment took place around the time of heightened calls for decolonisation and transformation by student formations, particularly the Fallist movements. Similarly, after the appointment of a black female vice-chancellor, the quality of qualifications was probed at a university in Pretoria. Such institutional examples highlight tensions that arise when leaders attempt to transform higher education institutions.

Transformation challenges persisted in higher education institutions. A former vice-chancellor of a university in KwaZulu-Natal faced resistance from senate members, which is the highest decision-making body, over accusations of racism and transformation resulting in the resignations of academic employees. As mentioned earlier, transformation tensions surfaced when many senior executive leaders resigned after a white male vice-chancellor was appointed at a university in KwaZulu-Natal (Mail and guardian, 2017; McKune, 2009) with accusations of political interference by the former Minister of Higher Education. The white male vice-chancellor did not complete the term of appointment amid persistent employee resistance. In both cases, the race and gender similarities and differences in the social identity of the vice-chancellor and academic employees influenced perceptions and reactions towards workplace politics and the state of institutional transformation.

Transformation tensions have been prevalent throughout the higher education system. A black African vice-chancellor blocked Indian employees from job opportunities in preference for black Africans at a University in KwaZulu-Natal, raising tensions about language discrimination (Bawa, 2017). In addition, an African foreign national professor who was a dean was gunned down after blowing the whistle on doctorates for pay at a university in KwaZulu-Natal, raising questions about xenophobia and workplace politics. Both examples underscore the volatility that emerged between leaders who use political skill to influence employees by implementing the transformation of higher education institutions in post-apartheid South Africa.

Leaders have faced volatile interactions with academic employees and student formations in KwaZulu-Natal, amid calls for transformation. Volatile engagements pressurised leaders to transform higher education by taking into account employee perceptions and reactions towards transformation (Bawa, 2017; DHET, 2019; Johnson, 2016). I have witnessed leaders who possess or lack the political skill to navigate debates about transforming academic employee social groups to become more diverse, or maintain the dominance of minority social groups at the expense of the transformation agenda, amid possible workplace political tensions, well-being, and career outcomes.

Higher education institutions that drive transformation are perceived as politicised. Leaders are seen as implementing transformation for self-serving needs by employing academic employees who are similar to their leader. Yet, transformation should not compromise the quality of teaching, research, and infrastructure by appointing those who are perceived to be in proximity to the leadership. Despite calls to employ diverse academic employees for transformation, the South African government promotes non-racialism and non-sexism, where

the country belongs to all who live in it. The government's stance gives rise to questions about the role of leaders in using political skill to influence diverse academic employees during the tensions that are associated with the transformation of an organisation.

2.2.2 Academic employees

Academic employees have faced pressure to teach large classes of underprepared students, conduct high-impact research regularly, process high loads of administrative tasks, and engage with communities with needs in democratic South Africa's higher education sector. As higher education institutions transformed, academic employees taught underprepared students with limited resources which compromises high-quality learning outcomes (Jansen, 2003). The massification of higher education as a result of increasing demand for access to higher education has driven the migration of black students from poorly resourced former black institutions, to well-resourced former white institutions, which further increased the teaching and research workloads of academic employees.

A low number of black postgraduate students who complete doctorates has led to a shortage of black academic employees throughout the higher education sector. Extending this premise, I have observed black undergraduate students who were under pressure to seek employment rather than pursue postgraduate education, which reduces the number of potential black postgraduate students, particularly for master's and doctorates (DHET, 2019), to develop the next generation of black professoriate. It usually takes a long time to develop a highly-rated professoriate in the higher education sector. Higher education institutions have been unable to compete with the private sector on compensation to retain emerging black academic employees.

A shortage of black and female academic employees has led to the sourcing of academics from the African continent. I have observed calls that were made to recruit African nationals as a scarce skill resource to address the shortage of black African and female academics (DHET, 2019). Even though black and female South Africans who were in exile and studied abroad due to the political system of apartheid, were requested to return at the dawn of democracy, it was challenging to meet the demand for teaching, research, and management positions throughout the higher education sector. Despite colonialism, the rest of Africa had not experienced similar transformation tensions that South Africa faces, exemplified by recent looting in the province of KwaZulu-Natal highlighting xenophobic tensions. Table 2.1 shows key literature references used to examine the workplace political tensions on the next page.

Table 2.1: Key concepts and references

References
Blickle, Kuckelhaus, Kranefeld, Genau, Gansen-Ammann & Wihler, 2020
Fedor, Masyln, Farmer & Bettenhausen, 2008
Ferris, Ellen III, McAllister & Maher, 2019
Ferris, Treadway, Kolodinsky, Hochwarter, Kacmar, Douglas & Frink 2005
Grosser, Obstfeld, Choi, Woehler, Lopez-Kidwell, Lablanca & Borgatti, 2018
Munyon, Frieder, Satamino, Carnes, Bolander & Ferris, 2020
Nkomo, Bell, Roberts, Joshi, Thatcher, 2019
Summers, Munyon, Brouer, Pahng & Ferris, 2020
Treadway, Ferris, Douglas, Hochwarter, Kacmar, & Ammeter, 2004
Abrams, Lalot & Hogg, 2021 Arnett, R.D. 2023 Brown, 2020
Charles & Nkomo, 2012
Haslam, Gaffney, Hogg, Rast & Steffens, 2022
Hogg, 2001
Hogg & Terry, 2000
Hogg, Terry & White, 1995 Nkomo & Hoobler, 2014
O'Reiley & Pfeffer, 2021
Falbe & Yulk, 1991 Ferris, Treadway, Perrewe, Brouer, Douglas & Lux, 2007
Good & Schwepker, 2022
Frieder, Ferris, Perrewe, Wihler & Brooks, 2019
Mell, Dechurch, Leenders & Contractor, 2020
Ferris & Judge, 1991
Lu, Bartol, Venkataranami, Zheng & Liu, 2019
McAllister, Ellen III & Ferris, 2018
Treadway, Ferris, Douglas, Hochwarter, Kacmar & Ammeter, 2004 Ferris, Treadway, Perrewe, Brouer, Douglas, & Lux, 2007 Hochwarter Rosen, Jordan, Ferris, Ejaz, & Maher, 2020 Munyon, Frieder, Satamino, Carnes, Bolander, & Ferris, 2020 Wagner III, 1995 Shapiro, Novelli & Kirkman, 2001

The event sparked debates about African nationals in the higher education sector. Academic employees perceived leaders who exclude African nationals from job opportunities as xenophobic, contrary to leaders who support the employment of African nationals for internationalisation (HEI one, 2022; Jansen, 2022). Tensions arose about whether African nationals are still viewed as a scarce resource many years after the implementation of transformation, or whether academic employees who are South African ought to be prioritised for job creation in the higher education sector. I have witnessed debates about nationality and language similarities and differences, highlighting robust social interactions between academic employees and leaders for teaching, learning, and administration of institutions.

Tensions arose between Indian and Zulu people regarding language identity and belonging in the province of KwaZulu-Natal. I have witnessed rising calls to use the isiZulu language for teaching students and conducting research in higher education institutions located in the KwaZulu-Natal (HEI two, 2022). Non-isiZulu speaking academic employees felt excluded from participating in isiZulu-based teaching, research, and administration of higher education. Non-isiZulu speakers further experience internal tensions about communicating socially using personal home language and fitting in by assimilating into the isiZulu language culture to achieve a sense of belonging.

While language translation activities can be provided, language choices as a tool for transformation cause tensions in the workplace. I have witnessed language debates that have created robust disagreement about leaders who are perceived as supporting language transformation and leaders against language transformation (USAF, 2023). Language debates highlight the challenges of implementing the transformation of academic language to be used by leaders when influencing academic employees for diversity.

The differences in the identity of a leader and academic employees require mechanisms of leaders to influence employees' perceptions and reactions through political skill. The study examines a leader who exercises political skill to influence employees if the leader has a different social identity from the employee, particularly during the transformation of an organisation. Even though public higher education has been used as a primary backdrop in the study to illustrate transformation tensions, leaders continue to grapple with using political influence on employees who are different from leaders during the transformation of private organisations.

2.3 Political influence theory

I adopt political influence as a theoretical lens to conduct the research. Political influence theory draws from mid-range organisational politics, which argues that organisations are made of irrational leaders who use power to influence employees in political arenas. In turn, organisational politics theory emerges from the classic organisational theory (Ferris & Judge, 1991; Mintzberg, 1985; Weber, 1947), which understands organisations to be made up of rational leaders who create bureaucratic systems for conducting work tasks. Situated in respective organisational and organisational politics theories, political influence entry-level theory presents a set of assumptions about organisations.

Political influence theory assumes that power politics always exist in every organisation. The theory further assumes that organisations have irrational individuals with differing interests and compete for access to limited resources. The theoretical assumptions are foundational to leaders who use manipulation to influence employees with differing interests, for personal gain (Ferris & Judge, 1991). Alternatively, leaders can collaborate with employees with diverse interests to benefit the organisation. While leaders have used political skill to influence employees who share a similar social identity to the leader, extant literature has under researched leaders who exercise political skill to influence employees with a different social identity from the leader.

2.4 Political skill and social identity

The political skill and social identity perspective is proposed as an extension of political influence theory. Social identity suggests an intervening aspect for leader political skill and leader political influence (*manipulation and collaboration*) from an employee perspective. In addition, social identity is proposed as an intervening aspect for the leader's political influence (*manipulation and collaboration*), and employee reactions (*resistance and cooperation*) from an employee perspective. Employees are more likely to perceive a leader who uses political skill to manipulate employees if a leader is different from employees. Employees are meanwhile more likely to show resistance against a leader who is viewed as adopting political skill to manipulate employees if the leader is different from the employees. In contrast, employees perceive a leader as exercising political skill to collaborate with employees, if the leader and employees are similar. Employees may cooperate with a leader who uses political skill to collaborate with employees if the leader and employees are similar.

2.4.1. Employee-perceived leader political skill

Employee-perceived leader political skill is a unidimensional concept characterised by "social astuteness, interpersonal influence, networking ability, and apparent sincerity" (Ferris et al., 2005;126). Ferris, et al., (2007:p.292) defines political skill as "the ability to effectively understand others at work, to use such knowledge to act in ways that enhance one's personal and/or organizational objectives". A leader who uses political skill makes an employee feel comfortable at work, builds relationships with influential people at work, and senses an employee's hidden agenda (Ahearn et al., 2004; Blickle, Kuckelhaus, Kranefeld, Schutte, Genau, Gansen-Ammann & Wihler, 2020; Frieder, Ellen III & Kapoutsis, 2023; Pan et al., 2019). Employees perceive politically skilled leaders as self-aware when communicating with employees, adapting to organisational settings, negotiating beneficial alliances, and showing genuine interest in employees. Leaders use political skill to influence social interactions for desirable employee outcomes in pursuit of personal and organisational benefits.

Employees perceive a leader who lacks political skill as overlooking self-awareness, the ability to build beneficial networks at work, and seeming sincere towards employees. Munyon et al. (2015) and Summers, Munyon, Brouer, Pahng, and Ferris (2020) agree that a leader who lacks political skill sees detrimental outcomes for employees when the leader is unable to influence power dynamics in the organisation's political arena, considering limited resources. Munyon et al. (2015) take into account that employees depend on the leader to access limited organisational resources and opportunities, as a leader who lacks political skill is overlooked for few opportunities useful to employees. Leaders who lack political skill, since it is not only a trait, but rather a competence, develop it through training and development, coaching, and workplace support.

2.4.2. Employee-perceived social identity

The social identity perspective assumes that a leader is a member of a social group based on the derived satisfaction, that can be perceived by employees. Leaders leave when no longer satisfied with membership of the social group, unless objective, value-related reasons exist to maintain membership (Brown, 2019; Brown & Jaciby-Senghor, 2021; Hogg et al., 19956; Mell et al., 2020; Tajfel, 1978). Leaders decide to reframe undesirable aspects or take social action to change members of the social group. Assumptions and measurement of social identity recognise multiple social groups to which a leader belongs, based on social categorisation, and a comparison of race, gender, nationality, and language aspects.

Social identity acknowledges the multiplicity of identities residing in leaders and employees. Identities are categorised to race, gender, nationality, and language of the leader and employee. In addition, identity categories exist simultaneously within and across leaders and employees, affecting how leaders interact with employees (Booysen, 2018; Carrim & Nkomo, 2016; Ramarajan, 2014). The salience of the category of the identity of a leader's prototypicality and employee is affected by the hierarchy given to the identity (Haslam & Reicher, 2006). The salient identity positions of a leader or employee cause internal conflict where the salient positions are prioritised. However, if multiple salient identities are in a similar position, internal conflicts of identity are magnified (Roberts & Creary, 2012). Since the categories of social identity exist within and across leaders and employees, the context becomes important to examine influence in the workplace.

The prototypical leadership is affected by the context of the interaction between the leader and employee in the workplace (Ullrich, Christ & Dick, 2009). The prototypicality of a leader depends on the social group a leader compares to in different contexts (Bednar & Brown, 2024). In situations where leaders have been socialised to belong to similar groups based on characteristics, leaders face tensions when dealing with employees who do not belong to the leader's prototypical group (Giessner, van Knippenberg, van Ginkel & Sleebos, 2013). Therefore, defining leadership identity within a group and context becomes important. The context includes a requirement for differences to be recognised, affirmed, and elevated for diversity, inclusion, and representation in the workplace.

2.4.2.1. Race, gender, nationality, language differences

The differences between a leader and employees can assume race, gender, nationality, and language differences. Race, gender, nationality, and language identity categories are highlighted during the transformation for diversity (Arnett, 2023; Fitzsimmons, et al., 2023; Nkomo, 2021; Powell & Butterfield, 2015). For instance, a leader's and employee's identity is expressed in the primary language involved in communication, as a further expression of a person's multiple social identities. Language differences lead to a comparison of language prominence in workplaces where leaders and employees speak different languages. Employee perceptions about the language of a leader lead to working together for mutually beneficial outcomes, or to tensions in the workplace.

Since leaders and employees have multiple social identities exemplified by different races, nationality and languages, leaders and employees view race, nationality, and language aspects according to social categories and comparisons (Abrams, et al., 2021; Arnett, 2023; Brown, 2019; Hogg, 2001; Nkomo & Hobbler, 2014). For example, based on gender, women who operate from positions of less power than men, due to fewer networks, allies, and mentors may form social groups for a sense of belonging and identity. In addition, women who are more susceptible to social influence than males provide unique insights about leader and employee interactions in the workplace.

2.4.2.2. Race, gender, nationality and language similarities

Contrary to these differences, the effect of similarity occurs in leadership decisions about employees. Leaders and employees belong to an in-group that has similar characteristics that engender togetherness and bring about a sense of belonging (Ferris & Judge, 1991; Hogg, 2001; Reicher, Haslam & Hopkins, 2005). Since social groups reflect a leader's self-image, the similarity between leaders and employees emphasises the commonalities of the profession. Since leaders influence employees who are similar to the leader, employees seek in-groups aligned with leaders for fulfilment and a sense of belonging. In the wake of multiple identities, leaders and employees foreground the social identity category of salience to generate influence in the workplace (Roberts & Creary, 2012).

2.4.3. Employee-perceived leader influence tactics

Employees form perceptions and present reactions towards leaders who use influence tactics on employees for personal gain. The leader withholds important information from employees, overlook deserving employees for opportunities, and withholds resources for advancing an employee's career (Munyon et al., 2019). Employees perceive a leader who uses influence tactics as insincere. The effect of employee perceptions on influence tactics takes into account power dynamics and relational aspects that arise between employees and leaders in the workplace. Leaders exercise tactics to influence employees for the organisation's benefit. Leaders use influence tactics that assist employees and organisations in working together. As a means of encouraging togetherness, leaders promote competent employees, share limited resources with selected employees, and enable access to competitive opportunities (Hochwarter et al., 2020) in the workplace. A leader uses influence tactics to share support with employees for a broader good.

2.4.3.1. Manipulation

Employees perceive a leader who uses manipulation to influence employees as serving personal interests at the expense of the organisation. Manipulative leaders have been found to focus on ingratiating employees and engaging in self-promotion to achieve personal ambitions. Leaders for example act with pointed humility before requesting employees to perform certain job tasks. Perceptions formed about a leader as inflating the importance of requests depend on whether the leader is sincere when manipulating employees (Good & Schwepker, 2022; O'Reilly & Pfeffer, 2021). Manipulation is further enacted when a leader helps an employee with an opportunity and expects the return of favours, pretence around decision-making, and sympathising with the employee, instead of collaborating with the employee. The differences and similarities between the social identity of the leader and employees influence employee perceptions of manipulation from a leader.

2.4.3.2. Collaboration

In contrast to the manipulation of employees, leaders adopt the collaborative approach of working together with them. Collaboration, as understood here, is conceptualised as "the agent offers to provide assistance or necessary resources if the target will carry out the request or approve the proposed change" (Yukl et al., 2008 p. 610). A collaborative leader offers to assist employees, sources the opinions of employees before making decisions, and shares outcomes of working together with employees (Lu, et al., 2019). Furthermore, the collaborative leader offers personal favours to employees, reminds employees about past offerings, and makes requests formally to employees. Employee perceptions towards a collaborative leader highlight nuances about influence tactics based on similarity and employee reactions.

2.4.4 Employee reactions

Employees react in different ways to a leader who uses political skill to influence employees in the workplace. Employees show resistance towards a leader who praises employees excessively, over-sympathises with employee problems, or shows the need for help from employees. On the contrary, employees cooperate with a collaborative leader (Hochwarter, et al., 2020; Shapiro, Novelli & Kirkman, 2001), while exercising political skill to influence them. Whether the employee's reaction is resistance or cooperation depends on the nature of the leader's political skill to manipulate or collaborate with employees, based on differences or similarities between the two.

2.4.4.1 Resistance

Employee resistance can arise from perceptions of the manipulation tactic exercised by the leader to influence employees in the workplace. While the leader is empowered to use underhanded means to influence employees by the power of position and title, employees react to a leader's political skill to influence employees in the workplace. Taken to the extreme, the use of political skill to influence employees can backfire for leaders. The nature of employee resistance to a leader who uses political skill to influence employees involves a refusal to perform instructions, performing at a minimal level, and boycotting the leader through protests and strikes (Ferris, et al., 2019). Employee resistance can be further highlighted by the difference in social identity between a leader who has access to influential networks to support employees, rather than cooperation in the workplace.

2.4.4.2 Cooperation

Employees cooperate with a leader who uses political skill to collaborate with employees in the workplace. Employees show cooperation by exerting personal effort to obey and comply with the requests of the leader to meet job requirements. Employees who cooperate with a leader are consistent with beneficial organisational politics as suggested by Hochwarter et al. (2020). The employee is likely to work together and assist a collaborative leader who uses political skill in pursuit of organisational benefits, rather than personal gain. The extent to which an employee cooperates with a leader relies on a collaborative leader who uses political skill and shares a similar rather than different social identity with employees.

2.5. Employee-perceived leader political skill and employee-perceived social identity

Employee-perceived political skill is characterised by "social astuteness, interpersonal influence, networking ability, and apparent sincerity" components. For example, employees perceive the leader as using social astuteness of awareness and adapting behaviour to suit the social setting of the workplace. Employees view a leader as lacking in interpersonal influence when unable to form beneficial mutual alliances through negotiation and power (Ahearn et al., 2004; Frieder et al., 2019; McAllister et al., 2018; Munyon et al. 2020). Employees further perceive a leader who shows networking ability as authentic and genuine. Furthermore, employees view a leader as having apparent sincerity and showing

understanding towards employees. Employees who perceive leaders as possessing political skill to influence employees are affected by their differences in social identity.

The perceptions of the exercise of political skill are influenced by the difference in the social identity of both a leader and their employee based on nationality, language, gender, and race categories. The difference in social identity assumes that leaders and employees belong to social groups that are unique both between and within groups (Arnett, 2023; Abrams, et al., 2021) based on social categorisation and social comparison. Considering that leaders and employees have multiple social identities in terms of race, nationality, language, or gender differences, women are understood to be in a position of less power due to fewer networks and mentors in the workplace.

Race, gender, nationality, and language constitute areas of heightened focus in the wake of the transformation tensions between leaders and employees in an organisation that is becoming more inclusive, diverse, and equitable. For example, language differences lead to tensions in workplaces if leaders and employees speak different languages (Nkomo, 202; Powell & Butterfield, 2015). The perceptions of the employees about the language of the direct leader can lead to resistance to working together with employees. This is likely to be the case when employees are different from the leader in terms of language as well as race, gender, nationality, and language in the workplace. Therefore, the hypothesis one (HO1) of the study is formulated as follows:

HO1: Employee social identity predicts perceptions of a leader's political skill.

2.6. Employee-perceived leader political skill and employee-perceived leader influence tactics

There are various ways in which leaders demonstrate the use of political skill in influencing employees. Employees perceive a leader's use of political skill to influence employees, as being the result of social awareness and the ability to adapt to social settings. Employees perceive a leader with interpersonal influence as building power blocks for driving the personal and organisational agenda (O'Reilly & Pfeffer, 2021). Employees perceive a leader's political skill as being demonstrated through networking ability to influence employees in the workplace. Employees perceive leaders who have apparent sincerity as showing understanding towards employees. Political skill highlights the social awareness, interpersonal ability, network ability, and apparent sincerity of the leader who influences employees.

Employees perceive leaders who lack political skill as having less influence over employees. Employees form perceptions about a leader who exercises political skill to influence employees. Leaders exercise political skill to influence employees for personal or organisational gain (Sun et al., 2022). The effect of employee perceptions regarding whether leader influence tactics result in desired outcomes depends on power dynamics and positions in the workplace hierarchy. For instance, employees view the politics of a leader at the senior level of the organisation in insightful ways, as competition and power are concentrated when compared to junior leaders with less influence over the organisation and resources.

In contrast, leaders use political skill to influence employees in destructive ways of silencing opposition, pushing employees out of the organisation, and smear campaigns to discredit employees. The dark side of political influence highlights that employees have views about the way in which leaders decide on performance feedback fairly, sharing privileged information with certain employees, and helping employees recover from professional mistakes through cover-ups and defences (Ferris & Judge, 1991). In addition, the destructive side of politics enables leaders to decide on whether employees get promoted to higher positions of influence and share limited resources disproportionately with selected employees if the leader is different in social identity from the employee.

2.6.1. Employee-perceived leader political skill and manipulation influenced by differences

Employees may perceive a leader who uses political skill as manipulative if the leader has a different social identity from that of the employee. Leaders use manipulation of employees to ensure task performance for personal gain. Perceptions formed about whether the leader is using underhanded tactics depend on whether the actions of the leader appear genuine (Ahearn et al., 2004; Arnett, 2023; Blickle, et al., 2020; Frieder et al., 2019; Good & Schwepker, 2022). Employees perceive a leader who uses manipulation as serving personal interests at the expense of the organisation's benefit. Social identity categories such as race, gender, nationality, and language as social identity differences shape employee perceptions of manipulation from a leader, especially during transformation to become more inclusive and diverse. The differences between the social identity of the leader and employees influence the choice of manipulation. Hence, the study proposes the following hypothesis two (HO2):

HO2: The employee perceives the leader to be exercising political skill to manipulate the employee if a leader is different from the employee.

2.6.2. Employee-perceived leader political skill and collaboration influenced by similarities

Employee-perceived political skill can enable leaders to collaborate with employees if the leader is similar to them. A leader who uses political skill to collaborate with employees adds value to the organisation. Employee perceptions highlight the nature of working together with a leader who uses political skill on employees. The leader who collaborates with employees follows the benefits of adopting political influence on them, in the case of leaders and employees with a similar race, gender, nationality, and language. Employees perceive the collaborative leader as approachable and focused on broader needs employees (Ahearn et al., 2004; Frieder et al., 2019; Hochwarter, et al., 2020). During the transformation of an organisation for inclusion, the perceptions of the exercise of political skill are influenced by the similarity in social identity between the leader and employee. Hypothesis three (HO3) of the study is formulated as follows:

HO2a: The employee perceives the leader to be exercising political skill to collaborate with the employee if the employee is similar to the leader.

2.7 Employee-perceived leader influence tactics and employee reactions

Employees react to a leader who uses influence tactics on employees in the workplace. The use of leader influence tactics on employees serves either to advance personal gain, (Sun et al., 2022) or to benefit the organisation in some way. Regardless of the influence tactic adopted, leaders administer resources, decide on the allocation of opportunities, and support employees who perform job tasks, which draws reactions from employees (Hochwarter, et al., 2020; Shapiro, et al., 2001) in the workplace. Employee reactions to a leader's tactics of influence take into account the role, authority, and power of a leader to direct employee operational work and future opportunities with career outcomes. Therefore, leaders exercise influence tactics on employees' reactions to benefit the organisation's direction, rather than for personal gain, or selfish reasons.

2.7.1. Employee resistance towards a perceived manipulative leader influenced by differences

Employees perceive a leader who uses manipulation as self-serving. Manipulative leaders have been found to focus on meeting personal ambitions using destructive means at the expense of an organisation. Leaders, for example, as previously mentioned, show pointed humility before a request to an employee, make an employee feel good before a request, or act politely to get employees to perform job tasks. The employee perceptions about whether or not the leader is manipulative depend on whether the actions of the leader appear authentic (Good & Schwepker, 2022; O'Reilly & Pfeffer, 2021). If the leader is overly complimentary of the employee before asking the employee to perform the task, this might be viewed as manipulative. The difference between the identity of the leader and the employee influences mechanisms of manipulation within the organisation.

As a response to manipulation from the leader, if the leader has a different social identity based on race, gender, nationality, and language from the employee, they may not only notice but resist it. Based on nationality differences, tensions arise where leaders and employees are from different nationalities. The perceptions of the employee about the nationality of the leader create misunderstandings or working together (Ferris, et al., 2019; Nkomo, 2021). Employee resistance ignores leader instructions, refuses to undertake job tasks, and shows defiance against leadership orders. While the leader is empowered to influence employees because of authority and position, employees adapt responses along with perceptions and expectations from a leader who manipulates them. Reactions of employees to manipulation from leaders are foundational to navigating tensions during the transformation of an organisation for diversity. Hypothesis three (HO3) is:

HO3: The employee shows resistance against a manipulative leader if the employee is different from the leader.

2.7.2. Employee cooperation with perceived collaborative leader influenced by similarities

Employees perceive a leader who uses influence as a collaborative tactic. Collaborative leaders are viewed as using influence on employees to benefit the organisation, rather than for personal gain. A collaborative leader builds mutually beneficial alliances and seeks consensus, as well as is open to ideas to ensure work gets done by employees. In this regard, the politics of the leader are viewed as positive and necessary for the workplace with diverse interests and limited resources (Wagner III, 1995). Employees react towards collaborative leaders cooperatively, with the leader adding value to the organisation. As a result of the approach adopted by the leader to collaborate with employees, employees may cooperate with the leader if the leader has a similar race, gender, nationality, and language.

Collaborative leaders work together with cooperative employees. The level of cooperation is affected by whether the social identity of the leader and employee is similar based on race, gender, nationality, and language (Ferris & Judge, 1991). Scholars have found that the collaborative leader builds alliances with employees similar to the leader based on shared assumptions and interpretation of common interests. For example, the leader gives higher scores to the applicant for a job, a high-performance rating, and overlooks discretions of employees similar to the leader. Hypothesis three A (HO3a) is formulated as follows:

HO3a: Employee cooperates with a collaborative leader if the employee is similar to the leader.

2.8. Employee-perceived leader political skill, employee-perceived leader influence tactics, and employee reactions, influenced by employee-perceive social identity

Employee forms perceptions towards a leader who exercises political skill in influencing employees if the leader has a different social identity. Leaders who are perceived as using political skill show "social astuteness, interpersonal influence, networking ability, and apparent sincerity" components (Ferris et al., 2005:126). Yet, the perceptions of the adoption of political skill may be influenced by the difference in the social identity of the leader and employee when it comes to race, gender, nationality, and language. For example, if the leader is black, and the employee is white, white employees may perceive the application of political skill on the part of a black leader in nuanced ways. In contrast, if the leader and employee share a similar

race identity, social interactions may be unique, especially during the transformation of the organisation to become more inclusive and diverse.

Employees have views about a leader who uses tactics to influence employees in the workplace. The outcome of employee perceptions on whether influence tactics are effective depends on the power dynamics, the sincerity of the leader, as well as on the nature of the requests between the employee and the leader. Leaders use political skill to influence employees to serve personal interests by limiting an employee's access to support and opportunities (Ferris & Judge, 1991; Good & Schwepker, 2022; McAllister et al., 2018; Munyon et al., 2020; Sun et al., 2022). A leader provides support based on the difference in social identity between leader and employee based on race, gender, nationality, and language. These influence tactics involve the manipulation of employees by the leader who navigates tensions that arise during the transformation of the organisation to become more diverse and inclusive.

Employees perceive a leader who differs from them as using manipulation to influence employees serving personal interests, seeking promotions, and power to control resources at the expense of the organisation. Manipulative leaders are self-centred and use underhanded ways of dealing with employees, and employ destructive ways of exposing their opponents. For instance, leaders ingratiate employees through excessive compliments, being overly polite, and using impression management to ensure that employees perform job-related tasks (Blickle, et al., 2020; Good & Schwepker, 2022; O'Reilly & Pfeffer, 2021). The employee perceptions of a manipulative leader depend on whether the leader's actions appear genuine and sincere, particularly over time. The difference between the identity of the leader and the employee further affects perceptions of manipulation. Differences in race, gender, nationality, and language are heightened during transformation tensions that arise for diversity.

As a response to a leader's manipulation, employees may demonstrate resistance towards a manipulative leader who utilises political skill. Employee resistance highlights unease with a leader who deploys underhanded means to get work done in the workplace. The strength of employee resistance involves the refusal of leader instructions, performing tasks to a minimum acceptable degree, and outright boycotting or undertaking a labour strike against a manipulative leader (Arnett, 2023; Ferris, et al., 2019; Nkomo et al., 2019). The reactions of employees to political influence from a leader who uses political skill are critical to mitigating transformation tensions of deciding between in-groups and out-groups categorised according to race, gender, nationality, and language. Differences determine the difference between resistance and collaboration, particularly in the transformation of organisations.

A leader who employs political skill to influence employees benefits the organisation through collaboration if the leader has a similar social identity as that of the employee. Employee perceptions about collaboration with a leader who uses political skill to leverage influence extend understanding of influence tactics during the transformation of an organisation. A leader who uses collaboration to influence employees shows an ability to build coalitions with diverse interests, accepting that leaders and employees are irrational and resources are limited (Ferris & Judge, 2001; Hochwarter, et al., 2020). Employees perceive collaborative leaders as resourceful, connected to influential networks, and therefore able to offer help to employees. The exercise of the leader's political skill to collaborate with employees provides insight into employee reactions towards transformation for diversity.

Employees decide to cooperate with a leader who uses political skill to influence them. Cooperation refers to employees who choose to work together with the leader to benefit the organisation. Leaders choose to work with employees to get work done through cooperation, rather than by forcing employees to perform, particularly during transformation where – as is the case in almost every corner of South Africa – as previously divided people face integration (Fitzsimmons, et al., 2023; Hochwarter et al., 2020; Nkomo, 2021; Wagner III, 1995).

Cooperation occurs when the leader is perceived by employees as using political influence by supporting employees, offering exchanges to employees, and reminding employees about previous favours. Therefore, this study examines whether employees are more likely to view a leader who uses political skill as manipulative if the leader differs from employees. However, a leader may be viewed as adopting political skill to collaborate with employees if the leader proves themselves to be similar to the employees. Table 2.2 on the next page, shows the political skill and social identity hypotheses of the study.

Table 2.2: Political skill and social identity hypotheses

Hypotheses

HO1: Employee social identity predicts the perceptions of a leader political skill.

HO2: The employee perceives the leader to be using political skill to manipulate the employee if a leader is different from the employee.

HO2a: The employee perceives the leader to be exercising political skill to collaborate with the employee if the employee is similar to the leader.

HO3: The employee shows resistance against a manipulative leader if the employee is different from the leader.

HO3a: The employee cooperates with a collaborative leader if the employee is similar to the leader.

2.9. Literature review summary

The literature review discussed leaders who exercised political skill to influence employees who were different from the leader, especially during the transformation of an organisation to become more diverse, inclusive, and equitable. While political influence has been used to study leader political skill on employees who are similar to themselves, little is known about leaders who exercise political skill to influence employees that differ from themselves. In particular, the study examines whether social identity and race, gender, nationality, as well as language differences contribute to employee perceptions of a leader who uses political skill. Employees may perceive a leader who exercises political skill as manipulative if that leader differs from the employees. Employees are likely to show resistance against a leader who uses political skill to manipulate employees if they fundamentally differ. In contrast, employees are likely to view a leader who exercises political skill as collaborative if they share fundamental similarities. The next chapter explains the research methodology and design for the study.

Chapter three: Research design and methodology

3.1. Introduction

The previous chapter proposed a political skill and social identity model as well as hypotheses for testing. The study examines whether employees are likely to perceive a leader who exercises political skill to influence employees as manipulative if the leader is different from the employees. By contrast, employees may view a leader who uses political skill to influence employees as collaborative if the leader is similar to employees. The main research question is: "What is the influence of social identity on the exercise of a leader's political skill". To answer the research question in this chapter, I described the positivist paradigm underpinning the research design. I obtained survey data from employees who report to direct managers in organisations. I analysed data to test the hypotheses of the suggested political skill and social identity model.

3.2. Positivist paradigm

I located myself in a positivist paradigm to conduct the research. Positivism purports that knowledge was measured objectively and value-free, as was the case in the study. I adopted a positivist stance as a philosophical lens, by means of which to collect and analyse data on employee perceptions of a leader who exercised political skill to influence employees with a different social identity from the leader. Underpinning the positivist philosophical lens adopted, an ontological anchor assumes that knowledge production was to be found in the real world (Aristotle, 2022). In a bid to draw from the positivist ontological foundation, I separated myself from the data, to allow data to highlight relationships between employee-perceived leader political skill, employee-perceived social identity, employee-perceived leader influence tactics (manipulation, collaboration) and employee reactions (resistance, cooperation).

Even though a researcher exists in the real world and is exposed to conditions that shape my world outlook, the explanatory research design I chose was situated in a positivist realm of philosophy. As a researcher, I assumed knowledge to be rooted in the epistemological foundation of objective stance, as an approach (Bryman, 2006) to examine employee perceptions of a leader who exercised political skill to influence employees who are different from them. The epistemological foundation and axiological nature of the study were such that I employed a research design intending to use measures that obtain statistical results, in pursuit of the truth. I recognised that the study I conducted was a singular version of the truth.

A positivist paradigm was chosen as a philosophical lens to shape the explanatory research design of the study to deepen the political influence theoretical assumptions of irrational individuals. The positivist paradigm was situated at the nexus between an ontological stance of objectivity as truth, where the epistemological foundation and axiological position indicated that data was value-free (Aristotle, 2022; Bryman, 2006). I adopted a positivist view of a positivist paradigm that permitted an approach that assumed knowledge to be observable using measures to obtain statistical data, even within management sciences. The data obtained from the research was anchored in a positivist paradigm as a meta-theoretical foundation that underpins the selected explanatory research design and methodology by means of which to pursue knowledge production on political skill and social identity.

3.3. Explanatory research design

Table 3.1: Explanatory research design

Research paradigm	Research design	Research type
Positivism	Nomothetic	Quantitative
Value-free	Explanatory	Non-experimental
Objective	Deductive	Cross-sectional
Statistics		Survey

The study followed a nomothetic explanatory research design as depicted in Table 3.1 above. The design was appropriate to test the levels of variance between the employee-perceived leader's political skill as an independent variable, the employee-perceived leader's political influence tactics (*manipulation and collaboration*) as a dependent variable, as well as employee reactions (*resistance and cooperation*) as an outcome variable. In addition, employee-perceived social identity was a moderator variable of the proposed relationships between the aforementioned variables. The nomothetic explanatory research design I chose was relevant for conducting the study, where theoretical constructs of interest emerged from the reviewed literature (Ferris, et al., 2018; Nkomo et al., 2019). I was aware of the limitations of using a nomothetic explanatory research design, due to the partial explanation of relationships between constructs of interest as depicted in Table 3.2 on the next page.

Table 3.2: Questionnaire variables

Independent variable	Moderating	Dependant	Outcome
	variable	variable	variable
Employee-perceived leader political skill	Employee-perceived social identity	Employee-perceived leader influence tactics manipulation collaboration	Employee reactions resistance cooperation

The explanatory research design was deductive, with academic employees as respondents from selected public higher education institutions located in South Africa. A deductive research approach was appropriate for the study, where respective political influence and social identity theories were well-developed, rather than nascent (Ferris & Judge, 2001; Shepherd & Suddaby, 2016). I tested the theoretical constructs of interest to establish whether hypothetical relationships existed between employee reactions towards a leader who applied political skill to manipulate employees if a leader is different from employees. Therefore, underpinning a cross-sectional study to test the proposed political skill and social identity in a different conceptual model took a deductive approach.

3.3.1. Cross-sectional study

Since the study concerned employee perceptions of a leader who exercised political skill to manipulate employees, if a leader was different from employees, I selected non-experimental cross-sectional research as the most appropriate to conduct the research. In contrast to manipulation, a leader could use political skill to collaborate with similar employees based on race, gender, nationality, and language social categories. Cross-sectional studies gave a snapshot of the phenomena of interest. Even though limitations existed in producing causal outcomes for the research, I chose a non-experimental cross-sectional approach to test relationships between constructs of interest that comprise the proposed political skill and social identity model.

Cross-sectional studies were widely conducted in political skill research on relationships between leaders and employees in the workplace (Kacmar et al., 2011; Maher, et al., 2020; McFarland et al. 2012; Rindfleisch, Malter, Ganesan & Moorman, 2008). The research drew from and built on previous studies from the reviewed literature on cross-sectional design and measures within political skill scholarship. The refined existing data collection measures were validated and tested for reliability. To extend the understanding of the generalisability of findings from research sites, a cross-sectional study was used to examine a leader who applied political skill to influence employees of a different race, gender, nationality, and language in the leader at research sites.

3.4. Research sites

I chose two public higher education institutions as research sites located in the seaside province of KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. Both research sites had employees who were categorised according to race and language social groups during apartheid. At the dawn of democracy, both research sites that were divided along race and language identity aspects underwent mergers to integrate employees and leaders, which caused social interaction tensions due to the transformation to become diverse and inclusive (DHET, 2022). As a researcher employed at one of the research sites, I was witness to transformation tensions between leaders and employees based on race, gender, nationality, and language identity dimensions.

The research sites faced transformation tensions, where leaders were perceived as purging academic employees who were different from leaders on race group, in preference for race groups similar to leaders raising concerns about whether leaders used political skill to influence employees (Johnson, 2016; Mail and guardian, 2017). For instance, at one research site, many senior black executives resigned in reaction to the appointment of a white vice-chancellor, which was perceived as anti-transformation and political, with further concerns about non-South African nationals in higher education institutions.

Xenophobic tensions based on nationality differences arose between academic employees who interacted with leaders about the appointment of foreign nationals who identified as African, who were perceived as taking South African jobs. Xenophobia concerns emerged in the wake of recent KwaZulu-Natal regional tensions between South Africans and non-South African foreign nationals, leading to academic employees and leader social interaction tensions. I witnessed a recent meeting that brought academics and leaders together to engage

in looting and social unrest between South Africans and non-South Africans in KwaZulu-Natal, further creating tensions in higher education institutions. A leader who supported transformation was viewed by academic employees as xenophobic against foreign nationals who identified as African and spoke a different home language, contrary to an anti-transformation leader who was viewed as internationalising the institution.

Language tensions in KwaZulu-Natal over job opportunities existed between social interactions of academic employees and leaders who identified isiZulu as a home language against non-isiZulu speaking employees dominated by Indian people who spoke English. A leader perceived as supporting transformation was viewed as prioritising isiZulu-speaking employees for job positions, as isiZulu-speaking employees constitute a majority population in the province of KwaZulu-Natal.

In contrast, a leader viewed as anti-transformation were perceived as prioritising non-isiZulu speaking employees for employment opportunities, even though non-isiZulu speaking employees are a minority in KwaZulu-Natal Province. Regardless of the language differences and tensions, employees formed perceptions and react towards a leader's influential position on language and gender during the transformation of an organisation.

Gender representation was high at the senior executive level, with less representation throughout higher education institutions. However, two senior black executives who identified as female resigned despite many years of experience with the same institution. Resignations created instability at the senior level, with the loss of institutional memory and expertise that held implications for political dynamics with employees. Gender differences between senior executives and academic employees resulted in social interaction tensions that led to resignations. Hence, the retention of senior executives would have maintained gender differences in senior key positions necessary for gender transformation. There were tensions along race, gender, nationality, and language dimensions, pitting leaders for or against one another based on the level of analysis of public higher education institutions during the transformation for diversity.

3.4.1. Organisational level of analysis

The level of analysis for the study is the organisation made up of two respective public higher education institutions located in the province of KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. The first public higher education institution was a traditional university that underwent a merger to integrate institutions that were categorised according to race. Higher education institution one was a research-intensive traditional university with five campuses and several schools and colleges across two cities in KwaZulu-Natal Province. The institution has faced transformation challenges between leaders and academic employees.

The second public higher education institution is a university of technology with a primary focus on vocational learning. The institution underwent a merger to integrate two institutions that were formally divided according to race lines amid transformation tensions. Higher education institution two was a university of technology made up of six campuses as well as various faculties and departments across two cities in KwaZulu-Natal. Both institutions of higher learning were sites for collecting data from the target population of the study.

3.5. Target population

The target population comprised relationships between each academic employee who reported to respective direct managers at two public higher education institutions located in KwaZulu-Natal. In higher education institution one, there were 1198 academic employees, and in higher education two, there were 827 academic employees at the time that the study was conducted, which tallied to (N = 2025) 2025 academic employees (HEI one, 2022; HEI two, 2022). The target population was categorised according to race, gender, language, and nationality of academic employees at both higher education institutions, in preparation for sampling.

3.5.1. Census sample

I used a census sampling technique to invite respondents to participate in an online survey. The G-power software recommended about a 160 (n=160) sample size for a population of around 2000 targeted respondents. The response rate for online surveys usually yielded between 10% to 20% of the target population. The online survey anticipated about 160 responses, which was about 10% of the 2025 target population, from both higher education

institutions as research sites. The sample was categorised by race, gender, language, and nationality of academic employees and relationships with direct managers.

Academic employees constituted a core staff function of higher education institutions. Job positions of academic employees were typically titled junior lecturer to full professor. Beyond teaching students, academic employees who reported to direct managers were expected to conduct research, perform administrative duties, and engage with communities (HEI one, 2022; HEI two, 2022). Academic employees reported to direct managers who provided direction for job tasks. Direct managers typically held positions of Head of Department to Vice-Chancellor. The direct manager's position indicated a level of power to influence the transformation of language at a higher education institution.

Heads of schools and departments as well as academic leaders, who reported to the dean, influenced academic employees who spoke similar and different languages. Appointing and influencing academic employees who spoke similar and different languages was operationalised by the headship of the higher education institution. For instance, I heard employees referring to heads of departments based on the ability to speak isiZulu fluently in the province of KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. Academic employees were perceived to be either in support of or against transformation based on personal language usage.

Deans of faculties and schools, who reported to deputy vice-chancellors, developed faculty strategies to recruit and retain heads of departments from different and similar social groups. The deans, which included deputy deans, and headships, were dominated by African foreign nationals in technology and natural sciences (HEI one, 2022). Deputy vice-chancellors, who reported to the vice-chancellor, devised institution-wide strategies to influence transformation across respective teaching, learning, research, and administration ambits. The number of African female South African researchers appointed as deputy vice-chancellors and deans reflected the lack of transformation that existed in research outputs, national research foundation rating, and membership in the academy of sciences.

The vice-chancellor, who was the chief executive officer, provided a vision of the transformation of a higher education institution. Transformation progress was reported to the chair of the university council and members who form the board, as well as government higher education and labour departments (DHET, 2022). Both vice-chancellors at research sites of the study were perceived as supportive of, or against transformation based on academic employee perceptions of leader social groups. I have witnessed academic employees who avoided speaking publicly about transformation to vice-chancellors and deputies for fear of

reprisal, hence, in this study, respective respondents as a unit of analysis were invited to participate anonymously and confidentially in the online survey.

3.5.2. Individual unit of analysis

I conducted a study among individual academic employees as units of analysis from a junior lecturer, lecturer, senior lecturer, associate director, associate professor, director, and full professor. The unit of analysis referred to a matter under study (Babbie, 2021). Director positions are legacy roles associated with universities of technology with a primary focus on vocational training. Therefore, the unit of analysis involved the respective individual academic employees comprising relationships with direct managers at both higher education institution research sites. The academic employees who completed the measuring instrument if they so wished, reported to a direct manager from academic leaders, deputy head of department or school, the head of department or school, deputy dean of faculty and college, dean of faculty and college, deputy vice-chancellors, vice-chancellor, and chair of the council.

3.6. Questionnaire

The questionnaire entailed personal and demographic information of respondents and direct managers respectively to reflect the relationship between leader and employee in the workplace. In addition, the questionnaire covered section two: employee-perceived leader political skill (understanding an employee), and section three: employee-perceived social identity (social group). The questionnaire also covered sections four and five, employee-perceived leader influence tactics (manipulation, collaboration), as well as sections six and seven employee reactions (resistance, cooperation) variables. These are shown in appendix one.

The respondents were invited to participate in the study in the introduction section of the questionnaire. The purpose of the research was clarified as "conducting research on employee perceptions of influence from a leader at your organisation". Informed consent, confidentiality, and anonymity ethics protocols were explained as "Kindly note participation is voluntary and you are under no obligation to consent to participate", in preparation for personal information.

Employee personal information was collected on race, gender, language, nationality, job title, employment type, and experience aspects. Examples of questionnaire statements were "Please choose ONE response to indicate your gender". An option of "prefer not to say" and "other" were added to gender statements, to be considerate of respondents who chose not to state their gender identity. If a respondent chose "other", respondents were given the option to specify the meaning of "other" if they so wished.

Since the study probed the relationship between respondents and direct managers, respondents answered a questionnaire about perceptions of direct manager's personal and demographic information. Questionnaire statement examples were "Please choose ONE response to indicate your direct manager's race", and options given aligned to race categories based on the South African census survey. Relevant questionnaire statements were based on respondent perceptions of a direct manager's (Census, 2022; Evans & Mathur, 2018; Kacmar et al., 2010; Messick, 1995) language, gender, nationality, profession, job title, positions, and experience. Sensitive statements were avoided taking into account the unique research setting of South Africa and its divisive past.

In addition to the demographics section, the questionnaire had six sections namely employee-perceived leader political skill (*understanding an employee*), employee-perceived social identity difference, employee-perceived influence tactics (*manipulation, collaboration*), and employee reactions (*resistance, cooperation*). Existed measuring scales were used and validated in previous research and the study.

3.6.1. Employee-perceived leader political skill

Employee-perceived leader political skill was measured by using the political skill inventory 17-item scale. As a unidimensional construct, employee-perceived leader political skill was based on four aspects namely "social astuteness, interpersonal influence, networking ability, and apparent sincerity" (Ferris et al., 2005:126). For employee-perceived leader political skill measure, the example of a questionnaire statement for social astuteness was "My direct manager always seems to instinctively know the right thing to say to influence me", while interpersonal influence had, "My direct manager gets along with me easily".

Regarding networking ability, the questionnaire statement example was, "My direct manager spends a lot of time networking with me at work", while apparent sincerity had, "My direct manager is sincere when communicating with me". A Likert scale of strongly agree (one), agree (two), neutral (three), disagree (four), and strongly disagree (five) were used in the questionnaire as depicted in table 3.3, followed by employee-perceived social identity difference construct.

Table 3.3: Questionnaire outline

Construct	Questionnaire	Scale
	statement no.	
Employee-perceived leader political skill	17	5 point
Employee-perceived social identity	19	5 point
Employee-perceived leader influence tactics		
manipulation	(11)	5 point
collaboration	(7)	5 point
Employee reactions		
resistance	(7)	5 point
cooperation	(6)	5 point

3.6.2 Employee-perceived social identity

Employee-perceived social identity was measured using an adapted social identity questionnaire developed by Brown and Jacoby-Senghor (2021) building on Luhtanen and Crocker's (1992) measure. The questionnaire had 19 statements including, "I feel that I do not have much to offer to my social group" and "I often feel that my social group is not worthy". Further questionnaire statements examples were, "I belong to a social group that is different from my direct manager's social group" and "My direct manager respects my social group". A Likert scale with a range of strongly agree (one) to strongly disagree (five) was used.

3.6.2.1. Race, gender, nationality, language differences and similarities

The respondents indicated their social groups and perceived differences and similarities with the direct manager's social group. Social identity differences can assume forms of race, gender, nationality, ethnicity, and origin. Differences were based on race, gender, nationality, and language (Arnett, 2023; Constitution; 1996; Hogg, 2001; Nkomo et al., 2019). The study focused on race, gender, nationality, and language in the wake of the transformation of an organisation to become more inclusive and diverse. Since the research setting was sensitive to the formation of social groups in South Africa and its divisive past as well as democratic integrations of social groups, a questionnaire that entailed employee-perceived leader influence tactics was piloted on respondents, who were excluded from the main study.

3.6.3. Employee-perceived leader influence tactics

Employee-perceived leader influence tactics variable was a multidimensional construct comprising *manipulation* and *collaboration* (Good & Schwepker, 2022; Kipnis et al., 1980; Lu et al., 2019) dimensions.

3.6.3.1. Manipulation

The manipulation tactic comprised 11 questionnaire statements. The questionnaire statement examples were, "My direct manager acts humble before making a request to me", "My direct manager makes me feel good before making a request", and "My direct manager waits until I am in a receptive mood before making a request" (Good & Schwepker, 2020). A Likert scale was used with a range of strongly disagree (one) to strongly agree (five), followed by collaboration influence tactic.

3.6.3.2. Collaboration

The questionnaire statements for the *collaboration* tactic had a total of seven statements. The examples of questionnaire statements were, "My direct manager obtains my support to back up a request", "My direct manager offers to help me if I act on a request", as well as "My direct manager offers resources for me to perform a task" (Lu, et al., 2019). A Likert scale had a range of strongly disagree (one) to strongly agree (five) as depicted in the questionnaire, followed by employee reactions.

3.6.4. Employee reactions

Employee reactions were a multidimensional construct comprising *resistance* and *cooperation* (Fedor et al., 2008; Hochwarter et al., 2020) dimensions for the study. The adopted Likert scale had a range of *strongly disagree* (one) to *strongly agree* (five) as depicted in the questionnaire of the study.

3.6.4.1. Resistance

The resistance section of the questionnaire had a total of seven statements. Examples of questionnaire statements were, "I stop working with my direct manager if my direct manager takes advantage of me" and, "I engage in work slowdown if my direct manager takes advantage of me", as well as "My direct manager distorts reasons for making a request to me" (Fedor et al., 2008).

3.6.4.2. Cooperation

The cooperation construct was made up of six questionnaire statements. The questionnaire statement examples were, "I comply with my direct manager's requests" and "I feel eager to work with my direct manager", as well as "I communicate with my direct manager with ease" (Wagner, 1995). The Likert scale used ranged from strongly disagree (one) to strongly agree (five) in preparation for conducting a pilot study of the questionnaire.

3.7. Pilot study

A pilot study was conducted to check the questionnaire on respondents. The invited respondents to participate in the pilot study were academic employees, who were part of a doctoral cohort to improve the completion of doctorates in under-resourced and less research-intensive institutions in South Africa's higher education institutions, supported by the government. I was a member of the doctoral cohort, from which I conducted a pilot study. Following approval of ethical clearance and receiving further permission from the cohort head in August 2022, I invited conveniently sampled respondents to participate in the study via email. There were 29 respondents in total and eight KwaZulu-Natal-based respondents were excluded because the main study was to be conducted in KwaZulu-Natal. Therefore, 21 respondents were invited to participate in the pilot study if they so wished.

The pilot study was conducted over three weeks from 04 September 2022 to 23 September 2022 with reminders sent weekly. The respondents who gave consent and voluntarily participated in the study, checked the clarity, and sensitivity of statements, instructions, and time to complete the draft questionnaire as suggested by Podsakoff, Mckenzie, Lee, and Podsakoff (2003). From 21 invited respondents, 10 responses were received at a 48% response rate. The respondents held positions of lecturer, senior lecturer, head of department, and academic leader. The respondents had a few years of experience in the academic field. The respondent profile was dominated by black African females from diverse languages, such as isiZulu and English, and was based at three universities of technology institutions focused on vocational learning and three traditional research-intensive universities.

Following the pilot study, the respondents suggested minor changes to the questionnaire. For instance, a respondent suggested that the definition of the concept of social group should be clearer. In response to the feedback, the examples of demographic aspects included race, gender, nationality, and language. Furthermore, respondents suggested that two questionnaire statements on "understanding an employee" may benefit from examples, or be reworded for clarity. The two questionnaire statements were subsequently reworded. Few respondents suggested checking the grammar and typos on the questionnaire.

In response to the suggestion about checking the grammar, the questionnaire was edited by a professional language editor. All respondents confirmed that the questionnaire was not excessively long, and was both easy to navigate and understand. The pilot respondents were excluded from participating in the main study. Even though the pilot study was based on a few respondents, nominal data was captured on an MS Excel spreadsheet and Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) to obtain preliminary results. I obtained description statistics, mean, and standard deviation. Patterns emerged from the pilot study, which were instructive for the main data collection of the study.

3.8. Data collection

I received ethical approval from the Gordon Institute of Business Science ethics committee at the University of Pretoria, and gatekeepers' permissions from both research sites between 01 July and 31 August 2022, as attached in appendix C. Following receipt of ethical approval and after conducting the pilot study, I collected data using an online survey of Google forms from the 30 of September 2022. I invited respondents to participate in the study, by placing an invitation on the institutional pinboard at research site one in compliance with the gatekeepers'

permission letter. At research site two, I sent individual invitations to work email addresses of academic employees based on the institutional email list. The respondents were located across several institutional campuses, faculties, and departments throughout cities located in the KwaZulu-Natal province of South Africa.

The purpose of the study was explained on the invitation and ethical protocols of anonymity and confidentiality were guaranteed. Respondents were informed about the study via email invitation and requested to give consent to complete the survey and click on the Google form questionnaire link if they so wished. The cover page of the online survey emphasised ethical protocols and requested consent to participate in the study if they so wished, without reprisal. Respondents who gave consent completed the online survey. Respondents who did not give consent on the first page were directed to the end of the questionnaire. Therefore, the uncompleted questionnaire would be returned blank to reduce the response rate of the study.

To mitigate potential low response rates associated with online surveys, I sent bi-weekly reminder invitations to respondents through institutional pinboards, along with emails to respective research sites, in compliance with the gatekeeper's letter permissions. I observed that the reminder invitations were useful in increasing the response rate when compared to a week in which I did not resend an invitation to potential respondents (Evans & Marthur, 2018). I extended the data collection period from the initial planned eight weeks to sixteen weeks to accommodate more responses. Given the size of the target population, I used a census sample approach to reach many respondents who were academic employees and reported to direct managers, located across several campuses at both research sites.

Few respondents required alternative forms of access to the online questionnaire due to technical glitches. I sent questionnaire invitations to an alternative email address voluntarily provided by respondents upon request. A respondent located at a campus in another city in KwaZulu-Natal required assistance with completing an online questionnaire, and I provided my device for the respondent to use personal login details to complete the online questionnaire. I attended face-to-face meetings of academic employees to invite respondents to participate in the study if they so wished. I sent further invitations to departments with large numbers of academic employees to participate if they so wished. Overall, I received 205 responses after sixteen weeks of data collection from 30 September 2022 to 01 February 2023. One respondent did not give consent to participate in the study and was removed from the dataset. Hence, 204 responses were eventually received in preparation for checking common method bias.

3.8.1 Common method bias

I used a questionnaire to collect data from respondents, which was susceptible to common method bias. I took steps to mitigate common method biases usually associated with cross-sectional studies. The constructs and questionnaire statements that were closely related were placed together to mitigate potential respondent mood changes and response styles. Lindell and Whitney (2001) suggest that the demographic and behavioural statements be placed at the end of the questionnaire. However, the study covered demographic information at the beginning of the questionnaire to establish the demographic information of employees, and the relationship with a direct manager as central to the social identity of respondents, as stated in the introduction of the questionnaire.

As shown in appendix one, the introduction section of the questionnaire simplified the purpose of the study as "examine employee perceptions of influence from a leader at your organisation" to mitigate potential false correlations between constructs by the respondents. In addressing potential social desirability concerns as I was employed at one of the research sites of the study, I reversed questionnaire statements for certain constructs. For example, a questionnaire statement on social identity difference (4.11) was stated in reverse as "I feel that I do not have much to offer to my social group", instead of, "I feel that I have much to offer to my social group". In addition to reversed statements, a few unrelated questionnaire statements were included in constructs such as the resistance construct, where the statement was (7.5) "I get along with my direct manager", instead of excluding the unrelated statement to resistance.

Respondents who completed the questionnaire with enthusiasm at the beginning of data collection could introduce common methods and social desirability biases. To address the potential biases, I sent regular reminder invitations to respondents over the course of sixteen weeks from the 30th of September 2022 to the 01 February 2023, in particular, to invite respondents who may not have had time or who may have had reservations about completing the questionnaire initially. Respondents who complete questionnaires in later stages may introduce nuances that address potential biases (Bowling, Gibson, Houpt & Brower, 2021; Brannick, Conway, Lance & Spector, 2010; Lindell & Whitney, 2001). I reminded potential respondents who had not completed the questionnaire earlier of no obligation to complete the questionnaire and to comply with ethical protocols if they so wished.

I checked preliminary data as to whether responses were spread across job titles, positions, experience, and demographics to address potential common method biases. The last section of the questionnaire on employee reactions (*resistance, cooperation*) could be exposed to distortion of previous extreme responses and reluctant acceptance of statements without protest (Podsakoff et al., 2003). I reviewed responses to check for patterns of extreme responses associated with common method biases. As an employee at one of the research sites, I was aware of potential biases that may arise. Yet, I was trained regarding mechanisms to avoid method biases during the pre-doctoral training I attended and I explained the steps and tests I systematically undertook to minimise potential biases guided by previous studies (Lindell & Whitney, 2001). I used the Harman single test to check for common method bias factors and introduced control variables of the study.

Table 3.4: Control variables

Variable	Description				
Age	Younger (18 - 35 years) vs. older employees (35 + years)				
Job title	Junior (lecturer) vs senior jobs (senior lecturer to full professor)				
Job type	Permanent (full-time employment) vs. temporary employees (on a contract)				
Years of experience	Less experience (five years or less) vs. more experienced employees (six years and above)				
Job position	Less power (Deputy Dean and less) vs. more power (Dean to vice chancellor)				

3.8.2. Control variables

To address alternative explanations of relationships between constructs of the study, I included control variables drawn from previous studies and based on my knowledge of the research setting as well as for the robustness of the results, as tabulated in table 3.4 on the previous page. The study controlled for job title, employment type, years of experience, age, and job position variables which are reflected in the questionnaire as appendix one. Academic employees were typically employed with job titles of junior lecturer to full professor. The job titles of academic employees could affect the nature of perceptions about a leader's social identity. For example, a junior lecturer's view about the vice-chancellor's political skill and identity is unique from a lecturer's perception of a direct head of the department. Therefore, an academic employee with proximity to a leader by job title holds more nuanced perceptions about a leader's political skill than an academic employee at a distance from a leader.

The study further controlled for years of work experience of academic employees as shown in table 3.4. Academic employees who have many years of work experience hold deeper insights when compared to less experienced employees about perceptions of a leader's political skill to influence employees with a different social identity from the leader (Blickle et al., 2020). In addition, with regards to the type of employment, whether the academic employee was permanent or temporary affects perceptions and reactions towards a leader who exercised political skill to influence employees. Leaders are perceived in unique ways by permanent employees with job protections than temporary employees whose contracts are not renewed as well as access to and distribution of resources along the lines of social identity.

The job position indicated the level of seniority of an academic employee within an academic department, faculty, and school in a higher education institution. Academic employees hold a head of department, school, or dean of faculty management position, as well as deputy vice-chancellor and vice-chancellor positions of influence. The job position highlights interesting observations from an academic at the lecturer level about a leader's exercise of political skill to influence employees in the workplace. The age of academic employees influences perceptions about a leader's political skill. A younger academic is less aware of the political dynamics of leadership when compared to a senior academic employee. The control variables of job position, employment type, years of experience, job title, and age were included during data analysis to mitigate alternative explanations of the study.

3.9. Data analysis

Several steps were followed to analyse the data. Data was exported from Google forms onto a Microsoft excel spreadsheet, removing a respondent who did not give consent to participate in the study from the dataset. Questionnaire statements were then coded for the relationship between leader and employee personal information as well as demographic information including the Likert scale responses from strongly agree (one), agree (two), neutral (three), disagree (four), and strongly disagree (five). The coded data of 204 (n=204) responses were loaded onto SPSS computer software to conduct statistical analysis tests.

During the data analysis procedure, the reversed questionnaire statements to reduce common method bias were reworded. For example, a questionnaire statement on social identity difference (4.11) was stated as "I feel that I have much to offer to my social group", instead of a reversed statement of "I feel that I do not have much to offer to my social group". Similarly, unrelated questionnaire statements that were included to minimise common method bias were removed during the data analysis phase. For instance, the statement (7.5) "I get along with my direct manager", was excluded during this phase.

Coded data was loaded onto M-Plus computer software for further statistical tests. During the procedures and in addition to my supervisor, a mathematics and statistics expert provided advice on appropriate statistical tests. The coded data was analysed to obtain the descriptive, analysis of variance (ANOVA), factor analysis, reliability, measurement correlation, moderation, and linear regression using relevant statistical software, as tabulated in table 3.5 on the next page.

3.9.1. Descriptive statistics

Descriptive statistics were obtained to describe the respondent and relationship with the direct manager profiles, along with personal and demographic information as illustrated in table 3.5 on the next page. The profiles entailed the respondent and direct manager's age, race, gender, home language, nationality, job title, employment type, and experience aspects on SPSS computer software. In addition, frequencies (f) and percentages (%) were obtained to exemplify the aspects of interest in preparation for the analysis of variance (ANOVA).

Table 3.5: Data analysis procedures and statistics tests

Statistical analysis	Statistical test
Descriptive	Mean, standard deviation
Normalcy	Kolmogorov-Smirnov
	Shapiro-Wilk
Analysis of variance	Kurtosis and skewness
Common method bias	Harman single factor
Internal consistency	Cronbach's alpha
Construct validity	Factor analysis
Hypotheses test	Linear regression
Moderation	Hayes moderation
	process

3.9.2. Data normality

The normality of data distribution and skewness was checked using Kolmogorov-Smirnov (K-S) and Shapiro-Wilk statistical tests on SPSS as depicted in table 3.5 above. The normalcy of data for the skewness of data using Kurtosis tests for each variable of interest was also tested. Thereafter, the normality scores were obtained at a 95% confidence level, with a 5% margin of error. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov (K-S) and Shapiro-Wilk tests were used to analyse data at a .005 p-value for 95% levels of significance and a 5% margin of error. The mean (\vec{X}) and standard deviation (SD) scores for each construct of interest were obtained. The constructs of interest were employee-perceived leader political skill, employee-perceived social identity, employee-perceived leader influence tactics (manipulation, collaboration), and employee reactions (resistance, cooperation), in preparation for the factor analysis procedure.

3.9.3. Factor analysis

A Harman single test was conducted through an exploratory factor analysis (EFA) procedure on SPSS. A principal axis factoring was performed without rotation to extract factors at level one for the total variance recommended to be less than 50% (Hair, Howard & Nitzl, 2020), which meant less risk of common method bias in the dataset. Furthermore, a confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) was performed to establish construct validity on SPSS. In doing so, questionnaire statement loadings were analysed for each construct, where lower loadings at the recommended 0.6 (Hair, et al., 2020) were removed to improve validity in anticipation of the reliability tests.

3.9.4. Reliability

Cronbach's alpha (α) scores were obtained for each variable to analyse the internal consistency of questionnaire statements of the original construct questionnaire statements. In addition, composite reliability scores were obtained based on the six variables of the study, namely employee-perceived leader political skill, employee-perceived social identity difference, employee-perceived leader influence tactics (*manipulation*, *collaboration*), and employee reactions (*resistance*, *cooperation*). I removed questionnaire statements that did not show high reliability for each variable to measure the model of the study.

3.9.5. Measurement model

The political skill and social identity model argues that employees form perceptions about a leader who exercises political skill to influence employees if a leader has a different social identity from that of employees. In addition, employees react to the influence of a leader based on a leader who has a different social identity from employees. The political skill and social identity model was measured by obtaining measurement fit indices of Satorra-Benter, Chisquare (x2), and degree of freedom (df) using M-Plus statistical analysis software. In addition, measurement fit indices were obtained of Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA), Standardised Root Mean Square Residuals (SRMR), and Tucker Lewi Index (TLI) scores. Finally, the Scaling Correction Factor for MLM and Comparative Fit Indices (CFI) were obtained on M-Plus software before hypotheses (HO) testing for correlation (r) and moderation.

3.9.6. Correlation and moderation

The hypotheses of the study were analysed based on the political skill and social identity model by obtaining Pearson correlations coefficient (r) scores on SPPS. The coefficient (r) scores were conducted at 0.01 p-value at a 95% level of significance with a 5 % margin of error. In addition, the hypotheses (HO) were analysed to obtain the moderating effect of employee-perceived social identity on employee-perceived leader political influence tactics (manipulation, collaboration) and employee reactions (resistance, cooperation), using the Hayes plug (Cronbach, 1987; Hayes, 2017) on SPSS. Finally, the moderation effect revealed the direction and strength of the proposed hypotheses (HO) based on the political skill and social identity model in anticipation of linear regression tests.

3.9.7. Linear regression

The linear regression analysis test was analysed by capturing the independent variable of employee-perceived leader political skill, with the dependent variable namely respective employee-perceived influence tactics (*manipulation*, *collaboration*) as well as moderator namely employee-perceived social identity on SPSS. Furthermore, a regression analysis was conducted for the dependent variable, namely respective employee-perceived influence tactics (*manipulation*, *collaboration*) and outcome variable employee reactions (*resistance and cooperation*), moderated by employee-perceived social identity.

Linear regression tests were used to determine the direction of hypotheses (HO) on a continuum from most likely to least likely (Aiken & West, 1991; Cohen, Cohen, Lewis-Beck, 1980; Kaufman, 2019; West & Aiken, 2003). Each hypothesis was accepted or rejected based on the regression scores. Furthermore, the regression tests established whether there were relationships between variables that were statistically significant at a p-value of 0.01 with a 95% level of accuracy and a 5% margin of error, amid the limitations of the study. For results robustness, tests were conducted on SPSS and M-Plus to observe whether scores were consistent. These constructs were rearranged to observe the scores as part of ensuring the robustness of the results. Values greater than one were rotated and kept below one for robustness amid limitations.

3.10. Research limitations

During the course of conducting the research, the study faced limitations. Since I collected data at a specific point in time using a singular measure and following a cross-sectional method of research design, the method could be regarded as a limitation. Yet, the cross-sectional method was most appropriate for conducting the research and answering the research question regarding the influence of social identity on the exercise of leader political skill. Furthermore, the study used a census sampling technique to collect data from sparsely located respondents across departments, units, and locations, which could be viewed as a limitation. The census approach was deemed most appropriate to reach many respondents who had a relationship by reporting to a direct manager at different levels of employment and across respective organisations, while following quality controls to conduct the research.

3.11. Quality assurance and ethics

Ethical and quality protocols were followed when researching employee perceptions of a leader who exercises political skill to influence employees if a leader has a different social identity from them. Before collecting the data, the gatekeeper's permissions were granted at research site one on the 25 of July 2022. In addition, a gatekeeper's letter was received from research site two on the 28 of July 2022. The letters were not attached so as to ensure the anonymity of the research sites throughout the study. The letters were submitted to the research ethics committee of the Gordon Institute of Business Science of the University of Pretoria.

Ethical clearance approval was received on 29 August 2022 from the research ethics committee of the Gordon Institute of Business Science at the University of Pretoria, to comply with the research ethics policy and guidelines as attached in appendix D. Thereafter, I invited respondents through institutional pinboards and emails to give consent to participate (Bell & Byrman, 2007) on the body of the email and the Google form online. Respondents who did not give consent were taken to the end of the questionnaire for exit.

Statistical scores were interpreted and aggregated to ensure anonymity and confidentiality of responses (Honig, Lampel, Siegel & Drnevich, 2017). I explained the statistical procedures in to analyse the data, without contaminating it. There was a low potential risk of inconvenience of access to data and devices for respondents who decided to give consent and participate in

the survey of the study. Professional editing was conducted in order to check the language, writing, and clarity of the thesis as illustrated in appendix E.

Electronic data was accessible to the researcher, supervisor, and statistical expert, to comply with ethical protocols (Cunliffe & da Silveira, 2016). I cleaned the data on an excel spreadsheet and submitted a copy to the research office of the Gordon Institute of Business Science at the University of Pretoria for ten years to comply with ethical protocols and guidelines. Table 3.6 shows the political skill and social identity hypotheses and statistical tests.

Table 3.6: Political skill and social identity hypotheses and statistics tests

Hypotheses	Statistics test		
HO1: Employee social identity predicts perceptions of leader political skill	Correlation, Linear regression		
HO2: The employee perceives the leader to be exercising political skill to manipulate the employee if a leader is different from the employee	Correlation, Linear regression Hayes moderation process		
HO2a: The employee perceives the leader to be exercising political skill to collaborate with the employee if the employee is similar to the leader	Correlation, Linear regression Hayes moderation process		
HO3: The employee shows resistance against a manipulative leader if the employee is different from the leader	Correlation, Linear regression Hayes moderation process		
HO3a: The employee cooperates with a collaborative leader if the employee is similar to the leader	Correlation, Linear regression Hayes moderation process		

3.12. Methodology summary

A positivist, nomothetic, deductive, and cross-sectional research design was conducted on the research regarding employee perceptions of a leader who exercises political skill to influence employees who are different from leaders. Data was collected using an online survey and 204 (n=204) responses were returned from two research sites. Data was analysed to obtain statistical results that test the political skill and social identity model fit and direction of hypotheses. Limitations encountered during the process of conducting the research were explained and quality controls and ethical protocols while conducting the research were described. The next chapter presents the results of the data analysis.

Chapter four: Results

4.1. Introduction

The previous chapter explained the positivist, nomothetic, deductive, cross-sectional design, survey data collection method, and statistical analysis of the dataset. The study claims that employees are more likely to perceive as manipulative a leader who exercises political skill to influence employees if that leader is different from employees. By contrast, employees may view a leader who uses political skill to influence them as collaborative if a leader is similar to them. The primary research question is "What is the influence of social identity on the exercise of leader political skill?".

In response to the overarching research question, this chapter presents the results of the data analysis. First, it describes the demographic profile and personal characteristics scores of the relationship between employees and direct managers using descriptive frequencies (//) and percentages (%). Second, it explains the data normality scores to provide an overview of the dataset. Third, it presents the validity and reliability scores of the measures of employee-perceived leader political skill, employee-perceived social identity, employee-perceived leader influence tactics (manipulation, collaboration), and employee reactions (resistance, cooperation). Finally, it interprets the hypotheses (HO) results around the political skill and social identity model.

4.2. Sample population description

To present the demographic results of the sample population (N = 2025) of potential employees and direct managers, the data was analysed to obtain the race, gender, and nationality frequency (f) and percentage (%) scores from two research sites as depicted in table 4.1 on the next page. The first research site of HEI one comprised 1198 potential respondents and the second research site of HEI two was made up of 827 potential respondents, which tallied to 2025 (N = 2025) potential respondents who were invited to participate in the study, if they so wished (HEI one, 2022; HEI two, 2022). Based on the sample population, there were 204 (n=204) responses received.

Table 4.1: Employee and employee-perceived direct manager race, gender, and nationality scores

F		Employee-perceived		
Employee race, gender		direct manager race, gender		
nationality	f (%)	nationality / (%)		
African Male	50 (24.6)	64 (31.4)		
Coloured Male	2 (0.9)	0 (0)		
Indian Male	20 (9.8)	44 (21.6)		
White Male	8 (3.9)	11 (5.4)		
African Female	52 (25.5)	33 (16.2)		
Coloured Female	6 (2.9)	0 (0)		
Indian Female	22 (10.8)	17 (8.3)		
White Female	16 (7.9)	9 (4.4)		
Non-South African Male	19 (9.3)	16 (7.8)		
Non-South African Female	9 (4.4)	10 (4.9)		
TOTAL	204 (100)	204 (100)		

There was a small number of white people (f = 24, % = 13.6) with few coloured people (f = 8, % = 4.5) in the sample (n=204) as indicated in table 4.1 above. The categories of race of African, coloured, Indian, and white people were drawn from the South African constitution and census (Census, 2022; Constitution, 1996). Female employees (f = 96, % = 54.5) constituted more than half of the respondents, while male employees (f = 80, % = 45.4) constituted less than fifty percent of the total (n=204). The number of employees who chose "other" and "prefer not to say" for gender identity was small, and not reflected in table 4.1. Most respondents identified as South African (f = 176, % = 86.2), with few non-South Africans (f = 28, % = 13.8) included in the dataset, as borne out in table 4.1.

As illustrated in table 4.1 above, the employee-perceived direct manager results showed a high number of African people (f = 97, % = 54.4), fewer Indian people (f = 61, % = 34,2), a small number of white people (f = 20, % = 11.2), while there were no coloured people (f = 0, % = 0). This is mainly due to the fact that there remain few coloured people in management positions in the higher education sector in the KwaZulu-Natal region. The number of perceived direct managers identified as "other" and "prefer not to say" for gender was small and excluded

in table 4.1 on the previous page. Most perceived direct managers were males (f = 119, % = 66,8), while there were females (f = 59, % = 33.1). Most respondents were South Africans (f = 178, % = 87.2) and there were few non-South Africans (f = 26, % = 12.8).

4.2.1. Employee and employee-perceived direct manager language

Table 4.2: Employee and employee-perceived direct manager language scores

		Employee-perceived		
Home language	Employee	direct manager		
	f (%)	f (%)		
English	85 (41.7)	100 (49.1)		
isiZulu	66 (32.4)	60 (30.4)		
isiXhosa	12 (5.9)	3 (1.2)		
Afrikaans	5 (2.5)	16 (7.8)		
Sesotho	5 (2.5)	2 (0.9)		
Setswana	2 (0.9)	2 (0.9)		
Tshivenda	3 (1.5)	2 (0.9)		
Sepedi	4 (2)	0 (0)		
isiNdebele	0 (0)	0 (0)		
SiSwati	3 (1.4)	0 (0)		
Xitsonga	0 (0)	1 (0.1)		
Other	19 (9.2)	18 (8.7)		
TOTAL	204 (100)	204 (100)		

Beyond race, gender, and nationality, the study analysed language to establish differences and similarities between employee perceptions of direct managers' social identity during political influence at work. The employee language results showed that most employees were English speakers (f = 85, % = 41.7), followed by isiZulu speakers (f = 66, % = 32.4) as illustrated in table 4.2 above. Few employees (f = 34, % = 16.7) spoke the rest of the South African official languages as shown in table 4.2. Few employees spoke other non-official languages (f = 19, % = 9.2). The employee-perceived direct manager language results demonstrated that most direct managers spoke English (f = 100, % = 49.1) followed by isiZulu (f = 60, % = 30.4). Few direct managers (f = 26, % = 10.2) spoke the rest of the South African

languages, while a small number (f = 18, % = 8.7) spoke other unofficial languages, as depicted in table 4.2 on the previous page. It is not surprising that English and isiZulu are the most widely spoken languages, taking into account the research is set in KwaZulu-Natal.

4.2.2. Employee and employee-perceived direct manager job title

In a bid to describe the respondent characteristics, the data was analysed regarding the job titles of employees and direct managers, as tabulated in table 4.3 below. The employee job title results showed that most employees held lecturer positions (f = 119, % = 58.3) followed by senior lecturers (f = 34, % = 16.6), a few associate professors (f = 12, % = 5.9), and a small number of full professors (f = 7, % = 3.4). The high number of lecturer positions pointed to professors who retired and the need to develop emerging academic employees to become professors through the transformation of the higher education sector in South Africa. At the research site of the study, a few associate directors and directors (f = 6, % = 3) were represented in the dataset, as historical director positions were discontinued at universities of technologies, primarily focused on vocational training.

Table 4.3: Employee and employee-perceived direct manager job title scores

Job title	Employee	Employee-perceived direct manager		
Job title	f (%)	f (%)		
Junior Lecturer	26 (12.7)	0 (0)		
Lecturer	119 (58.3)	32 (15.7)		
Associate Director	1 (0.5)	41 (20.1)		
Director	5 (2.5)	12 (5.9)		
Senior Lecturer	34 (16.7)	74 (36.3)		
Associate Professor	12 (5.9)	1 (0.5)		
Full Professor	7 (3.4)	44(21.5)		
TOTAL	204 (100)	204 (100)		

The job title results for employee-perceived direct manager positions were dominated by senior lecturers (f = 74, % = 36.3) and full professors (f = 44, % = 21.5), followed by fewer associate directors (f = 41, % = 20.1) and few directors (f = 12, % = 5.9) as depicted in table 4.3 on the previous page. The job title results further indicated the variation in respondents across levels of job titles as leaders who use political skill to influence employees face nuances at different levels of the organisation. The study used the job title of personal characteristics as a control variable in conducting the statistical procedures.

4.2.3. Employee and employee-perceived direct manager age, job type, and work experience

In addition to job title, the data was analysed based on the number of years of work experience of employees, age, and permanent or temporary type of job as tabulated in table 4.4 below. The employee personal characteristics results indicated that most employees had between one and five years (f = 57, % = 27.9) of work experience, while few employees had less than a year (f = 9, % = 4.4), and over 26 years (f = 19, % = 9.3) of work experience, respectively. The range of years of experience uncovers insights about employee perceptions of a direct manager's use of political skill to influence employees. Employees with many years of experience offer perspectives about the political dynamics more than employees who joined the organisation recently.

Table 4.4: Employee age, job type, and experience scores

Experience	f (%)	Age f(%)	Job type	f (%)
	244.0	10.07 04.47 0	_	45 (00.4)
0	9 (4.4)	18-35 34 (17.6)	Temporary	45 (22.1)
1-5	57 (27.9)	36-45 71 (33.8)	Permanent	159 (77.9)
6-10	43 (21.1)	46-65 92 (45.2)		
11-15	44 (21.6)	66+ 7 (3.4)		
16-25	32 (15.7)			
26+	19 (9.3)			
TOTAL	204 (100)	204 (100)		204 (100)

Most employees were aged between forty-six and sixty-five years (f = 92, % = 45.2), followed by the thirty-six to forty-five (f = 71, % = 33.8) age group as illustrated in table 4.4 on the previous page. Few employees were in the age group of eighteen to thirty-five (f = 34, % =17.6) and sixty-six (f = 7, % = 3.4) years of age, which is not surprising given the duration of becoming an academic employee in South Africa. An overwhelming number of employees were employed in permanent positions (f = 159, % = 77.9), with few employees (f = 45, % = 22.1) employed in temporary positions in the dataset.

Employees who were employed permanently provide unique views about the exercise of a leader's political skill to influence employees when compared with temporary employees. For instance, permanent employees are more vocal about political dynamics than temporary employees, who remain silent fearing reprisal, as contracts may be terminated. The study controlled for employee age, job type, years of experience, position, and job title.

Table 4.5: Employee-perceived direct manager age, job type, and experience scores

Experience years no. (%)		Age no. (%)	Job type no. (%)		
0	8 (3.9)	18-35 1 (0.5)	Temporary	197 (96.6)	
1-5	66 (32.4)	36-45 36 (17.6)	Permanent	7 (3.4)	
6-10	45 (22.1)	46-65 165 (80.9)			
11-15	23 (11.3)	66 + 2 (1)			
16-25	44 (21.6)				
26+	18 (8.7)				
TOTAL	204 (100)	204 (100)		204 (100)	

The data was analysed to compute frequencies (f) and percentages (%) for the employee-perceived direct manager's age, job type, and experience as illustrated in table 4.5 above. The employee-perceived direct manager personal characteristics results showed that most direct managers had between one to five years of experience (f = 66, % = 32.4), followed by six to ten years of experience (f = 45, % = 22.1). Few direct managers had less than a year of experience (f = 8, % = 3.9), and twenty-six years of experience (f = 18, %= 8.7). Furthermore, most direct managers were between forty-six and sixty-five years of age (f =

165, % = 80.9). Few direct managers were between thirty-six and forty-five (f = 36, % = 17.6) and over sixty-six years of age (f = 66, % = 0.9).

Most direct managers were appointed temporarily (f = 197, % = 96.6), and few direct managers were employed permanently (f = 7, % = 3.4), which was not surprising as managers were appointed temporarily in the higher education sector with implications for exercising leader political skill to influence employees. I have witnessed former direct managers become ordinary employees and a former ordinary employee became direct managers over the former bosses, with interesting observations about political dynamics and influence tactics especially during the transformation of an organisation. Therefore, the study controlled for the direct manager's age, job type, years of experience, position, and job title.

4.2.4. Employee-perceived direct manager position

The data was analysed about the employee-perceived direct manager's positions within the organisation as depicted in table 4.6. below. The results indicated that direct manager positions were dominated (f = 149, % = 73.0) by heads of department. The head of department position was followed by the deans of faculty (f = 21,%= 10.3). There were fewer deputy heads of department/school (f = 15, % = 7.4), and deputy deans of faculty/college (f = 9, % = 4.4).

Table 4.6: Employee-perceived direct manager position scores

Position	f (%)		
Deputy Head of Department/School	15 (7.4)		
Head of Department/School	149 (73.0)		
Deputy Dean of Faculty/College	9 (4.4)		
Dean of Faculty/College/School	21 (10.3)		
Deputy Vice-Chancellor	7 (3.4)		
Vice-Chancellor	3 (1.5)		
TOTAL	204 (100)		

Few direct managers held the position of deputy vice-chancellors (f = 7, % = 3.4) and vice-chancellors (f = 3, % = 1.5) as shown in table 4.6 on the previous page. The position results are not surprising because there were more heads of department than deans of faculty and vice chancellors positions, based on the number of departments and faculties in the dataset. For instance, a faculty had one dean with eleven heads of department, hence the dataset showed fewer dean positions.

Similarly, few positions were reported to the vice-chancellor, and therefore, there were few deputy vice-chancellors included in the dataset. The position results further highlighted a spread of direct manager positions in the dataset from lower to higher levels of the organisation. The higher the direct manager position, the more challenging the exercise of a leader's political skill especially during the transformation of an organisation. The study controlled for a direct manager's position in preparation for further analysis of the data.

4.3. Data normality

Table 4.7 below illustrates the Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk statistical test scores about the normality of the data, regarding the influence of social identity on a leader who uses political skill to influence employees in the workplace. The data normality results showed significant differences for employee-perceived leader political skill (K-S = .093, Shapiro-Wilk = .968, p = < .005) and employee-perceived social identity (K-S = .149, Shapiro-Wilk = .876, p = < .005) constructs at 0.05 p-values at 95% level of significance and 5 % margin of error.

Table 4.7: Data normality scores

Construct	Kolmog	orov-Smi		Shapiro-Wik		
	Statistic (K-S)	df	Sig (p)	Statistic	df	Sig (p)
Employee-per	ceived					
leader politica	l skill .093	204	<.005	.968	204	<.005
Employee-per	ceived					
social identity	.149	204	<.005	.876	204	<.005
Employee-per	ceived					
leader influence	ce tactics					
manipulation	.064	204	.040	.984	204	.021

collaboration	.075	204	.007	.987	204	.054
Employee reactions						
resistance	.080	204	.003	.983	204	.017
cooperation	.137	204	<.005	.963	204	<.005

The normality results further showed significant differences for employee-perceived leader influence tactic of *manipulation* (K-S = .064, Shapiro-Wilk = .984, p = < .021), *resistance* (K-S = .080, Shapiro-Wilk = .983, p = < .017), and *cooperation* (K-S = .137, Shapiro-Wilk = .963, p = > .005) as constructs at 0.05 levels and 95% margin of error. Using composite scores of each construct measure, the normality results indicated that data was not normally distributed as shown in appendix C.

By contrast, the *collaboration* (K-S = .075, Shapiro-Wilk - .987, p = < .054) construct result was not significantly different from the non-normally distributed data, as the score was higher than the recommended 0.05 level of significance (Hair et al., 2019), based on 204 (n=204) responses as demonstrated in table 4.7 above. To address the skewness of the data, a bootstrapping technique was performed on SPSS based on 5000 sampling at a 95% confidence interval level as shown in appendix E. The bootstrapping result scores showed that the constructs of interest were in the same direction of negative or positive scores as depicted in attached appendix D.

Table 4.8 on the next page describes the original construct results of a leader who could use political skill to manipulate employees who show resistance against the leader, while employees may collaborate with cooperative employees. The means (\vec{X}) and variations (σ^2) results scores showed the employee-perceived leader political skill $(\vec{X}=2.47, \sigma^2=.109, n=204, l=17)$, employee-perceived social identity $(\vec{X}=2.87, \sigma^2=.498, n=204, l=19)$, and employee-perceived leader influence tactic of *manipulation* $(\vec{X}=2.73, \sigma^2=.319, n=204, l=11)$.

Table 4.8: Original constructs description scores

Construct	n Minimum		Maximum	Mean Standard Questionnair		
					deviation	
				X	σ^2	item no. (I)
Employee-perceived	204	2.02	3.06	2.47	.109	17
leader political skill						
Employee-perceived	204	1.92	4.00	2.87	.498	19
social identity						
Employee-perceived						
leader influence tactic	s					
manipulation	204	1.92	3.47	2.73	.319	11
collaboration	204	2.47	4.19	3.29	.572	7
Employee reactions						
resistance	204	3.26	3.74	3.55	.029	7
cooperation	204	2.41	4.11	3.70	.417	6

The normality results demonstrated employee-perceived leader influence tactic of *collaboration* (\vec{X} = 3.29, σ^2 = .572, n = 204, I = 7), employee reaction of *resistance* (\vec{X} = 3.55, σ^2 = .029; n = 204, I = 7), and employee reaction of *cooperation* (\vec{X} = 3.70, σ^2 = .417, n = 204, I = 6). The questionnaire items varied between nineteen (19) for employee-perceived social identity and six (6) for *cooperation* as shown in table 4.8 above. Overall, there was a minimal variance in scores from the mean scores.

4.4. Analysis of common method bias

An exploratory factor analysis was conducted to obtain scores with eigenvalues greater than one and extraction sums of squared loadings to test for common method bias in respondent responses as illustrated in table 4.9 on the next page. The component matrix one and two scores from SPSS were obtained to show the questionnaire statement loadings for employee-perceived leader political skill. The factor analysis results showed the percentage of common method variance was approximately twenty-five percent (24.4%) and the lowest point (1.01) based on seventeen (17) employee-perceived leader political skill questionnaire items.

The factor results indicated no common method bias for employee-perceived leader political skill. Furthermore, the collinearity scores were high, which showed convergent and discriminant validity for each construct. In addition to table 4.9 below about employee-perceived leader political skill scores, the common method variance tables for employee-perceived social identity, *manipulation*, *collaboration*, *resistance*, and *cooperation* constructs found to have no common method bias are attached in appendix B.

Table 4.9: Employee-perceived leader political skill factor scores

Initial E	igenval	lues		Extraction Sums of Squared Loading				
Factor	Total	% of Variance	Cumulative%	Total	% of Variance	Cumulative%		
1	16.72	24.96	24.96	16.72	24.96	24.96		
2	5.04	7.52	32.49	5.04	7.52	32.49		
3	4.16	6.21	38.70	4.16	6.21	38.70		
4	2.66	3.97	42.68	2.66	3.97	42.68		
5	2.47	3.70	46.38	2.47	3.70	46.38		
6	2.02	3.02	49.40	2.02	3.02	49.40		
7	1.88	2.81	52.21	1.88	2.81	52.21		
8	1.65	2.47	54.69	1.65	2.47	54.69		
9	1.58	2.36	57.06	1.58	2.36	52.17		
10	1.49	2.22	59.28	1.49	2.22	57.06		
11	1.33	1.99	61.27	1.33	1.99	59.28		
12	1.29	1.93	63.20	1.29	1.93	61.27		
13	1.24	1.85	65.06	1.24	1.85	63.20		
14	1.20	1.79	66.86	1.20	1.79	65.06		
15	1.19	1.78	68.64	1.19	1.78	68.64		
16	1.07	1.60	70.24	1.07	1.60	70.24		
17	1.01	1.52	71.76	1.01	1.52	71.76		

For common method bias results robustness, some questionnaire statements were reworded from the original measures to further check for common method bias as depicted in table 4.10 below. For example, questionnaire statements were reworded from "I feel that I do not have much to offer" to "I feel I have a lot to offer to my social group". Furthermore, a statement was reworded from "I get along with my direct manager" to "I distance myself from my direct manager". Lastly, the original statement was "I feel frustrated by working with my direct manager" to "I look forward to working with my direct manager". The rewording procedure further minimised the common method bias of the construct measures of the study. The full questionnaire is attached as appendix A.

Table 4.10: Original and reworded questionnaire statements

Questionna	ire Original	Reworded		
item no.	questionnaire statement	questionnaire statement		
4.11 I feel th	at I do not have much to offer	I feel that I have a lot to offer to my		
to my s	ocial group.	social group.		
4.17 My social group is not an important		My social group is an important		
reflectio	n of who I am.	reflection of who I am.		
7.5 I get alor	ng with my direct manager.	I distance myself from my direct		
		manager.		
8.4 I feel frus	strated by working with my	I look forward to working with my		
direct ma	anager at work.	direct manager.		

4.5. Original measurement model fit

To test the original political skill and social identity model fit, a measurement analysis was conducted to obtain fitness scores on the M-Plus statistical software. The original measurement results showed a high Chi-square value ($\chi 2 = 30.96$, p = < 0.05), root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA = 0.16, p = < 0.08), and comparative fit indices (CFI = 0.77, p = < 0.90) as well as Tucker Lewis Index (TLI =0.31, p = < 0.95) as depicted in Table 4.11 on the next page. The standardised root mean square residual (SRMR = 0.08, p = < 0.08), and degree of freedom (df = 5, p = < 0.05) were obtained at the recommended 0.05 level of value, in preparation for construct reliability and validity testing.

Table 4.11: Original measurement for model fit scores

Fit indices	indices	P-value	
	value		
Chi-square value (x2)	30.96	< 0.05	
Degree of freedom (df)	5	< 0.05	
Scaling Correction Factor for MLM	1.00	< 0.05	
Root Mean Square Error of	0.16	< 0.08	
Approximation (RMSEA)			
Comparative Fit Indices (CFI)	0.77	< 0.90	
Tucker Lewis Index (TLI)	0.31	< 0.95	
Standardised Root Mean	0.08	< 0.08	
Square Residual (SRMR)			

4.5.1. Construct reliability and validity of the original model

The study conducted a statistical test to obtain the reliability scores for each construct of interest as illustrated in table 4.12 below. The reliability results showed high reliability scores for employee-perceived leader political skill (α = .94, SI = .94, I = 17), *manipulation* (α = .82, SI = .83, I = 11), *resistance* (α = .70, SI= .70, I = 7), and *collaboration* (α = .65, SI = .44, I = 6), which were above the recommended 0.65 (Hair et al., 2019). In contrast, employee-perceived social identity (α = .58, SI = .60, I = 19) and *cooperation* (α = .33, SI = .44, I = 6) were below the suggested 0.65. The scaling correction factor for MLM was at the 1.00 value level.

Table 4.12: Original measure reliability scores

Measure	Cronbach	's	Cronbach's alpha	Que	Questionnaire		
	Alpha	(α)	standardised items	s (SI)	items no. (I)		
Employee-perceived leader political skill	.94		.94	17			

Employee-perceived	.58	.60	19
social identity			
Employee-perceived			
leader influence tactics			
manipulation	.82	.83	11
collaboration	.65	.65	7
Employee reactions			
resistance	.70	.70	7
cooperation	.33	.44	6

To increase the reliability scores of constructs, the reworded questionnaire statements were removed as depicted in table 4.13 below. The questionnaire items were "I belong to a social group that is similar to my direct manager's social group" (α = .63), "My direct manager's social group has more to do with how I feel about myself" (α = .69) and "I feel that I do have much to offer to my social group" (α = .71). In addition, removed questionnaire statements were " My social group is an important reflection of who I am" (α = .67), "My direct manager reminds me of past favours done for me" (α = .67), and "I look forward to working with my direct manager" (α = .71).

Table 4.13: Removed original questionnaire items and improved reliability scores

Questionnaire	Questionnaire	Improved		
no	statements	reliability scores		
4.1 I belong to a s	ocial group that is similar to my			
direct manage	er's social group	.63		
4.8 My direct mar	nager's social group has more to do with			
how I feel ab	out myself	.69		
4.11 I feel that I do	have much to offer to my social group	.71		
4.17 My social gro	oup is an important reflection of who I am	.67		
6.6 My direct ma	nager reminds me of past favours done for me	.67		
8.4 I look forward	to working with my direct manager	.71		

After conducting the confirmatory factor analysis to check questionnaire item loadings and Cronbach's alpha (α) scores, the factor results indicated satisfactory scores. The factor scores showed convergent validity between questionnaire items within a construct where scores were above .70 as recommended by Hair et al. (2020), and discriminate validity between the six constructs of the study as well as Pearson correlation coefficients on SPSS. The six constructs of the study were employee-perceived leader political skill, employee-perceived social identity, employee-perceived leader influence tactics (*manipulation, collaboration*), and employee reactions (*resistance, cooperation*), in preparation for the structural model test of main effects.

4.6. Control variables

The control variables of the study, which were job title (W), type of employment (W), position (W), and years of experience (W) were added to the moderation and correlation statistical tests for robustness of the results. The results showed that the control variables did not change the results when compared to the exclusion of control variables in statistical analysis.

4.7. The influence of social identity on leader political skill

The study examined whether employee-perceived differences in social identity influenced employee perceptions of a leader who used political skill in the workplace. The employee-perceived social identity. Hence, the hypothesis one (HO1) was formulated as follows:

HO1: Employee social identity predicts perceptions of leader political skill.

To address hypothesis one (HO1), the study analysed the effect of employee social identity affects perceptions of a leader who uses a political skill. To test hypothesis one (HO1), a Pearson correlation coefficient (r) analysis statistical test was conducted ($X \rightarrow Y$) using a two-tailed approach on SPSS as depicted in table 4.14 on the next page. The X of the study represented employee-perceived leader political skill (X) as an independent variable, and Y indicated employee-perceived social identity (Y) as a dependent variable. The correlation analysis (r) was conducted based on 204 (n= 204) sample population size at a p-value of .005 (<.005) at a 95% level of significance, within a 5% margin of error.

The political skill and social identity correlation results showed consistency with hypothesis one (HO1), which confirmed that a significant relationship existed between a leader who exercised political skill and employee-perceived social identity as depicted in table 4.14 below. The correlation results (n = 204, r = .499**, p = <.005) further suggested that employees were more likely to view a leader as using knowledge about the employee to enhance personal or organisational goals based on the social identity of employees.

Table 4.14: Employee-perceived social identity and employee-perceived leader political skill

Variable	Employee-perceived leader political skill		Employee-perceived social identity	
Employee-perceived leader political skill	Pearson correlation Sig. (2-tailed) n	1 204	.499** <.005 204	
Employee-perceived social identity	Pearson correlation Sig. (2-tailed) n	.499** <.005 204	204	

^{** .005} p-value

4.8. The effect of the differences on employee-perceived leader political skill and manipulation

The study examined whether employees perceived a leader who exercised political skill as using influence tactic of *manipulation* on employees if a leader is different from employees.

Hypothesis two (HO2) was formulated as follows:

HO2: The employee perceives the leader to be exercising political skill to manipulate the employee if a leader is different from the employee.

To test the hypothesis (HO2), the respondents were divided according to employee perception of the leader along race, gender, nationality, and language differences respectively as shown in table 4.15 below. Therefore, employees who were different from direct managers were grouped along race, gender, nationality, and language respectively on SPSS, in preparation for further analytical tests. The employee-perceived leader political skill construct was an independent variable (X), *manipulation* (Y) was a dependent variable of race, gender, nationality, and language differences (Z) was a moderator variable.

Table 4.15: Differences in employee-perceived leader political skill and manipulation scores

Variable	Empl	Employee-perceived							
leader political skill manipulation									
		LLCI	ULCI	coeff	se	t	Р		
Employee-perceive	d								
social identity									
- Race differe	nce	124	.229	.052	.088	.585	.559		
- Gender diffe	rence	464	.593	.064	.266	.242	.593		
- Nationality	ifference	-1.139	.562	416	.482	862	.393		
- Language d	fference	219	.135	041	.089	466	.642		

The Hayes process macro plug was used to analyse the moderating effect of employee-social identity (W) for respective race, gender, nationality, and language differences (Z) on employee-perceived leader political skill (X*W*Z) and *manipulation* (Y). In this regard, p-values, LLCI, and ULCI scores were obtained as shown in table 4.15 above. The moderation results indicated no significant effect of social identity race differences (LLCI = -.124; se = .088, ULCI = .229, p = .559), and social identity gender differences (LLCI = -.464, se= .266, ULCI = .593, p = .809) on employee perceptions of a leader who exercised political skill to *manipulate* employees along, as illustrated in table 4.15.

The moderation results further highlighted no significant moderation effect of social identity differences based on nationality (LLCI = - 1.139, se= .482, ULCI = .562, p =.393), as well as social identity differences based on languages (LLCI = -.219, se = .089; ULCI = .135, p = .642) on employee perceptions of a leader who exercises political skill to *manipulate* employees. The moderation results suggested that social identity categories of race, gender, nationality, as well as language differences, were unlikely to influence employee perceptions of a leader who uses political skill to *manipulate* employees.

4.8.1. Influence of employee-perceived leader political skill on manipulation of employees

The study analysed the effect of employee perceptions of a leader who uses political skill to influence employees through *manipulation* for robustness. To test hypothesis two (HO2), a Pearson correlation coefficient (*r*) analysis statistical test was conducted (X --- Y) using a 2-tailed approach on SPSS as depicted in table 4.16 below. The X of the study represented employee-perceived leader political skill (X) as an independent variable, and Y indicated employee-perceived influence tactic of *manipulation* (Y) as a dependent variable. The correlation analysis (*r*) was conducted based on 204 (n= 204) sample population size at a p-value of .005 (<.005) and 95% level of significance, within a 5% margin of error.

Table 4.16: Employee-perceived leader political skill on manipulation scores

Variable	Employee-pe			
	leader politic	cal skill	manipulation	
Employee-perceived	Pearson correlation	1	.608**	
leader political skill	Sig. (2-tailed)		< .005	
	n	204	204	
manipulation	Pearson correlation	.608**	1	
	Sig. (2-tailed)	<.005		
	n	204	204	

^{** .005} p-value

The *manipulation* correlation results confirmed a significant relationship between a leader who exercises political skill to influence employees through *manipulation*, as depicted in table 4.16 on the previous page. The results (n = 204, r = .608**, p = < .005) further suggest that employees were more likely to view a leader as using employee knowledge to control employees through underhanded means. In contrast to *manipulation*, the study examined whether employees were likely to perceive as *collaborative* a leader who exercised political skill to influence employees.

To further test hypothesis two (HO2), a Pearson correlation (*r*) analysis statistical test was conducted (X - Y) using a 2-tailed approach on SPSS. The X of the study represented employee-perceived leader political skill (X) as an independent variable, and Y indicated the employee-perceived influence tactic of *collaboration* (Y) as a dependent variable. The correlation analysis was conducted based on a 204 (n = 204) sample population size at a p-value of .005 (<.005) and 95% level of significance, within a 5% margin of error. Therefore, hypothesis two (HO2) was not supported.

4.9. Similarities in employee-perceived leader political skill on collaboration with employees

The study examined whether employees were more likely to perceive a leader who exercised political skill as *collaborative* if a leader is similar to the employee. Hypothesis 2a (HO2a) was stated as follows:

HO2a: The employee perceives the leader to be exercising political skill to collaborate with the employee if the employee is similar to the leader

In a bid to test hypothesis 2a (HO2a), respondents were clustered based on employee perceptions of a leader along with similarity in race, gender, nationality, and language respectively as depicted in table 4.17 on the next page. Employee-perceived leader political skill was an independent variable (X), *collaboration* (Y) was a dependent variable, and similarity in social identity (Z) was a moderator variable. A Hayes process macro plug on SPSS was used to analyse the moderating effect of social identity categories of race, gender, nationality as well as language similarities on leader political skill (X*Z) and *collaboration* (Y) to obtain scores at a p-value of >.005 with 95% level of significance and 5% margin of error.

Table 4.17: Similarities in employee-perceived leader political skill and collaboration scores

Variab	le	Employee-perceived							
		leader political skill collaboration							
		LLCI	ULCI	coeff	se	t	Р		
Employe	e-perceived								
social ide	•								
- R	Race similarity	465	.679	.106	.288	.370	.712		
- G	Gender similarity	163.	214.	.025	.095	.265	.214		
- N	lationality similarity	051	.273	.111	.082	1.349	.178		
- L	anguage similarity	189	1.1498	.480	.336	1.428	.157		

The moderation results demonstrated that employee-perceived social identity of race similarity (LLCI = -.465, se = .288, ULCI = .679, p = .712), as well as gender similarity (LLCI = -.163, se = .095, ULCI = .214, p = .790) respectively, had no significant effect on employee-perceived leader political skill and *collaboration*, as tabulated in table 4.17 above. The moderation results further indicated that employee-perceived social identity category of nationality similarity (LLCI = -.051, se = .082, ULCI = .273, p = .178) and language similarity (LLCI = -.189, se = .336, ULCI = 1.149, p = .157) had no significant moderation effect on employee-perceived leader political skill and *collaboration*.

4.9.1 Employee-perceived leader political skill and collaboration with employees

The study conducted a Pearson correlation (r) coefficient between employee-perceived leader political skill and collaboration scores as tabulated in table 4.18 on the next page. The *collaboration* correlation results showed a significant relationship between employee-perceived leader political skill and *collaboration*. The collaboration results (n = 204, r = .450**, p = <.005) further highlight that employees were more likely to perceive leaders who exercised political skill to influence employees as *collaborative*. Hypothesis three (HO3) was not supported.

Table 4.18: Employee-perceived leader political skill and collaboration scores

Variable	Employee-pe			
	leader politi	cal skill	collaboration	
Employee-perceived	Pearson correlation	1	.450**	
leader political skill	Sig. (2-tailed)		<.005	
	n	204	204	
collaboration	Pearson correlation	.450**	1	
	Sig. (2-tailed)	<.005		
	n	204	204	

^{** 0.05} p-value

4.10. Employee resistance against employee-perceived manipulative leader influenced by differences

The study examined whether employee-perceived differences played a role in employee resistance towards a leader who manipulates employees. Hypothesis three (HO3) was formulated as follows:

HO3: The employee is more likely to show resistance against a manipulative leader if the employee is different from the leader

To test hypothesis three (HO3), the X represented employee-perceived *manipulation* (X) as a dependent variable, Y denoted employee *resistance* (Y) as an outcome variable, and the social identity (Z), based on categories of race, gender, nationality as well as language differences (W), were moderator variables as depicted in table 4.19 on the next page. A Hayes macro plug test on SPSS was conducted to determine the moderating effect of social identity differences in *manipulation* (X*Z*W) and *resistance* (Y).

Table 4.19: Differences in employee resistance towards leader manipulation scores

Variable	Leader manipulation	Employ resista				
	LLCI	ULCI	coeff	se.	t	р
Employee-perceived						
social identity						
- Race differences	.335	.171	082	.127	641	.522
- Gender differences	.597	.735	.069	.335	.206	.837
- Nationality difference	s .450	1.712	.631	.533	1.183	.244
- Language differences	.353	.113	119	.118	-1.014	.312

The moderation results illustrated no significant effect of the employee-perceived social identity categories of race differences (LLCI = .335, se = .127, ULCI = .171, p = -.522) as well as gender differences (LLCI = .-597, se = .335, ULCI = .735, p = .837) on employees who show resistance against a manipulative leader, as illustrated in table 4.19 above. Similarly, the results further demonstrated that the employee-perceived social identity categories of nationality differences (LLCI = -.450, se = .533, ULCI = 1.712, p = .244), as well as language differences (LLCI = -.353, se = .118, ULCI = .113, p = .312), had no significant moderating effect on employees who show *resistance* against a *manipulative* leader.

4.10.1 Employee resistance against employee-perceived manipulative leader

For robustness, the study tested whether employees resisted perceived manipulative leaders, and a Pearson correlation (r) analysis statistical test was conducted (X - Y) using a two-tailed approach on SPSS as demonstrated in table 4.20 on the next page. The X represented the employee-perceived influence tactic of *manipulation* (X) tactic as a dependent variable, and Y indicated employee reaction of *resistance* (Y) as an outcome variable. A correlation (r) statistical test was conducted based on 204 (n = 204) sample population size at .005 (<.005) p-value and 95% level of significance, within a 5% margin of error. The correlation (r) results revealed a significant relationship between employee-perceived leader *manipulation* and *resistance*. The results (n = 204, r = .049**; p = <.005) further indicated that employees were

more likely to show *resistance* against a *manipulative* leader. Therefore, hypothesis three (HO3) was not supported.

Table 4.20: Employee resistance towards leader manipulation scores

Variable	Leader		Employee	
	manipulation	1	resistance	
Leader				
manipulation	Pearson correlation	1	.049**	
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.483	
	n	204	204	
Employee				
resistance	Pearson correlation	.049**	1	
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.483		
	n	204	204	

^{** 0.05} p-value

4.11 Employee cooperation and leader collaboration influenced by similarities

The study examined whether employee-perceived similarity in social identity had a moderating effect on employees who *cooperate* with a *collaborative* leader as tabulated in table 4.21 on the next page. Therefore, the hypothesis three A (HO3a) was formulated as follows:

HO3a: The employee cooperates with a collaborative leader if the employee is similar to the leader

To test the hypothesis (HO3a), the X represented *collaboration* (X) as a dependent variable, while Y denoted *cooperation* (Y) as an outcome variable, and employee-perceived similarity in social identity (Z) was a moderator variable as depicted in table 4.21 on the next page. A Hayes macro plug test was conducted to analyse the moderating effect of employee-perceived similarity in social identity on employee-perceived *collaboration* (X*Z) and employee

cooperation (Y). The moderation results showed that employee-perceived social identity based on race similarity (LLCI=3.643, se = .048, UCLI = 3.834, p= 408), had no significant effect on employees who *cooperate* with a *collaborative* leader.

Table 4.21: Similarities in leader collaboration with employee cooperation scores

Variable	Leader collaboration	Employee cooperation				
	LLCI	UCLI	coeff	se	t	р
Employee-perceived						
social identity						
- Race similarity	3.643	3.834	3.739	.048	77.869	.408
- Gender similarity	555	114	334	.111	-3.004	.003
- Nationality similarity	y300	.097	101	.100	-1.009	.314
 Language similarity 	604	.323	140	.233	601	.549

^{** 0.05} p values

The nationality similarity (LLCI = -.300, se = .100, UCLI = .097, p=.314) and language similarity (LLCI= -.604, se = .233, UCLI=.323, p=.549) had no significant moderating effect on employees who *cooperate* with a *collaborative* leader, as indicated in table 4.21 above. The results indicated that social identity and gender similarity (LLCI = -.555, se = .111, UCLI= -.114, p= .003) had a significant moderating effect on *collaborative* leaders who *cooperated* with employees. The results underscore the role of gender similarity in relationships between employees who *cooperate* with a *collaborative* leader. The results report that employees were not likely to *cooperate* with a *collaborative* leader based on nationality, language, and race similarity, except for gender similarity.

4.11.1 Employee perceived leader collaboration and employee cooperation

Table 4.22: Leader collaboration with employee cooperation scores

Variable	Leader		Employee
	collaboration		cooperation
Leader			
collaboration	Pearson correlation	1	.333**
	Sig. (2-tailed)		<.005
	n	204	204
Employee			
cooperation	Pearson correlation	.333**	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	<.005	
	n	204	204

^{** 0.05} p values

A Pearson correlation (r) analysis statistical test was conducted (X - Y) using a two-tailed approach on SPSS for robustness as depicted in table 4.22 above. The X represented employee-perceived influence tactic of *collaboration* (X) as a dependent variable, and Y indicated *cooperation* (Y) as an outcome variable. A correlation test (r) was conducted based on 204 (n=204) sample population size at a p-value of .005 (< .005) at a 95% level of significance, within a 5% margin of error. The correlation results depicted a significant relationship between *collaboration* and *cooperation*. The results (n = 204, r = .333**, p = <.005) highlighted that employees were more likely to cooperate with an employee-perceived collaborative leader. Therefore, hypothesis three A (HO3a) was fully supported. Finally, table 4.23 on the next page presents the political and social identity hypotheses and results.

Table 4.23: Political skill and social identity hypotheses and results

Hypotheses		Results	
HO1:	Employee social identity predicts perceived leader political skill	Fully supported	
HO2:	The employee perceives the leader to be exercising political skill to manipulate the employee		
	if a leader is different from the employee	Not supported	
HO2a:	The employee perceives the leader to be exercising political skill to collaborate with the employee	Net conserted	
HO3:	if the employee is similar to the leader The employee reacts with resistance against a manipulative leader if the employee is	Not supported	
	different from the leader	Not supported	
HO3a:	The employee cooperates with a collaborative		
	leader if the employee is similar to the leader	Fully supported	

4.12. Results summary

The study examined whether employee perceptions of a leader's political skill were affected by social identity. The results showed that social identity affected perceptions of leader political skill. The study further probed whether employees perceived a leader who uses political skill as manipulative if a leader was different from employees based on race, gender, nationality, and language social categories. The results demonstrated that employees were less likely to perceive a leader who exercises political skill as manipulative if a leader was different from employees in terms of race, gender, nationality, and language. On the contrary, the results indicated that employees were more likely to view a leader as collaborative if a leader had a similar gender to employees, except for race, nationality, and language. The next chapter discusses the findings of the study.

Chapter five: Discussion

5.1. Introduction

The previous chapter explained the statistical results of the political skill and social identity model. The study argues that employees may perceive a leader who uses political skill to influence employees as manipulative if a leader is different from employees. By contrast, employees may view a leader who exercises political skill to influence employees as collaborative if a leader is similar to employees. While employees may show resistance against a manipulative leader if a leader is different from employees, alternatively, employees may cooperate with a collaborative leader if that leader is similar to employees.

I draw from the results to discuss the findings of the study. I restate the research questions and hypotheses of the study. I use social identity to extend the political influence theory (Ferris & Judge, 1991; Nkomo et al., 2019). The race, gender, nationality, and language social categories highlight the differences between leaders and employees. I suggest implications of social identity differences for political influence, where leaders exercise political skill to influence diverse employees, particularly during the transformation of an organisation to become more diverse, inclusive, and equitable.

5.2. Restated research questions and hypotheses

The study addresses the following primary research question, research sub-questions, and related hypotheses (HO):

5.2.1 Primary research question

What is the influence of social identity on the exercise of a leader's political skill?

5.2.1.1 First research sub-question

What are employee perceptions of a leader who exercises political skill to influence employees, if a leader is different from employees?

5.2.1.2 Second research sub-question

What are employee reactions towards a leader who uses influence tactics, if a leader is different from employees?

5.2.2 Hypotheses

HO1: Employee social identity predicts perceptions of leader's political skill

HO2: The employee perceives the leader to be exercising political skill to manipulate the employee if a leader is different from the employee

HO2a: The employee perceives the leader to be exercising political skill to collaborate with the employee if the employee is similar to the leader

HO3: The employee reacts with resistance against a manipulative leader if the employee is different from the leader

HO3a: The employee cooperates with a collaborative leader if the employee is similar to the leader

5.3 Employee-perceived leader political skill and employeeperceived social identity

The main research question of the study was: "What is the influence of social identity on the exercise of a leader's political skill?". Based on the results, the study found that employee perceptions contribute to views about a leader who exercises political skills to influence employees based on social identity if a leader is different from employees based on race, gender, nationality, and language social categories. The study suggests that employee perceptions of social identity differences extend understanding of assessing a leader's political skill further than previously understood. By showing that social identity between leaders and employees, as well as social differences, affect employee perceptions of a leader's use of political skill at work, the study closes the gap on the intervening aspect of the exercise of a leader's political skill (Ferris et al., 2019; Frieder et al., 2019; Grosser et al., 2018; Hochwater et al., 2020; Hogg, 2001), to influence employees.

The study deepens race and gender categories of social identity by including nationality and language aspects in broader organisational politics. In the case of nationality, there is a growing concern about xenophobia against foreign nationals who speak different languages and the preservation of jobs for local nationals as well as language speakers. Leaders can use political skill to manipulate employee perceptions and responses to xenophobia and language tensions. Even though nationality and language differences add to race and gender dimensions (Arnett, 2023; Nkomo et al., 2018), the study shows that employees are affected by a leader's nationality or language differences during social interactions (McAllister et al., 2018) at work.

The social identity differences based on nationality and language multiplicity categories open lines of scholarly enquiry to address big questions of migration, origin, ethnicity, and belonging to a transforming workplace for inclusion in the wake of workplace political tensions always present in every organisation (Mintzberg, 1985; Munyon et al., 2015; Summers et al., 2020). The nationality and language social differences further highlight the boundaries of a leader's political skill, which extend beyond salient race and gender categories, as well as the outcomes for employee stress and well-being.

In contrast to social identity differences, the study found that social identity similarities based on race, nationality, and language categories are less likely to influence employee perceptions of a leader who uses political skill to influence employees at work. The similarity notion contradicts political influence (Ashforth, & Mael, 1989; Ferris & Judge, 2001; McAllister et al., 2018; Munyon et al., 2020) assumptions, which suggest that similarity between leaders and employees creates bias in work decisions, such as appointing employees based on race and gender similarity. Mechanisms to transform the workplace yield progressive change over time. The study suggests that employees focus more on professional identity (Hogg, 2001; Roberts & Creary, 2012) as the basis for forming perceptions about a leader's political skill to influence employees, instead of race, nationality, and language social categories, except for gender similarity.

The study found that gender similarity contributes to employee perceptions of a leader who uses political skill to influence employees during the transformation of an organisation for diversity. Employees prefer to work with leaders who share a similar gender identity with employees. For example, men would rather work with other men, and women prefer working with other women. The gender similarity preference confirms Hochwarter's (2020) argument regarding gender aspects in workplace politics that men dominate leadership positions, which shows a need for a sense of belonging and salience to similar gender social groups. The

observation further underscores gender similarity as foundational for the inclusion and exclusion of employees and leaders from social groups.

Leaders who use political skill to transform gender representation at work may face resistance in the form of ignored instructions as well as outright boycotts, beyond race, nationality, and language social categories. Conversely, the social-political perspective of the study raises broader research questions about gender similarity between a leader and an employee (Carrim & Nkomo, 2016; Davy, 2008; Hochwarter et al., 2020), where organisations transform beyond the race category. Taken together, social identity similarity and political skill deepen the understanding of the influence of a leader on employee perceptions, in the process of necessary transformation in countries such as South Africa with a history of human rights violations, discrimination, and oppression.

Since employees overlook race, nationality, and language multiple social category differences in assessing a leader's political skill to influence employees, transformation interventions offer social integration at work, except for gender salient similarity. The notion contradicts political influence (Ferris & Judge, 1991; Ferris et al. 2018; Frieder et al., 2019; Hochwarter et al., 2020; Ramarajan, 2014) assumptions of preference for similar relational identities in the workplace. In South Africa, social groups were segregated based on race and language categories during apartheid, as reflected in organisation demographic representation.

In contrast, democratic South Africa has integrated social groups into organisations that create political tensions between leaders and employees in workplaces. These boundary conditions of political skill provide insights into the tipping point for the transformation of the workplace based on race, nationality, and language social categories to become unnecessary and, alternatively, assume a different form (CHE, 2022; DHET, 1997; USAF, 2023). Intentional social interactions between diverse leaders and employees are used to mitigate historical tensions and misunderstandings and deepen political influence perspectives to advance organisational goals through transformation.

The study demonstrates a relationship in the methodology by focusing on the employee perception of direct managers in the workplace. Rather than asking direct managers if they used political skill to influence diverse employees at work, the study asked employees about the nature of social interactions with direct managers (Bednar & Brown, 2024; Frieder et al., 2023; Kacmar et al. 2010). The line of questioning brought to the fore the salient elements of identity shaping the individual multiple identities and simultaneity at work. Furthermore, leaders use political skill on employees in destructive ways for personal benefit, or in

constructive ways for the benefit of the organisation. The study suggests that insights about social identity and political skill emerged from employee perceptions of a direct manager to advance knowledge.

The study adjusted and checked the measures for social identity and political skill to reflect the employee perceptions of the direct manager. Since the employee perceptions could have misunderstandings of direct managers, the choice of transformed research sites was central to offering nuances about relationality in the research (HEI one, 2019; HEI two, 2019). Within broader organisational political research, studies use individual perceptions alone contrary to the relationship as an approach to conducting research in the workplace, as was the case in this study. Finally, the study finds that social identity differences in race, gender, nationality, as well as language, and categories contribute to a leader's political skill theoretical and practice.

5.3.1 Differences in employee-perceived leader political skill and employee-perceived leader influence tactics

Building on the main research question of the study, the first research sub-question was: "What are employee perceptions of a leader who exercises political skill if a leader is different from employees?" Drawing from the results, the study found that employees are less likely to perceive a leader who uses political skill to influence employees as manipulative if a leader is different from employees. In contrast, employees are less likely to view a leader who applies political skill to influence employees as collaborative if a leader is similar to an employee. Similarities or differences were examined along a multiplicity of race, gender, nationality, and language categories in social identity, particularly during the transformation of an organisation to become more diverse, inclusive, and representative.

5.3.1.1 Examination of differences in employee-perceived leader political skill and manipulation of employees

The differences between a leader and an employee are less likely to influence an employee to perceive a leader who uses political skill to be manipulative. This finding contradicts the work of Nkomo et al. (2019) on the role of race and gender differences in excluding and including social groups in leader manipulation of employees in workplace politics. The observation suggests that race, gender, nationality, and language social differences are more

salient and contribute to the initial stages of transformation when compared to the latter stages of transformation.

The salience view of social identity categories such as race raises further questions about a leader who uses political skill to ingratiate employees as a tactic of manipulation promote acceptance of transformation and diversity in the workplace. Consequently, there is an emerging need to examine whether transformation reaches a stage of lesser necessity for demographic identity considerations in the workplace, where leaders and employees foreground professional identity as salient within the multiplicity of identities (Booysen, 2018; Hogg & Terry, 2001; Liao et al., 2019; Lu, et al., 2019). In this regard, employees associate manipulation with the character of the leader as prototypical rather than dependent on the social identity categories of race and gender.

A strength of the current study lies in examining differences from multiple dimensions to offer integrated insights and mechanisms for a leader who shows an awareness of social interactions in the workplace. The study characterised social identity differences along race, gender, language, and nationality categories of the leader and employee respectively through workplace relationships. These categories differ from one another based on assumptions (Booysen, 2018; Haslam et al., 2022; Nkomo, 2021; Nkomo & Hoobler, 2014), although they are interrelated regarding employee perceptions of leader manipulation employees during the transformation of an organisation.

Race, gender, language, and nationality are unique categories of social identity in terms of perceptions and attributions between leaders and employees at work. For example, a non-South African leader learns a local language to be able to request work favours from local employees and benefit from a sense of belonging. Therefore, employees are less likely to identify leaders of different nationalities and languages when assessing a given leader's manipulation of a given employee.

Employees are unlikely to attribute a leader's political skill to manipulation tactics based on social identity differences of race, gender, nationality, and language between the leader and employees (Booysen, 2018; Nkomo et al., 2018). Employees justify excessive compliments from a leader based on a leader's sincerity (Abrams, et al., 2021; Ferris et al., 2019; Frieder et al. 2023; Good & Schwepker, 2022). In addition, a leader who is skilled in using political skill hides personal intentions by giving excessive compliments to employees, covering up for employees shortcomings, and requesting workplace favours in return. The leader supports

employees excessively, as a means to achieve transformation goals and outcomes, given the tensions of differences in identity in the workplace

The observation of manipulation grants additional insight into perceptions of leader manipulation of employees who differ from the leader. For example, a white male employee who perceives a black male leader pays excessive compliments as sincere, alternatively, as utilising tactics to advance a transformation agenda. The interpretation of the compliment and outcome stems from a workplace relationship between the employee and the leader. The significance of a leader's use of the political skill is highlighted in pursuit of and realisation of transformation progress outcomes.

The study finds that social identity categories of gender, race, nationality, and language differences play less of a role during social interactions between a leader and employees, and therefore, theoretically, the study advances the understanding of political influence and social identity. The finding suggests that there are diverse groups with differing interests – a situation that creates grounds for manipulation within and between group members. Even though legislation has made inroads into and raised questions about social identity differences in the workplace, there are deeper questions to be addressed about whether legislative requirements (Ferris et al., 2019; Wöcke & Sutherland, 2008) are necessary where social identity differences play a less significant role among leaders who influence employees at work over time.

The socio-political perspective deepens an understanding of the transformation of workplaces, where leaders are less likely to use interpersonal influence to ingratiate themselves with employees, based on differences within legislative frameworks. The assertion further implies that legal requirements have made a difference in bringing diverse groups together in the workplace. The statement underscores the role of legislative requirements, such as affirmative action, triple black economic empowerment, and employment equity legislation in entrenching transformation in South Africa and beyond (DHET, 2022; Selvanathan et al., 2022; Wöcke & Sutherland, 2008). The legislation has implications for leaders who appear humble to diverse employees, as a mechanism to foster change in the workplace. In addition, the duration of legislative requirements indicates that identity differences become progressively more nuanced, rather than being persistently foregrounded and salient between leaders and employees.

The transformation progression, political skill, and competence address the nationality identity of the leader and employees. South Africa's implementation of a programme of bringing skills from the rest of the continent has met the race requirement of transformation, alternatively, African nationals have taken advantage of the provision for personal gain (DHET, 2019; du Pres, et al., 2016). Black people from the African continent who brought scarce skills in the early stages of democratic South Africa could have integrated well with local nationals. The observations suggest that leaders focus on skills transfer between foreign nationals and local nationals as a means to build local talent to meet the needs of industry and foster mutualism. While concerns have arisen about xenophobia, the study finds that xenophobia in South Africa contributes less to the political influence between a leader and an employee, than it does in other societal spheres.

The study claims that the skill and competence of the leader take precedence and become more salient over the language and employee origin differences. The claim suggests that leaders ought to pay less attention to nationality, race, and language categories when implementing transformation. Legislation protects all official local languages in South Africa as equal before the law. The observation further shows that assimilation and simultaneity are where lines become blurred between identities in the workplace (DHET, 2022; Ferris et al., 2018; Hochwarter et al., 2020).

The integration of assimilation and simultaneity further highlights social class as indicated by professions that require a certain level of education, and contributes to perceptions of leader political skill, as is found to be the case in higher education. Senior-level positions in the organisation pay more than lower-level professions that are underpaid, and competitive with local nationalities. The question of nationality raises further questions about the role of social class and race in supporting or resisting leader influence at work, particularly during the transformation of an organisation.

The nature of race plays out in workplaces that are changing as society transforms. In South Africa, black people constitute the majority, while in the West, black people constitute a minority. This study observes that racial identity begins to diminish over time with the transformation and foregrounding of professional values. The observation underscores the role of political influence in changing workplaces and boundary conditions, as well as foundations for minimising identity differences, changes, and foregrounding similarity in the workplace.

5.3.1.2 Evaluating of similarities in employee-perceived leader political skill and collaboration with employees

Employees are less likely to perceive a leader who uses political skill as collaborating with employees if the employee and leader share a similar social identity on race, gender, nationality, and language social categories. Employees do not fulfill a leader's request, network with a leader, and assess the provision of resources based on social identity when it is similar to that of a leader. The current study contradicts Ferris and Judge (1991) in this regard, who argue that interpersonal interactions are enabled by similarity, which contributes to workplace politics of recruitment, performance appraisal, and promotion decisions when instituting transformation in the workplace. The transformation of an organisation necessarily requires employees who are not similar to one another to work together for inclusion, diversity, and equity which causes tensions in the workplace.

The nature of similarity is less likely to contribute to sourcing ideas of employees before decision-making and leader political skill application, which bodes well for transformation based on race, gender, nationality, and language social categories. The observation agrees with Lu et al. (2019), who found that working together was preferred between leaders and employees in the workplace. The assertion further suggests that leaders share work outcomes with employees through political skill in the absence of similarity with employees. The observation extends an understanding of transformation where employees work together beyond race, gender, nationality, and language social categories, but focus on professionalism and values as a basis for collaboration in the workplace.

5.3.2 Employee reactions towards employee-perceived leader influence tactics

The second research sub-question was: "What are employee reactions towards a leader who uses influence tactics if a leader is different from the employees?" The study found that employees are less likely to react with resistance towards a manipulative leader if a leader has a different social identity to employees based on race, gender, nationality, and language social categories. In contrast, employees are less likely to cooperate with a collaborative leader, if a leader has a similar social identity with employees based on race, nationality, and language aspects. Instead, employees are more likely to cooperate with a collaborative leader if the leader is similar to the employee based on gender identity.

5.3.2.1 Assessing differences in employee resistance against a manipulative leader

Employees are less likely to show resistance against a manipulative leader if leaders belong to different social groups from employees based on race, gender, nationality, and language. This assertion suggests that employees avoid pushing for a change of status quo of manipulation from a leader that is perceived as different, as a leader possesses more power and authority over employees (Blickle et al., 2020; Drory & Beaty, 1991; Fedor et al., 2008; Good & Schwepker, 2022; Liao et al., 2019; Sun, 2022). In addition, individual employees are found to be reluctant to ignore a leader's instructions, refuse the leader's requests, and overlook actions towards the leader when social identity differences are present. Instead, employees could show resistance through employee formations, such as trade unions, to address manipulative leaders who pursue personal gains at the expense of an organisation.

Employees who look beyond the differences with a leader, instead focusing on the nature of manipulation rather than performing at a minimal level as a form of protest at work. Social identity differences decrease and become less salient in the wake of low resistance from employees against manipulative leaders over the course of transformation (Abrams et al. 2021; Haslam, et al., 2022; Sun et al., 2021). While the study has focused on the leader and employee relationship, further questions are raised about team perceptions of manipulative leaders during the transformation of an organisation. For example, if a leader is perceived as manipulative for personal gain, employees congregate as a team to address the matter. If employees congregate as a team, the nature of team identity dynamics and relationality arises.

5.3.2.2 Examining similarities in employee cooperation with a collaborative leader

Employees are less likely to cooperate with a collaborative leader based on similarity in race, nationality, and language social categories except for gender identity in the workplace. Gender similarity enables collaborative leaders to cooperate with employees for workplace politics during the transformation of an organisation. The similarity in gender implies employees prefer to obey and comply with requests from a collaborative leader who navigates the transformation of an organisation to maintain the status quo on gender similarity (Elly, 1994; Ely, 2020; Mell et al., 2020; Hochwarter, 2012; Hochwarter et al., 2020; Powell & Butterfield, 2015). The observation suggests that employees and leaders are excluded from political influence based on different gender identities, which is consistent with beneficial politics.

Respective male groups and women form alliances for cooperation with collaboration during transformation. In the early years of transformation, white women were appointed to positions, followed by Indian women and coloured women in South Africa. More recently, black African women were appointed into positions of power. The study not only underscores preference for a similar gender group but, where gender identity is more salient amid multiple identities (Carrim & Nkomo, 2016; Yo-Jud & Grosberg, 2020) the leader needs to use collaborative tactics to influence employees. However, males continue to dominate leadership positions and appoint other men to positions of power. In the South African context, women are promoted through legislation, such as affirmative action and employment equity.

Women who were appointed to positions may have intentionally appointed other women into positions of power. The observation explains the gender similarity preference for leaders. The gender claim further suggests that the similarity in gender between leader and employee proves insufficient to provide resources and support for cooperative employees. Instead, collaborative leaders cooperating with employees have implications for leaders who drive the transformation agenda. The assertion further opens up lines of scholarly enquiry regarding the assumptions that gender similarity is more important than race, nationality, and language social categories for collaboration and cooperation (Arnett, 2023; Hochwarter et al., 2020; Selvanathan et al., 2022; USAF, 2023). The study provides the groundwork for further studies on the role of gender during social interactions between collaborative leaders and cooperative employees during transformation in its later stages, where there were divisions or apartheid previously.

The gender observation is inconsistent with the work of Brown and Jaciby-Senghor (2021), which found that differences matter in the workplace. The assertion suggests that employees work willfully exert effort when cooperating with a collaborative leader from a similar social group. The study corroborates political influence theory (Frieder et al., 2018) regarding similarity in decision-making between leaders and employees when it comes to opportunities for career development based on similarity in identity. The assertion further proposes that the employees and leaders prefer not to work with individuals of similar identity based on race, nationality, and language, except for gender identity.

The study raises questions about sexual harassment and gender-based violence within a transforming workplace. It may be the case that women prefer to report to a female boss who is collaborative with whom to form workplace political alliances as espoused in political skill theory. Men prefer to report to a collaborative male. The observation has cultural dimensions and socialisation which contribute to workplace politics and alliances for personal benefits

(Grosser et al., 2018; Lu et al., 2019). The study underscores political power dynamics and influence between leaders and employees as transformation progresses. This assertion opens up a line of scholarly enquiry about the social identities that become more salient as workplaces begin the diversity journey. Yet, gender similarity may support male and female leaders in navigation transformation based on gender social category.

The collaborative leader of similar gender to employees uses political skill to build alliances and networks towards extending gender differences, which become more accepted over time, rather than assuming a leadership position to force transformation change early (Davy, 2008; Ely & Thomas, 2020; Liao et al., 2019; Hochwarter et al., 2018; Powell & Butterflied, 2015; Yo-Jud Cheng & Groysberg, 2020). The study highlights the significance of political skill beyond the qualifications and experience of leaders during the transformation of an organisation with implications for future well-being and career outcomes. The political influence approach to social identity change requires the input of employees who may assist in advancing transformation amongst internal and external stakeholders.

In the context of South Africa, the importance of a leader's political skill was previously underappreciated, while the study highlights political skill in advancing the transformation agenda amid a rise in tensions in workplaces. Beyond male and female identities, the study had few respondents who chose "other" or "prefer not to say" in the dataset. The study highlights questions about gender identity groups that are excluded from political power blocks on the mechanism to join groups and to form new groups to exert and respond to influence in the workplace during the transformation of an organisation. Overall, political skill and social identity contribute to workplace interaction between leaders and employees.

5.4 Discussion summary

The study examined employee perceptions of the influence of social identity on the exercise of a leader's political skill. The study finds that employees perceive a leader as using political skill to influence employees based on social identity and differences of race, gender, nationality, and language. In contrast, employees may cooperate with a collaborative leader, if the leader is similar to employees based on gender, rather than race, nationality, and language. The employee preference for gender similarity with a leader stands at odds with the transformation of promoting gender difference for diversity in the workplace. The next chapter presents the conclusion and recommendations for the study.

Chapter six: Conclusion and recommendations

6.1 Introduction

The previous chapter discussed the findings of the study on leaders who exercise political skill on employees in the workplace. The study finds that employees are less likely to perceive a leader as exercising political skill to manipulate employees if the leader is different from employees based on social identity categories of race, gender, nationality, and language. In contrast, employees are more likely to perceive a leader as using political skill to collaborate with cooperative employees if the leader is similar to employees based on gender identity. The chapter presents the key social identity contributions of this research to political influence theory, leader and employee interaction practices, and employee views about their leaders in methodology. Finally, the limitations of the study are explained and directions for future research are recommended.

6.2 Research contributions

6.2.1 Theoretical

The main research question of the study was: "What is the influence of social identity on the exercise of a leader's political skill?". The study used political influence as a theoretical lens to answer the research question. Political influence theory assumes that leaders and employees are irrational and belong to diverse interest groups while competing for limited resources (Ferris & Judge, 1991). The study finds that social identity categories of race, gender, nationality, and language differences intervened between employee perceptions of a leader who exercises political skill to influence employees in the workplace.

The study suggests that employee perceptions of social identity differences from multiple aspects of race, gender, nationality, and language contribute to assessing a leader's political skill more so than has been previously understood. The study highlights that differences in social identity between leaders and employees contribute to employee perceptions of a leader's use of political skill amid irrationality, diverse interests, and limited resources as espoused in political influence theory. This research closes the gap (Ferris et al., 2019; Hochwater et al., 2020), on the intervening contribution of multiple social identity differences in the exercise of leader political skill to influence employees.

The study indicates that the multiplicity of social identity differences based on race, gender, nationality, and language contributes to employee perceptions of a leader's use of political skill to leverage networks, observe employees' hidden agendas, and know what to say intuitively. While employees' social differences are compared according to race and gender categories (Ferris & Judge, 1991; Hochwarter et al., 2020; Nkomo et al., 2019), the study established that the social differences facilitated employee reactions and views about diverse groups with unique interests for access to limited organisational resources. In demonstrating multiple social identity differences as an intervening aspect, the study extends the understanding of the intersection between the use of political skill and social identity.

The study further finds that gender similarity contributes to employee perceptions of a collaborative leader who uses political skill to cooperate with employees, rather than race, nationality, and language similarity. The study suggests that gender similarity, within multiple identities of the leader and employee, becomes more salient pertaining to cooperating with a collaborative leader (Arnett, 2023; Charles & Nkomo. 2012; Drory & Beaty, 1991; Ferris et al., 2019). The study highlights that the employee preference to work with a collaborative leader depends on similarity in gender identity in the workplace, perhaps for a sense of belonging, even though leaders ought to transform organisations to accommodate more diverse interests, gender inclusiveness, and equitability.

The key to this study is that not only should a leader be gender similar to an employee, but the leader should be collaborative in working with employees. Yet, gender similarity is inconsistent with calls to become more gender inclusive, particularly for gender minorities such as transgender people. Therefore, the study implies that the preference for gender similarity perpetuates simultaneity rather than the multiplicity of identities to promote workplace diversity amid workplace politics always present in every organisation (Booysen, 2018; Fitzsimmons, et al., 2023). Leaders, therefore, face tensions of preference for gender similar employees while expected to prioritise gender differences, which is an important observation of the study in advancing political influence theory on irrationality, competing for diverse interests and resource access.

The study demonstrates that employee perceptions and reactions likely contribute less to interpreting manipulation from the leader as leaders and employees integrate over time, where race, gender, nationality, and language social differences tend to carry less salience. Instead, employees attribute manipulation tactics to the leader as an individual, rather than as part of a social group based on race, nationality, and language purported to belong to the leader, particularly during the transformation of organisations to become more inclusive, diverse, and

equitable. Key to the observation is the role of time-lapse in foregrounding differences as a basis for access to opportunities, and the realisation of equitable access to resources in the workplace.

6.2.2 Practical

The study suggests mechanisms to support leaders to exercise political skill effectively. A leader may be capacitated to navigate tensions that could arise from manipulating diverse employees. In this regard, practical workshops, executive coaching, and mentoring mechanisms can be used to support manipulative leaders who exercise political skill to influence employees (Ely & Thomas, 2020; Postma, 2020). For example, leaders should be taught to use manipulation for the benefit of the organisation, rather than for personal gain. Furthermore, leaders require support in navigating tensions of workplace politics.

Capacity-building mechanisms could be guided by employee perceptions of a leader who uses political skill to manipulate an employee if the leader has a different social identity of race, gender, nationality, and language from the employee. Mechanisms support manipulative leaders to deal with potential employee resistance where leaders differ in terms of social identity from their employees (CHE, 2022; DHET, 2022; USAF, 2023). Leaders who ignore navigating workplace politics of transformation face negative career outcomes of ostracization, lack of power, and exiting the organisation. Leaders should become aware of approaches to workplace politics as claiming to not play workplace politics has outcomes for employees such as reduced access to opportunities in the workplace.

On the contrary, a leader ought to develop the use of political skill to collaborate with employees who are similar to the leader based on race, gender, nationality, and language social identity categories, for the transformation of the organisation to become more diverse, inclusive, and equitable. Training and development, executive education, and measurement instruments should enhance collaborative leaders' ability to exercise political skill on employees in the context of transformation (CHE, 2022; DHET, 2022; USAF, 2023). Leaders and employees should pay attention to political influence and diversity groups as a means to foster the transformation of workplaces. The observation highlights the need for leaders and employees to bring their salient social identities of authenticity rather than silencing or covering up identity to fit in and get ahead at work.

Capacity mechanisms draw from perceptions of a leader who exercises political skill to work and support employees if the leader has a similar social identity of gender to that of the employee. The absence of political skill in the education of leaders to drive the organisational agenda means that those who have political skill get ahead, have ideas adopted, and are generally supported even if the leader's conduct is counter-productive (CHE, 2022). However, leaders ought to be sensitised in seeking gender different employees, particularly gender minorities who are underrepresented in organisations creating a need for gender transformation in the workplace. The call for action is the use of appropriate gender pronouns to avoid offending others and including gender minorities for belonging and improved self-esteem

Employees give leaders feedback on their political skill capabilities in a safe environment for an upward 360-degree performance appraisal feedback generated by an external consultancy firm. Self-awareness about perceptions of alternative multiple identities assists in developing appropriate tactics for influencing employees by minimising misunderstandings, tensions, and exclusions. The 360 degree includes a measure of the political skill of the leader and areas of improvement. On the other hand, 360-degree can assist employees to reflect on reactions to a leader's capability to exercise political skill in the workplace.

Mechanisms and measurements ought to be used to enable collaborative leaders to apply political skill to leverage employee cooperation based on similarity as a means of addressing diverse employees with limited opportunities and resources towards transforming the organisation. Leaders should build alliances across ingroups to understand differences in employees to foster trust and credibility as a foundation for collaboration (Ferris et al., 2018). For example, the need to ensure women are represented at high levels of the organisation relies on men and women as well as other gender identities to drive gender transformation. The study further proposes the significance of leaders in understanding the progression of transformation in guiding the focus area of gender, rather than race, nationality, and language aspects of social identity differences when influencing employees.

Policymakers should investigate whether legislations like affirmative action and broad black economic empowerment serve to transform society. There is a need to review whether the nature of legislation for transformation should be revised to reflect a changing context. For example, in South Africa apartheid emphasised the separation of individuals based on race and language primarily (DHET, 2022). In democratic South Africa, policymakers should look into salient social identity categories that are relevant at a certain stage in the transformation journey. The policy positions can then inform guidelines and practices of organisations for

leaders and employees to follow. Leaders and employees foreground professional identity rather than race, gender, and nationality which may have a class dimension.

6.2.3 Methodological

The study contributes a survey cross-sectional research design and method that takes into account the South African context. Given South Africa's divisive history of multiple social identities, the adopted research design and method of the study was sensitive to context, building on previous research (Kacmar et al., 2010; Nkomo & Hoobler, 2014). The apartheid system of segregation meant that South Africans were divided according to race and language with differentiated development, violence, and exclusions. In democratic South Africa, the dispensation promoted the inclusion and integration of different social groups across races and languages. Therefore, South Africa becomes an interesting context to understand diversity and workplace politics between leaders and employees in the workplace where black African people are a majority and white people are a minority. The study contributes a unique sample of respondents in a unique setting to methodology.

The measurement instrument was piloted to ensure respondents were not offended by statements on, for example, race, gender, language, and nationality social categories used to find out about differences between leaders and employees (Maher, et al., 2020). For example, the term coloured is used in the South African context to denote a race based on government categorisations devised under apartheid (Census, 2022). Furthermore, language can unearth questions of origin, migration as well as inclusion and exclusion. The study used language rather than ethnicity as language would be more acceptable as a social identity category from an employee and their direct managers. The research instrument that incorporates a leader's political skill, social identity, manipulation, collaboration, resistance, and cooperation should be used in future studies to examine workplace politics and transformation.

6.3 Research limitations

While the study has many strengths, there were limitations in conducting the research. Even though the study adopted a cross-sectional design study using a singular data source that addressed the research question, this may be viewed as a manner of limitation. Yet, the cross-sectional method was most appropriate for conducting the research and answering the research question on the influence of social identity differences of race, gender, nationality, and language on political skill between a leader and employees.

The study collected data from a singular side of a relationship between employee perceptions of their direct manager, which may be viewed as a limitation, despite the study focusing on employee perceptions of a direct manager. The study collected data from employee perceptions' perspectives' to examine the reactions towards a leader's political skill and influence tactics, rather than asking the leader about their political skill. The study investigated the relational identity perspectives in a more nuanced way. Furthermore, the study used a census approach to conducting the research which may be perceived as a limitation. Yet, the study used a census approach at individual unit of analysis against their immediate manager in the workplace.

As a further limitation, in the case of South Africa, labour legislation detailed in the Employment Equity Act and business legislation of black economic empowerment, emphasis was placed on race and gender identities, which could not apply to more social identities of nationality and language as was the case in the study. Given the tensions around migration and xenophobia, the study added nationality and language as multiple identities between leaders and employees. However, further social identities such as ethnicity were not included in the study, which may viewed as a limitation. Instead, the study used language as a form of identifying differences between leaders and employees during the transformation of an organisation to become more diverse, inclusive, and equitable.

6.4 Directions for future research

Since the study was cross-sectional using a quantitative design, future studies can investigate whether perceptions of race become more nuances over time through a qualitative and longitudinal study. Since the study found that differences in social identity contributed to employee perceptions of a leader who exercised political skill to influence employees at individual units of analysis in a singular sector, future studies should explore team political skill

of diverse individuals in other sectors, to foreground political influence within and across teams. As the study identified gender similarity as an important driver of preference for leader political skill rather than race, nationality, and language social categories, future studies can examine whether different gender identities experience workplace politics in insightful ways. In addition, the study could include employees and leaders in the same organisation respectively, where leaders share the same level of power.

Since the study found that gender similarity was more salient than race and gender social categories, future studies could investigate whether interventions such as affirmative action need to be revisited to consider the identity of gender difference. For example, there could be a tipping point for when interventions such as affirmative action could take a different form, be discontinued, or be tied to further requirements. Future studies could probe the assumptions about gender similarity during transformation drawing from feminist and intersectional perspectives to further understand the role of gender in the wake of tensions created by wokism and other movements with implications for organisational politics around the world. The research could assist leaders in better-managing organisations that are transforming and becoming more diverse, inclusive, and equitable.

Since the study used linear analysis of relationships between constructs of interest, future studies can investigate non-linear relationships between constructs around social identity and workplace politics. While the study has examined many constructs in an interesting context about differences, future studies can examine further outcomes of workplace politics on turnover intentions and counterproductive work behaviours. The outcomes could arise where the nature of politics is no longer bearable for employees and leaders. Therefore, questions of boundaries of turnover intentions and counterproductive work behaviours could be an area of further research.

Finally, organisational politics can affect employee well-being which may lead to stress and lack of job satisfaction in the workplace. It would be interesting to investigate the conditions under which workplace politics has unfavourable outcomes for employee well-being. Overall, future studies can explore more outcomes of political skill such as well-being, turnover intention, job satisfaction, counterproductive work behaviours, and stress to extend understanding of workplace politics in theory and practice.

6.5 Conclusion summary

The study examines employee perceptions of a leader who exercises political skill with employees where differences exist between them in terms of race, gender, nationality, and language. The study shows that such differences of social identity contributed to employee perceptions in a leader who uses political skill. In contrast, employees are more likely to cooperate with a collaborative leader if the leader and employee share a similar social identity based on gender. The study suggests that race, language, and nationality differences play a lesser role than gender similarity if a leader exercises political skill to influence diverse employees during the transformation of an organisation to become more inclusive, diverse, and equitable. The study infuses social identity into extending political influence theory by means of which leaders can use political skill to influence diverse employees.

References

- Abrams, D., Lalot, F., & Hogg, M.A. (2021). Intergroup and intragroup dimensions of Covid-19: A social identity perspective on social fragmentation and unity. *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations*, 24 (2), 201-209. https://doi.org/10.1177/1368430220983440
- Ahearn, K.K., Ferris, G.R., Hochwarter, W.A., Douglas, C., & Ammeter, A.P. (2004). Leader political skill and team performance. *Journal of Management, 30* (3), 309-327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jm.2003.01.004
- Aiken, I.S., & West, S.G. (1991). *Multiple regression: Testing and interpreting interactions*. Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Aristotle, (2022). The Complete Works of Aristotle, Vol. 1. Princeton University Press.
- Arnett, R.D. (2023). Uniting through difference: Rich cultural identity expression as a conduit to inclusion. *Organization Science*, *34*(5), 1887-1913. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.2022.1648
- Ashforth, B.E., & Mael, F.A. (1989). Social identity theory and the organization. *Academy of Management Review, 14*, 20-39. https://doi.org/10.2307/258189
- Babbie, E.R. (2021). *The Practice of Social Research*. 15th edition. Australia: Cengage Learning Incorporated.
- Baron, R.A. (1986). Self-presentation in job interviews: When there can be "too much of a good thing". *Journal of Applied Social Psychology, 16* (1),16-28. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.1986.tb02275.x
- Bawa. A. (2017 July 28). *Transformation summit.*https://www.ru.ac.za/media/rhodesuniversity/content/equityampinstitutionalculture/documents/Transformation Summit 28 July 2017 -(Professor Ahmed Bawa).pdf
- Bednar, J.S. & Brown, J.A. (2024). Organizational ghosts: How "ghostly encounters" enable former leaders to influence current organizational members. *Academy of Management*, 67(3), 737-766. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2022.0622

- Bell, E., & Byrman, A. (2007). The ethics of management research: An exploratory content analysis. *British Journal of Management, 18*, 63-77.

 DOI:10.1111/j.1467-8551.2006.00487.x
- Blickle, G., Kuckelhaus, B., Kranefeld, I., Schutte, N., Genau, H.A., Gansen-Ammann, D., & Wihler, A. (2020). Political skill camouflages machiavellism: Career role performance and organisational behavior in short and long tenure. *Journal of Vocational Behavior,* 118, 1-19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2020.103401
- Booysen, L.A.E. (2018). Workplace identity construction: an intersectional-identity-cultural lens, in Ramon, J.A. (Edit). *Oxford Research Encyclopaedia of Business and Management*, Oxford University Press, NY.
- Bowling, N.A., Gibson, A.M., Houpt, J.W., & Brower, C. K. (2021). Will the questions ever end?

 Person-level increases in careless responses during questionnaire completion.

 Organizational Research Methods, 24 (4), 1-41.

 https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1094428120947794
- Brannick, M.T., Chan, D., Conway, J.M., Lance, C.E., & Spector, P.E. (2010). What is method variance and how can we cope with it? A panel discussion. *Organizational Research Methods*, *13* (3), 407- 420. DOI:10.1177/1094428109360993
- Brewer, M.B. (1991). The social self: On being the same and different at the same time.

 Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 17 (5), 475-482.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0146167291175001
- Brown, A. D., & Jaciby-Senghor, D.S. (2021). Majority of members misperceive even "winwin" diversity politics as unbeneficial to them. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*. 122 (6), 1075 1097. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/pspi0000372
- Brown, R. (2019). The social identity approach: Appraising the Tajfellian legacy. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, *59* (1), 5-25. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjso.12349
- Bryman, A. (2006). Paradigm peace and the implications for quality. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 92 (2), 111-126. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645570600595280

- Carrim, N.M.H. & Nkomo, S.M. (2016). Wedding intersectionality theory and identity work: South African Indian Women negotiating managerial identity. *Gender, Work, and Organization*, 23(3), 261-277.
- Census. (2022). Census population. Statistics South Africa: Republic of South Africa. https://census.statssa.gov.za/#/province/5/2
- Charles, A., & Nkomo, S. (2012). The intersection of race and politics. A framework for racialized organizational politics perceptions. In G. Ferris & D. Treadway (Eds.), Politics in Organization: Theory and Research Considerations: 451-486. New York: Routledge.
- Cohen, J., Cohen, P., West, S.G., & Aiken, L.S. (2003). Applied multiple regression/correlation analysis for the behavioural sciences. 3rd edition. Mahwan, NJ: Lawrence Erbaum.
- Constitution. (1996). Constitution of the Republic of South Africa. South African government.
- Council for Higher Education. (30 June, 2022). *Dimensions of transformation of higher education in South Africa*. Council for higher education. Pretoria.
- Crocker, J., & Luhtanen. R. (1990). Collective self-esteem and ingroup bias. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *58*(1), 60-67. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.58.1.60
- Cronbach L.J. (1987). Statistical tests for moderator variable: Flaws in analyses recently proposed. *Psychological Bulletin*, 102, 414-417. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.102.3.414
- Cunliffe, A.L., & de Silveira, R.A. (2016). The politics of access in fieldwork: Immersion, backstage drama, and deception. *Organizational Research Methods*. 19 (4), 535-561. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1094428116639134
- Davies, R. (2022, October, 3). Dark Days: Accusations of capture and governance instability rock UCT. *Daily Maverick*.
 - https://www.dailymaverick.co.za/article/2022-10-03-dark-days-accusations-of-capture-and-governance-instability-rock-uct/

- Davy, K.M. (2008). Women's accounts of organizational politics as a gendering process. *Gender, Work and Organization, 15* (6). 651-671. doi:10.1111/j.1468-0432.2008.00420.x
- del Rio, G.M.N., Eligon, J., & Hassan, A. (2021 May, 25). A timeline of what has happened in the year since George Floyd's death. *New York Times*.

 $\underline{\text{https://www.nytimes.com/2021/05/25/us/george-floyd-protests-unrest-events-timeline.html}}$

- Department of Higher Education and Training. (2022). Report of the Independent Assessor on the Mangosuthu University of Technology: Focusing on Allegations and Counter Allegations leading to the suspension of the Vice-Chancellor. Pretoria: Department of Higher Education and Training.

 https://www.gov.za/sites/default/files/gcis_document/202203/46088gon1931.pdf
- Department of Higher Education and Training. (2019). Report of the Ministerial task team on the Recruitment, Retention, and Progression of Black South African academics.

 Pretoria: Department of Higher Education and Training.

 https://www.dst.gov.za/images/2020/02/Report_MTT_RRP_of_Black_Academics_we
 b_final1.pdf
- Department of Higher Education and Training. (1997). *Higher Education Act*. Department of Pretoria: Higher Education and Training.

 https://www.gov.za/sites/default/files/gcis_document/202203/46088gon1931.pdf
- Drory, A., & Beaty, D. (1991). Gender differences in the perception of organizational influence tactics. *Journal of Organizational Behaviour, 12*. 249-258. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.4030120307
- du Preez, P., Simmonds, S., & Verhoef, A.H. (2016). Rethinking and researching transformation in higher education: A meta-study of South African Trends. *Transformation in Higher Education*, 1 (1),1-7. https://doi.org/10.4102/the.v1i1.2
- Ely, R.J. (1994). The effects of organizational demographics and social identity on relationship among professional women. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 39: 204-238

- Ely, R.J., & Thomas, D.A. (2020). Getting serious about diversity: Enough already with the business case. *Harvard Business Review*. 1156-121.
- Evans, J.R., & Mathur, A. (2018). "The value of online surveys: a look back and a look ahead". *Internet Research, 28* (4), 854-887. https://doi.org/10.1108/IntR-03-2018-0089
- Fedor, D.B., Maslyn, J., Farmer, S., & Bettenhausen, K. (2008). The contribution of positive politics to the prediction of employee reactions. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 38, 76-96. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2008.00297.x
- Ferris, G.R., Ellen III, B.P., McAllister, C.P., & Maher, L.P. (2019). Reorganizing organizational politics research: A review of the literature and identification of future research directions. *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, 6, 299-323. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-012218-015221
- Ferris, G.R., & Judge T.A. (1991). Personnel/human resources management: A political influence perspective. *Journal of Management*, *17* (2), 447-488. https://doi.org/10.1177/014920639101700208
- Ferris, G.R., & Mitchell, T.R. (1987). The components of social influence and their importance for human resources research. In K.M. Rowland & G.R. Ferris (Eds). Research in personnel and human resources management, 5 103-128. Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.
- Ferris, G.R., Treadway, D.C., Kolodinsky, R.W., Hochwarter, W.A., Kacmar, C.J., Douglas, C., & Frink, D.D. (2005). Development and validation of the political skill inventory. *Journal of Management*, 21, 126. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0149206304271386
- Ferris, G.R., Treadway, D.C., Perrewe, P.L., Brouer, R.L., Douglas, C., & Lux, S. (2007). Political skill in organizations. *Journal of Management, 33*, 290-320. Doi:10.1177/0149206307300813.
- Fitzsimmons, S., Ozbilgin, M.F., Thomas, D.C., & Nkomo, S. (2023). Equality, diversity, and inclusion in international business: A review and research agenda. *Journal of International Business Studies*, *54*, 1402-1422. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41267-023-00642-x

- Frieder, R.E., Ellen III., B.P. & Kapoutsis I. (2023). The contingent nature of the political skill-employee performance relationship. *Journal of Applied Psychology* https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0001107
- Frieder, R.E., Ferris, G.R., Perrewe, P.L., Wihler, A., & Brooks, C.D. (2019). Extending the metatheoretical framework of social/political influence to leadership: political skill effects on situational appraisals, responses, and evaluations by others. *Personnel Psychology*, 72 (4), 543-569. https://doi.org/io.iiii/peps.12336
- Furst, S.A., & Cable, D.M. (2008). Employee resistance to organisational change: Managerial influence tactics and leader-member exchange. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 93(2), 453-462. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.93.2.453
- Giessner, S.R., van Knippenberg, D.N., van Ginkel, W., & Sleebos, E. (2013). Team-oriented leadership: The interactive effects of leader group prototypicality, accountability, and team identification. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *98*(4), 658-667.
- Good, M.C., & Schwepker, C.H. (2022). Business-to-business salespeople and political skill: Relationship building, deviance, and performance. *Journal of Business Research*, *139*, 32-43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2021.09.035
- Grosser, T.J., Obstfeld, D., Choi, E.W., Woehler, M., Lopez-Kidwell, V., Lablanca, G., & Borgatti, S.P. (2018). A socio-political perspective on employee innovation and job performance: The role of political skill and network structure. *Organization Science*, 29 (4) 612 632. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.2017.1201
- Hair Jr., J.F., Howard, M.C., & Nitzl, C. (2020). Assessing measurement model quality in PLS-SEM using confirmatory composite analysis. *Journal of Business Research*, 109, 101-110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.11.069
- Haslam, S.A., Gaffney, A.G., Hogg, M.A., Rast III, D.E., & Steffens, N.K. (2022). Reconciling identity leadership and leader identity: A dual-identity framework. *The Leadership Quarterly*. 33 (4) https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/du24t
- Haslam, S,A,, & Reicher, S. (2006). Stressing the group: Social identity and the unfolding dynamics of response to stress. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *91*(5), 1037-1052

- Hayes, A.F. (2017). Introduction to mediation, moderation, and conditional process analysis, 2nd Edition: *A Regression-Based Approach*. Guilford Publications.
- Henderson, R. (2017, January, 19). Gender transformation at UKZN needs' drastic measures. *Timeslive.*

<u>https://www.timeslive.co.za/news/south-africa/2017-01-19-gender-transformation-at-ukzn-needs-drastic-measures/</u>

- Higher Education Institution one. (2022). Annual Report. Higher Education Institution One.
- Higher Education Institution two. (2022). Annual Report. Higher Education Institution Two.
- Hochwarter, W.A. (2012). The positive side of organizational politics. Ferris, G.R. & Treadway, D.C. (Eds). *Politics in organizations: Theory and research considerations*. New York. Routledge.
- Hochwarter, W.A., Rosen, C.C., Jordan, S.L., Ferris, G.R., Ejaz, A., & Maher, L.P. (2020). Perceptions of organizational politics research: past, present, and future. *Journal of Management*, 46 (6), 879-907. Doi: 10:1177/0149206319898506.
- Hogg, M.A. (2001). A social identity theory of leadership. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, *5* (3), 184-200. https://doi.org/10.1207%2FS15327957PSPR0503 1
- Hogg, M.A., & Terry, D.J. (2000). Social identity and self-categorisation processes in organizational contexts. *The Academy of Management Review 25* (1), 121-140. https://doi.org/10.2307/259266
- Hogg, M.A., Terry, D.J., & White, K.M. (1995). A tale of two theories: A critical comparison of identity theory with social identity theory. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 58 (4), 255-269. https://doi.org/10.2307/2787127
- Honig, B., Lampel, J., Siegel, D., & Drnevich, P. (2017). Special section on ethics in management research: norms, identity, and community in the 21st century. *Academy* of *Management Learning & Education 16* (1), 84-93. https://doi.org/10.5465/amle.2017.0023
- International Labour Organisation. (nd). *ILO Glossary of Statistical Terms*. Geneva: International Labour Organisation.

- Izraeli, D.N. (1987). Sex effects in the evaluation of influence tactics. *Journal of Occupational Behaviour*, 8, 79-86. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.4030080110
- Jansen, J. (2022 October, 5). Xenophobia is threatening the future of the SA university.

 University World News,

 https://www.universityworldnews.com/post.php?story=20221004102540205
- Jansen, J.D. (2003). On the state of South African universities. South African Journal of Higher Education, 17 (3), 9-12. DOI. 10.4314/sajhe.v17i3.25399
- Johnson, R.W. (2016 April 29). Can UCT be allowed to die. *Politicsweb*. https://www.politicsweb.co.za/opinion/can-uct-be-allowed-to-die
- Jones, E.E. 1964. Ingratiation. New York: Meredith.
- Kacmar, M.K., Bachrach, D.G., Harris, K.J., & Zivnuska, S. (2011). Fostering good citizenship through ethical leadership: Exploring the moderating role of gender and organizational politics. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *96* (3), 633-642.

 DOI: 10.1037/a0021872
- Kaufman, R.L. (2019). Interaction effects in Linear and Generalised Linear Models: Examples and Applications Using Stata. Sage Publishers.
 DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781506365404
- Kelly, K. (2020, October. 3). The short tenure and the abrupt ouster of banking's sole black C.E.O. New York Times.
 https://www.nytimes.com/2020/10/03/business/tidjane-thiam-credit-suisse.html
- Kipnis, D., & Schmidt, S.M., & Wilkinson, I. (1980). Intra-organizational influence tactics: Exploration in getting one's way. *Journal of Applied Psychology, 65* (4), 440-452. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.65.4.440
- Levy, A. & Merry, U. (1986). *Organizational transformation: Approaches, strategies, theories.*Greenwood Publishing Group.
- Lewis-Beck, M.S. (1980). Applied Regression: An Introduction. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.

- Liao, C., Liden, R.C., Liu, Y., & Wu, J. (2019). Blessing or curse: The moderating role of political skill in the relationship between servant leadership, voice, and voice endorsement. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2544
- Lindell, M.K., & Whitney, D.J. (2001). Accounting for common method variance in cross-sectional research designs. *Journal of Applied Psychology, 86*, 114-121. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/0021-9010.86.1.114
- Longnecker, C.O., Sims, H.P., Jr., & Gioia, D.A. (1987). Behind the mask. The politics of employee appraisals. *Academy of Management Executive*, *1* (3), 183-193.
- Lu, S., Bartol, K.M., Venkataramani, V., Zheng, X., & Liu, X. (2019). Pitching novel ideas to the boss: The interactive effects of employees' idea enactment and influence tactics on creativity assessment and implementation. *Academy of Management Journal*, 62 (2), 579-606. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2016.0942.
- Luchtanen, R., & Crocker, J. (1992). A collective self-esteem scale: Self-evaluation of one's social identity. *Personal and Social Psychology Bulleting 18* (3), 302-318.

 DOI: 10.1177/0146167292183006
- Maher, L.P., Russell, Z.A., Jordan, S.L., Ferris, G.R., & Hochwater, W.A. (2020). Research methods in organizational politics: Issues, challenges, and opportunities. In T. I., Stone- Romero and P.J., Rasopa, Research methods in Human Resource Management towards valid research-based inferences.
- Mail and Guardian. (2017 Jan, 17). Four top UKZN academics face suspension, sending SRC and the union into a tailspin. *Mail and Guardian*.

 https://mg.co.za/article/2017-01-17-four-top-ukzn-academics-face-suspension-sending-src-and-union-into-a-tailspin/
- Maslyn, J.M., & Fedor, D.B. (1998). Perceptions of politics: Does measuring different foci matter? *Journal of Applied Psychology, 84* (4), 645-653. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/0021-9010.83.4.645
- Mazizi, S. (2022 October, 04). Response to Daily Maverick: Hands off Phakeng! BPNCC. *Politicsweb*. https://www.politicsweb.co.za/documents/hands-off-phakeng--bpncc

- Mbembe, A. (2019). Future knowledges and their implications for the decolonization project.

 Jansen, J.D. (Ed). *Decolonisation in Universities: The Politics of Knowledge.* Wits University Press.
- McAllister, C.P., Ellen III, B.P., & Ferris, G.R. (2018). Social influence opportunity recognition, evaluation, and capitalization: Increased theoretical specifications through political skill's dimensional dynamics. *Journal of Management. XX* (X), 1-27. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0149206316633747
- McFarland, L.A., Van Iddekinge, C.H., & Ployhart, R.E. (2012). Measurement and methodology in organizational politics research. In G.R. Ferris and Treadway, D.C. (Eds) *Politics in Organizational: Theory and Research Considerations*. Routledge: New York.
- McKune, C. (2009). Tiptoeing around vice-chancellor Makgoba. *South African Journal of Science*, *105* (5), 163-164.
- Mell, J.N., Dechurch, L.A., Leenders, R.T.A.J., & Contractor, N. (2020). Identity asymmetries: An experimental investigation of social identity and information exchange in multiteam systems. *Academy of Management Journal*, 63 (5),1561-1590. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2018.0325
- Messick, S. (1995). Validity of psychological assessment: Validation of inferences from person's responses & performance as scientific enquiry into score meaning.

 *American Psychologist, 50 (9), 741-749. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.50.9.741
- Mintzberg, H. (1985). The organization as a political arena. *Journal of Management Studies*, 22, 133-154. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6486.1985.tb00069.x
- Morrell, R. (25 June 2024). *University transformation should build unity, collegiality and trus*t. Daily Maverick.
- https://www.dailymaverick.co.za/article/2024-06-25-university-transformation-should-build-unity-collegiality-and-trust-not-create-angry-victims/

- Munyon, T.P., Frieder, R.E., Satomino, S.B., Carnes, A., Bolander, W., & Ferris, G.R. (2020). Selling your network: How political skill builds social capital and enhances salesperson performance. *Journal of Personal Selling and Sales Management, 41* (3), 233-249. https://doi.org/10.1080/08853134.2020.1866589
- Munyon, T.P., Summers, J.K., Thompson, K.M., & Ferris, G.R. (2015). Political skill and work outcomes: a theoretical extension, meta-analytic investigation, and agenda for the future. *Personnel Psychology*, *68*, 143-184. <u>Doi:10.iiii/peps.12066</u>.
- Nhlapo, T., Fikeni, S., Gobodo-Madikizela, P., & Walaza, N. (2020). *Enquiry into the circumstances surrounding Professor Bongani Mayosi's tenure: Crucible for senior black academic staff.* University of Cape Town: South Africa.
 - https://www.news.uct.ac.za/images/userfiles/files/publications/Enquiry into the Circumstances Surrounding Professor Bongani Mayosi's Tenure June2020.pdf
- Nkomo, S.M. (2021). Reflections on the continuing denial of the centrality of 'race' in management and organization studies. *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journal.*
- Nkomo, S.M. (1992). The emperor has no clothes: Rewriting "race in organization". *Academy of Management Review*, *17*(3), 487-513.
- Nkomo, S.M., Bell, M.P., Roberts, L.M., Joshi, A., & Thatcher, S. M.B. (2019). Diversity at a critical juncture: New theories for complex phenomenon. *Academy of Management Review 44* (3), 499-517. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2019.0103
- Nkomo, S.M., & Cox, T. (1996). Diverse identities in organizations. In S.R. Clegg, C. Hardy & R. Nord (Eds.), *Handbook of Organization Studies*: 338-356. London: Sage.
- Nkomo, S.M., & Hoobler, J. (2014). A historic perspective on diversity ideologies in the US: Reflections on HRM research and practice. *Academy of Management Proceedings*, (1). https://doi.org/10.5465/AMBPP.2012.11721abstract
- O'Reilly, C.A., & Pfeffer, J. (2021). Why are grandiose narcissists more effective at organizational politics? Means, motive, and opportunity. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 172, 1-10. https://doi.org.10.1016/j.paid.2020.110557

- Owen, H. (1986). Leadership indirection. In J.D. Adams (Ed), *Transforming Leadership:* 111-122. Alexandria, VA: Miles River Press.
- Pan, N.D., Gruber, M., & Binder, J. (2019). Painting with all the colors: The value of social identity theory for understanding social entrepreneurship. *Academy of Management Review*, *44* (1), 213-226. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2017.0504
- Pfeffer, J. (1981). Power in Organizations (Vol 33). Marshfield, MA: Pitman.
- Podsakoff, P.M., Mackenzie, S.B., Lee, J., & Podsakoff, N.P. (2003). Common method biases in behavioral research. A critical review of the literature and recommended remedies. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88, 879-903.

 DOI: 10. 1037/0021-9010.88.5.879.
- Porter, L.W., Allen, R.W., & Angle, H.L. (1981). The politics of upward influence in organisations. In B.M. Staw & L.L. Cummings (Eds.). *Research in Organisational Behaviour.* 3:109-149. Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.
- Postma, N. (2020). If you don't do politics, politics will do you: A guide to navigating office politics effectively and ethically. K.R. Publishing.
- Powell, G.N., & Butterfield, D. A. (2015). The preference to work for a man or a woman: A matter of sex and gender? *Journal of Vocational Behavior* 86: 28-37. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vb.2014.10.002
- Ragins, B.R., & Sundrstrom, E. (1989). Gender and power in organization: A longitudinal perspective. *Psychological Bulletin*, *105* (1), 51-88. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.105.1.51
- Ramarajan, L. (2014). Past, present, and future research on multiple identities. Towards an intrapersonal network approach. *Academy of Management Annals, 8* (1), 589-659.
- Reicher, S., Haslam, S.A., & Hopkins, N. (2005). Social identity and the dynamics of leadership: Leader and followers as collaborative agents in the transformation of social reality. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 16, 547-568.

- Rindfleisch, A., Malter, A.J., Ganesan, S., & Moorman, C. (2008). Cross-sectional versus longitudinal survey research: Concepts, findings, and guidelines. *Journal of Marketing Research*, XLV, 261-279. https://doi.org/10.1509%2Fjmkr.45.3.261
- Roberts, L.M. & Creary, S.J. (2012). Positive identity. In K.S. Cameron & G.M. Spreitzer (Eds.), *The Oxford handbook of positive organizational scholarship*, 70-83. Oxford University Press
- Saul, S., Blinder, A., Hartocollis, A., & Farrel, M. (9, Dec, 2023). *Penns' leadership resigns amid controversies over antisemitism.* New York Times.

https://www.nytimes.com/2023/12/09/us/university-of-pennsylvania-president-resigns.html#:~:text=The%20president%20of%20the%20University,of%20Jews%20s hould%20be%20punished.

- Schriesheim, C.A., & Hinkin, T.R. (1990). Influence tactics used by subordinates: A theoretical and empirical analysis and refinement of the Kipnis, Schmidt, and Wilkinson subscales. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 75 (3), 246-257. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/0021-9010.75.3.246
- Schuessler, J. Hartocollis, A., Levenson, M., & Blinder, A. (2, Jan, 2024). *Harvard president resigns after mounting plagiarism accusations*. New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2024/01/02/us/harvard-claudine-gay-resigns.html
- Selvanathan, H.P., Crimston, C., & Jetten, J. (2022). How being rooted in the past can shape the future: The role of social identity continuity in the wish for a strong leader.

 *Leadership Quarterly. 33 (4) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2022.101608
- Shapiro, D., Novelli, L., & Kirkman, B.L. (2001). The impact of cultural values on job satisfaction and organizational commitment in self-managing work teams: The mediating role of employee resistance. *Academy of Management Journal, 44* (3), 1-35. https://doi.org/10.5465/3069370
- Shepherd, D.A., & Suddaby, R. (2016). Theory building: A review and integration. *Journal of Management*, *XX* (X), 1-28. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0149206316647102

Smit, S. (2022, April, 6). Absa's Arrie Rautenbach long game can't save bank from transformation critics. Mail and Guardian.

https://mg.co.za/business/2022-04-06-absas-arrie-rautenbach-long-game-cant-save-bank-from-transformation-critics/

- Smith, C. (2022, Feb, 7). Eskom says steps will be taken against some executives as it warns of more load shedding.

 https://www.news24.com/fin24/companies/eskom-says-steps-will-be-taken-against-some-executives-as-it-warns-of-more-load-shedding-20220207
- Soudien, C. (2010). *Transformation in Higher Education: A briefing paper*. Development Bank of Southern Africa.
- Summers, J.K., Munyon, T.P., Brouer, R.L., Pahng, P., & Ferris, G.R. (2020). Political skill in the stressor-strain relationship: A meta-analytical update and extension. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 118, 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2019.103372
- Sun, S. (2022). Is political skill always beneficial? Why and when politically skilled employees become targets of co-worker social undermining. *Organization Science*, *33* (3), 1142-1162. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.2021.1476
- Sun, S., Burke, M., Chen, H., Tan, Y., Zhang, J., & Hou, L. (2021). Mitigating the psychologically detrimental effects of supervisor undermining: Joint effects of voice and political skill. *Human Relations*, 1-26. Doi:10. ii77/001876721992849.
- Tajfel, H. (1978). Social identity and intergroup behaviour. *Soc.Sci.Inform.13* (2), 65-93. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F053901847401300204
- Tajfel, H. (1972). Social categorization (English translation of "Las categorization sociale"). In
 S. Moscovici (Ed.). *Introduction a la Psychologie Sociale*, vol 1: 272-302. Paris:
 Larousse.
- Tajfel, H. & Turner, J.C. (2004). The social identity theory of intergroup behavior. *Political Psychology*. 1st edition.

- Treadway, D.C., Ferris, G.R., Douglas, C., Hochwarter, W.A., Kacmar, C.J., & Ammeter, A.P. (2004). Leader political skill and employee reactions. *Leadership Quarterly*, *15*, 493-513. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2004.05.004
- Ulrich, J., Christ, O., & van Dick, R. (2009). Substitute for procedural fairness: Protoypical leaders are endorsed whether they are fair or not. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 94 (1), 235-244.
- Universities South Africa. (2023). USAF's transformation dialogue seeks to shift higher education from a compliance-driven to an innovation and inclusivity-driven transformation process. Universities South Africa. Pretoria.

 https://usaf.ac.za/wp-content/uploads/2023/08/USAfs-Transformation-Dialogue-

seeks-to-shift-higher-education-from-a-compliance-driven-to-an-innovation-and-inclusivity-driven-process.pdf

- Wagner III, J.A. (1995). Studies of individualism-collectivism: Effects on cooperation in groups.

 **Academy of Management Journal, 38 (1), 152-172. https://doi.org/10.5465/256731
- Weber, M. (1947). *The Theory of Economic and Social Organization*. New York. Oxford University Press.
- Wexley, K.N., & Pulakos, E.D. (1983). The effects of perceptual; congruence and sex on subordinates' performance appraisals of their managers. *Academy of Management Journal*, *26*, 666-676. https://doi.org/10.2307/255914
- Wöcke, A., & Sutherland, M. (2008). The impact of employment equity regulations on psychological contracts in South Africa. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management, 19* (4), 528-542. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585190801953525
- Yi, X., Zhang, Y.A., & Windsor, D. (2020). You are great and I am great (too): Examining new CEO's social influence behaviors during leadership transition. *Academy of Management Journal*, 63 (5), 1508-1534. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2018.0365
- Yo-Jud Cheng, J., & Groysberg, B. (2020). Gender diversity at the board level can mean innovation success. *MIT Sloan Management Review*.

Yukl, G., Seifert, C.F., & Chavez, C. (2008). Validation of the extended influence behavior questionnaire. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *19*, 609-621. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2008.07.006

Yukl, G., & Falbe, C.M. (1991). Importance of different power sources in downward and lateral relations. *Journal of Applied Psychology* 76(3), 416-423.

Zaltman, G., & Duncan, R. 1977. Strategies for Planned Change. New York: Wiley.

Appendix A: Questionnaire of the study

Leader political skill and employee reactions: A social-political perspective

Greetings Respondent,

As a Doctor of Philosophy student in Business at the Gordon Institute of Business Science,

University of Pretoria, I, Baphiwe Daweti, am conducting research on employee perceptions

of influence from a leader at your organisation. The study may assist leaders to better

influence employees. You have been selected to participate in the study, hence this request

for consent to participate. You are invited to complete the following survey, which should take

you about 15 minutes to complete.

Kindly note:

Participation is voluntary and you are under no obligation to consent to participate.

Confidentiality and anonymity are guaranteed for the study.

There are no anticipated risks associated with participation.

There is no remuneration for participating in the study.

A summary of aggregated results will be shared.

By clicking on the hyperlink and completing the survey, you confirm that you understood the

above and, of your own free will, give consent to participate in the study. Kindly note that this

research has been granted ethical clearance by the Gordon Institute of Business Science,

University of Pretoria with reference number: 20824468. I have been granted permission to

conduct research at your organisation. Should you have any further questions, kindly contact

me, the researcher, Baphiwe Daweti, at 20824468@mygibs.co.za. Alternatively, please

contact my research supervisor, Prof. Albert Wöcke at wockea@gibs.co.za. For any concerns

regarding the way this research was conducted, please contact the ethics research chair, Prof.

Gavin Price at priceg@gibs.co.za

Thank you

http://dx.doi.org/10.21511/ppm.20(4).2022.04

132

Aa. Consent

Indicate ONE response to indicate your choice on statements below.

Consent form

Study title: Leader political skill and employee reactions: A social-political perspective

Researcher: BAPHIWE DAWETI

I hereby confirm that I have been informed by the researcher, Baphiwe Daweti, about the nature, conduct, benefits, and risks of this study with an ethical clearance number 20824468. I have received, read, and understood information regarding the study. I am aware that the results of the study, including personal details regarding my sex and age, will be anonymously

processed into a study report.

In view of the requirements of the research, I agree that data collected during this study can be processed into a computerised system by the researcher. I may, at any stage and without prejudice, withdraw my consent and participation in the study. I have had sufficient opportunity to ask questions and, of my own free will, declare myself prepared to participate in the study. I understand that significant new findings developed during the research relating to my participation will be made available to me.

I have read and understood the statement of agreement above.

I give consent to participate in the study. I do not give consent to participate in the study.

1. My personal information

Indicat	e ONE response to indicate your choice for each statement below.
1.1	Please choose ONE response to indicate your age range.
	1. 18 - 35
	2. 36 - 45
	3. 46 - 65
	4. 66 and over
1.1	Please choose ONE response to indicate your race.
	1. Black African
	2. Coloured
	3. Indian/Asian
	4. White
	5. Other
1.2a If	you chose "other" in the previous statement about race, please specify

1.3	Please choose ONE response to indicate your gender.
	1. Male
	2. Female
	3. Prefer not to say
	4. Other
1.3a If	you chose "other" in the previous statement on gender, please specify
1.4	Please choose ONE response to indicate your home language.
	1. isiZulu
	2. English
	3. isiXhosa
	4. Afrikaans
	5. Sesotho
	6. Setswana
	7. Tshivenda
	8. Sepedi
	9. isiNdebele
	10. SiSwati
	11. Xitsonga

	12. Other
1.4a If	you chose "other" in the previous statement about home language, please specify.
1.5	Please choose ONE response to indicate your nationality.
	1. South African
	2. Non-South African
1.5a If	f you chose "non-South African" in the previous statement about nationality, please
1.6	Please choose ONE response to indicate your job title.
	Junior lecturer/developmental lecturer
	2. Lecturer
	3. Senior lecturer
	4. Associate professor
	5. Full professor
	6. Associate director
	7. Director

1.7	Please choose ONE response to indicate your type of employment (job).
	1. Permanent
	2. Temporary
1.8	Please choose ONE response to indicate years of experience with your current employer.
	1. Less than 1 year
	2. 1 – 5 years
	3. 6 - 10 years
	4. 11 -15 years
	5. 16- 25 years
	6. 26 years and over
2.	My direct manager's personal information
The fo	llowing statements indicate your views about your direct manager.
2.1 In	your view, please choose ONE response to indicate your direct manager's age range.
	1. 18 - 35
	2. 36 - 45
	3. 46 - 65
	4. 66 and over

2.2 In	your view, please choose ONE response to indicate your direct manager's race.
	1. Black African
	2. Coloured
	3. Indian/Asian
	4. White
	5. Other
2.2a	If you chose "other" in the previous statement about your direct manager's race, please specify
2.3 In	your view, please choose ONE response to indicate your direct manager's gender.
	1. Male
	2. Female
	3. Prefer not to say
	4. Other
2.3a	If you chose "other" in the previous statement about your direct manager's gender, please specify

2.4	In your view, please choose ONE response to indicate your direct manager's home language.
	1. isiZulu
	2. English
	3. isiXhosa
	4. Afrikaans
	5. Sesotho
	6. Setswana
	7. Tshivenda
	8. Sepedi
	9. isiNdebele
	10. SiSwati
	11. Xitsonga
	12. Other
2.4a	If you chose "other" for the previous statement about your direct manager's home language, please specify

2.5	In your view, please choose ONE response to indicate your direct manager's nationality.
	1. South African
	2. Non-South African
2.5a	If you chose "non-South African" in the previous statement about your direct manager's nationality, please specify
2.6	In your view, please choose ONE response to indicate your direct manager's job title.
	1. Lecturer
	2. Senior lecturer
	3. Associate professor
	4. Full professor
	5. Associate director
	6. Director
	7. Chair of council

2.7	In your view, please choose ONE response to indicate your direct manager's position.
	Deputy Head of Department
	2. Head of Department/School/ Academic Leader
	3. Deputy Dean of Faculty/College
	4. Dean of Faculty/College
	5. Deputy Vice-Chancellor
	6. Vice Chancellor
	7. Chair of Council
2.8	In your view, please choose ONE response to indicate your direct manager's type of employment (job).
	1. Permanent
	2. Temporary
2.9	In your view, please choose ONE response to indicate the years of management experience of your direct manager.
	1. Less than 1 year
	2. 1 – 5 years
	3. 6 - 10 years
	4. 11 -15 years
	4. 11 -15 years5. 16- 25 years

3. Understanding an employee (Employee-perceived leader political skill)

State	ement Stror	ngly Disagree Neutral Agree Strongly disagree agree
3.1	My direct manager spends a lot of	
	time networking with me at work.	
3.2	My direct manager makes	
	me feel comfortable at work.	
3.3	My direct manager communicates	
	with me easily.	
.4	My direct manager gets along with me easily.	
.5	My direct manager understands me very well.	
.6	My direct manager is good at	
	building a relationship with	
	influential employees at work.	
.7	My direct manager is	
	good at sensing the hidden agendas of employee	s. L
.8	My direct manager tries to be genuine	
	when communicating with me.	
.9	My direct manager is well-connected	
	to influential people at work.	
.10	My direct manager spends a	
	lot of time developing a	
	connection with me at work.	
.11	My direct manager is good	
	at getting me to like them.	
.12	My direct manager is sincere when communicatir with me.	
.13	My direct manager shows	
	a genuine interest in me.	
.14	My direct manager is good at using	
	networks to make things happen at work.	
.15	My direct manager has a good	
	sense about how to present	
	themselves to me.	
.16	My direct manager always seems to	
	instinctively know the right things to say	
	to influence me.	
.17	My direct manager pays	
	close attention to my facial expression.	

4: A social group is formed based on aspects like race, gender, nationality, and language. (Employee-perceived social identity)

Stat	ement	Strongly	Disagree	Neutral Agre	e Strongly
		disagre	e		agree
4.1	I belong to a social group that is different	ent from			
	my direct manager's social group.				
.2	I get along with my direct manager's				$\overline{}$
	social group.				
.3	My direct manager feels that my				
	social group is not effective.				
.4	My direct manager respects my social	group.			
5	My direct manager feels that my socia effective.	I group is			
.6	I belong to a social group which is sim manager's social group.	ilar to my dired	et		
.7	My direct manager's view about my so	cial group			
	is important to me.	- '			
8	My direct manager's social group has	very little to do	with		
	how I feel about myself.	•			
.9	My direct manager's social group is ar	important			
	reflection of who I am.				
.10	I am a worthy member of my social gro	oup.			
11	I feel that I do not have much to offer t	o my social			
	group.				
.12	I cooperate with members of my socia	l group.			
.13	I often regret that I belong to my social	group.			
.14	I am glad to be a member of my social	group.			
15	I often feel that my social group is not	worthy.			
16	I feel good about belonging to my soci	al group.			
17	My social group is not an important reflection of who I am.				
18	I belong to a social group which is imp	ortant			
	to the kind of person I am.				
19	Belonging to a social group is important my self-image.	nt to			

5: Employee-perceived leader influence tactic (manipulation)

State	ment Stro	ongly disagi	Disagree ree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
5.1 5.2	My direct manager makes me feel importar My direct manager acts humble before making a request to me.	nt.				
5.3	My direct manager acts in a friendly manner before asking me for something.					
5.4	My direct manager makes me feel good before making a request.					
5.5	My direct manager inflates the importance of request made to me.					
5.6 5.7	My direct manager praises me before maki My direct manager sympathises	ng a req	uest			
5.8	with me about added problems from a requ My direct manager waits until I am in a	est.				
5.9 5.10	receptive mood before making a request. My direct manager shows a need for help f My direct manager makes a request to	rom me.				
5.11	me in a polite manner. My direct manager pretends to let me decide to do something.					

6: Employee-perceived leader influence tactic (collaboration)

State	ment	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
6.1	My direct manager obtains my support to back up a request.					
6.2	My direct manager approaches me formally to make a request.					
6.3	My direct manager offers resources for me	_		\neg \subset		\neg \subset
	to perform a task.					
6.4	My direct manager does personal favours for	me.				
6.5	My direct manager offers an exchange to me		$\overline{}$	$\overline{}$	$\overline{}$	$\overline{}$
	to act on a request.					
6.6	My direct manager reminds me of past favour	rs	\neg \subset	\neg \subset	\neg \subset	$\neg =$
	done for me.					
6.7	My direct manager offers to help if I act on		\neg $\overline{}$	<u> </u>		
	a request					
In you		dicate your Strongly disagree	choice for	each state	ment bel	Strongly
						agree
7.1	I notify another manager if my direct manager takes advantage of me.					
7.2	I stop working with my direct manager if my direct manager takes advantage of me.					
7.3	I engage in work slowdown if my direct manager takes advantage of me.					
7.4	I ignore my direct manager					
	if my direct manager takes advantage of me.	_		<u> </u>		
7.5	I get along with my direct manager.					
7.6	I stop being friendly with my direct	, —	\exists \equiv			
77	manager if my direct manager takes advantag	ge of me.L				
7.7	My direct manager distorts reasons for		$\neg \vdash$			
	making a request to me.	l	J 🗀			

8: Employee-perceived leader influence tactic (cooperation)

In your view, please choose ONE response to indicate your choice for each statement below.

State	ment	Strongly disa	Disagree gree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4	I comply with my direct manager's request. I support my direct manager's request. I feel eager to work with my direct manager. I feel frustrated by working with my direct manager.					
8.5	I share information with my direct manager at work.					
8.6	I communicate with my direct manager with ease.					
Any (other comments maybe added					

Thank you

Appendix B: Construct variance

1. Employee-perceived social identity

Com	ponent	Initial Eigenvalu Rotation Sums	Extraction Sums of Squared Loadings								
Total		% of Variance	Cumulative %		Total	% of Variance		e Cumulative % Tot Variance Cumulative		Total ative %	
1	4.434	23.339	23.339	4.434	23.339	23.339	3.768	19.833	19.833		
2	3.198	16.830	40.169	3.198	16.830	40.169	2.525	13.290	33.124		
3	1.439	7.572	47.740	1.439	7.572	47.740	1.950	10.263	43.387		
4	1.383	7.281	55.022	1.383	7.281	55.022	1.640	8.633	52.019		
5	1.107	5.828	60.850	1.107	5.828	60.850	1.367	7.196	59.215		
6	1.013	5.330	66.180	1.013	5.330	66.180	1.323	6.964	66.180		

2. Employee-perceived leader influence tactic (manipulation)

Component Total		Initial Eigenvalu Rotation Sums		d Load	ings	Extraction Sums of Squared Loadings					
		% of Variance	Cumulative %		Total	% of Variance	Cumulative % Total Variance Cumulative %			% of	
1	4.312	39.197	39.197 4	4.312	39.197	39.197	2.778	25.252	25.252		
2	1.794	16.308	55.505	1.794	16.308	55.505	2.198	19.983	45.235		
3	1.062	9.655	65.160	1.062	9.655	65.160	2.192	19.925	65.160		

3. Employee-perceived leader influence tactic (collaboration)

Component Total		Initial Eigenval	Extraction Sums of Squared Loadings								
		% of Variance	Cumulative %		Total	% of Variance		Cumulative % Tota Variance Cumulative		Total ılative %	% of
1	2.349	33.553	33.553	2.349	33.553	33.553	2.002	28.599	28.599		
2	1.430	20.434	53.987	1.430	20.434	53.987	1.777	25.388	53.987		

4. Employee reaction (resistance)

Component Total		Initial Eigenval	ues of Squared Load	Extraction Sums of Squared Loadings						
		% of Variance	Cumulative %	Total	% of Variance			lative % Total nce Cumulative %		% of
1	2.629	37.553	37.553 2.629	37.553	37.553	2.158	30.830	30.830		
2	1.241	17.731	55.284 1.241	17.731	55.284	1.712	24.454	55.284		

5. Employee reaction (cooperation)

Component		Initial E Rotation	Extraction Sums of Squared Loadings								
Total		% of Variance		Cumulative %	Total	Total % of Variance		ce Cumulative % Tot Variance Cumulative		Total lative %	% of
1	2.836	47.271	47.271	2.836	47.271	47.271	2.381	39.678	39.678		
2	1.112	18.529	65.800	1.112	18.529	65.800	1.567	26.122	65.800		

Appendix C: Kurtosis scores for collaboration variable

Variable	N	Mean	Standard	Ske	wness	Kurtosis		
				Statistic	Std error	Statistic	Std. error	
Collaboration	204	2.709	.622	.137	.170	.266	.339	

Appendix D: Ethics clearance letter

Gordon Institute of Business Science University of Pretoria

29 August 2022

Baphiwe Daweti

Dear Baphiwe

Please be advised that your application for Ethical Clearance has been approved.

You are therefore allowed to continue collecting your data.

Please note that approval is granted based on the methodology and research instruments provided in the application. If there is any deviation change or addition to the research method or tools, a supplementary application for approval must be obtained

We wish you everything of the best for the rest of the project. Kind Regards

GIBS Doctoral Research Ethical Clearance Committee

Opcioral Chair Signature

Gordon Institute of Business Science
Page 100 55015000-388

36 Pfefulfe Road, Wove, Johannesburg PO Bnic 787602, Sandton, 21es Austriania

telephone (+27) 11771 4000 far (+27) 11771 4177 veccée glbs.co.za University of Pretoria

Appendix E: Language editing certificate

PRO EDIT PTY LTD

EDITING CERTIFICATE

PO BOX 23081, CLAREMONT CAPE TOWN 7735 | +27 21 813 6997

Date: 2024/04/01

This serves to confirm that the document entitled:

Leader political skill and employee reactions: A social-political perspective

by

Baphiwe Daweti

has been language edited on behalf of its author.

Genevieve Wood PhD candidate Wits University